S

meaXXEREIRMAEBERZAI
Xi’an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd.*

(a joint stock limited company incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 8227)

ual Report

- 2024



CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the
decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Xi‘an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd.* (the
“Company”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM (the "GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their
knowledge and belief, the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and
not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein
or this report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement

Dear shareholders,

I am pleased to present the annual report of Xi‘an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd.* together with its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024 on behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”).

In 2024, guided by the work objective of improving performance, the Group fully utilized the technical performance
advantages of metamaterial lens antenna and actively promote the sales and market development of various
communication products of the Company. Since the 18th National Congress of the Communist Party of China,
General Secretary Xi has put forward the strategic idea that “governing the country requires governing the borders”.
In 2024, 13 departments, including the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology, jointly issued a notice on
accelerating the construction of the “broadband frontier”, requiring multiple operators in 18 provinces involving land
and sea borders to speed up the implementation of “broadband frontier” network coverage. In order to respond
to the notice issued by the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology on accelerating the construction of the
“broadband frontier”, meet the needs of accelerating the improvement of frontier network supply capacity, give
full play to the supporting and empowering role of broadband network infrastructure, improve the production and
living conditions of people of all ethnic groups, and help develop the border and enrich the people and stabilize and
consolidate the borders, the Group selected a border area with complex terrain to test and verify the effectiveness
of lens antennas. Field tests have proved that lens antennas have a wide vertical beamwidth and a long coverage
distance. After replacing the antennas of the existing site, the problem of network signal coverage can be effectively
solved. It is convenient and fast with low modification costs. At the same time, the Group jointly applied with Yunnan
Unicom (ZEmE#i#8) and Kunming University of Science and Technology for a “Major Science and Technology Special
Plan” project under the Yunnan Province Science and Technology Department, named “Research and Application
of 5G Innovative Metamaterial Antennas for Frontier Construction Scenarios”, in order to promote in “broadband
frontier” innovative application projects.

At present, the market scale of Wi-Fi access points in China is growing steadily. With the popularization of Wi-Fi 6
and Wi-Fi 7 technologies, as well as the increase in IoT devices and the development of smart homes, the demand
for Wi-Fi signal coverage and stability has increased significantly. Therefore, the Group has further strengthened the
application of lens technology in the Wi-Fi field, and has made breakthrough progress and obtained customer orders.
In 2025, the Group will strengthen the application of lens technology in other fields, especially Wi-Fi devices, further
expand the application of lens technology and enhance the Group’s results.

Meanwhile, in terms of the sales of agricultural products business segment, building on the existing solid customer
base, the Group has continuously improved the categories of agricultural and sideline products, actively expanded the
network of partners, and implemented flexible marketing strategies when appropriate so as to secure the revenue
stream of this business segment.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express heartfelt gratitude to all customers, business partners and staff who
are closely-related to the Group, and express my sincere thanks to our shareholders for their strong enduring support
since our listing. To show our appreciation to all of you for your confidence and loyalty, the Group will be dedicated
to reaping prominent returns for our investors.

Xiao Bing
Chairman
Xi‘an, the PRC
28 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

Total Operating Income

Total operating income recorded for the year ended 31 December 2024 was approximately RMB21.96 million,
representing approximately 168% of the total operating income for the same period of 2023.

In 2024, the overall development trend of the communication industry has been improving. Based on the wide
applicability of lens materials in different fields and scenarios, the Group has concentrated its existing resources on
development of more types of metamaterial lens antenna products. The Group not only proactively promoted the
implementation of the share of communication network operators’ centralized procurement bids this year, but also
continued to follow up on communication network operators’ bidding projects and took various measures to promote
more types of business cooperation. The Group’s operating performance in 2024 achieved significant improvement
compared to the previous year.

Sales of antenna products and provision of related services

The operating income from the operating segment of sales of antenna products and provision of related services
increased from approximately RMB7.73 million for the same period of 2023 to approximately RMB14.31 million for
the year, representing approximately 68% of the main business income of the Group.

Sales of agricultural products

The operating income from the operating segment of sales of agricultural products increased from approximately
RMB4.55 million for last year to approximately RMB6.88 million for the year. The sales of agricultural products
accounted for approximately 32% of the main business operating income of the Group. During the year, the
Company has not resumed the operation of live chicken farming, and leased the existing facilities to other operators.
At present, it only independently operates the sales of related by-products.

Sales of underwater monitoring and related products and Sales of aircraft products

The segments of sales of underwater monitoring and related products and sales of aircraft products still provided
technical support and after-sales services to existing customers. During the year, the two business segments did not
record operating income.

Other business

Operating income from other businesses amounted to approximately RMB770,000, rental income from office
properties occupied by the Group of approximately RMB550,000 during the year, and service income of approximately
RMB220,000.

Gross Profit

Gross profit of approximately RMB7.43 million was recorded for the year with gross profit margin of approximately
34%, representing an increase of 18% as when comparing to gross profit margin of approximately 16% of 2023.
The increase in gross profit margin was driven by higher sale prices of communication products and a reduction in
manufacturing costs.

Segment Performance
Segment performance was evaluated after considering gross profit, selling expenses, depreciation and amortisation
expenses under administrative expenses, research and development expenses, credit and assets impairment loss of
each operating segment.

4 Xi'an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd.



Management Discussion and Analysis

Selling expenses decreased from approximately RMB4.26 million for last year to approximately RMB3.26 million for
the year. During the year, the Company strengthened internal management, optimized personnel allocation, and
improved efficiency, resulting in a reduction of approximately RMB660,000 in employee compensation expenses.
Simultaneously, the Company’s products have been approved by mobile communication operators, resulting in
a decrease in sales related testing fees and technical service fees, which were approximately RMB130,000 and
RMB250,000, respectively.

Amortisation of approximately RMB5.39 million was recognised for the patents of the metamaterial lens antennas
during the year. The patents were amortised over the estimated useful lives and there was no indication of significant
change of their useful lives as the widespread use of 5G communication continued to support their value to the
Group.

Research and development expenses were approximately RMB1.97 million for the metamaterial lens antennas
during the year, which were mainly for further improvement and advance work on existing antenna products after
considering the feedback from markets and customers. There were no material changes in the components of
research and development expenses.

During the year, there was no significant impairment loss on receivables.

In respect of assets, there were signs of impairment on advanced payments for purchase of land and above-ground
attachments due to the boundary issue and approximately RMB1.28 million was recognised as impairment loss during
the year. Details of the basis of assessment are disclosed in the Note XVI.1.

Segment profit of approximately RMB540,000 was reported for the operating segment of sales of agricultural
products. Segment profit of approximately RMB20,000 were reported for the operating segments of sales of aircraft
products. Segment loss of approximately RMB9.59 million was reported for the operating segment of sales of antenna
products and provision of related services as the production scale was still below the normal operating level of
enlarged production capacity.

Other Expenses, Expenditure, Gain and Income

By implementing effective cost control over overall administrative expenses, administrative expenses decreased from
approximately RMB19.21 million for last year to approximately RMB12.16 million for the year, representing a decrease
of approximately 37%.

During the year, the Company strengthened internal management, optimized personnel allocation, and improved
efficiency, resulting in a reduction of approximately RMB3.78 million in employee compensation expenses. The
amortization of intangible assets decreased by RMB2.69 million due to the impairment provision made in the previous
year.

Financial expenses for the year decreased from approximately RMB840,000 for last year to approximately
RMB630,000 for the year. Approximately RMB610,000 were interest expenses for short-term borrowings and
amortization interest expense on right-of-use assets. In 2024, short-term bank borrowings of RMB3.51 million were
raised to finance the operations.

Approximately RMB20,000 was received from government authorities as grants, subsidies and rewards for product
development and business operations.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Net Loss
The net loss of the Group for the year amounted to approximately RMB15.76 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 63% from the net loss of approximately RMB42.99 million for 2023.

Net loss attributable to owners of the parent company was approximately RMB15.88 million after accounting for
minority shareholders’ profit and loss in respect of sales of agricultural products.

Composite of the Group's main business income by reportable and operating segments for the year ended 31
December 2024, together with the comparative figures for the year ended 31 December 2023, are as follows:
——0.1%

. Sales of antenna products &
provision of related services
Sales of
. agricultural products .
Sales of
aircraft products

For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

PROSPECTS

In 2025, the Group will remain committed to independent innovation, continuously enhancing the technological
barriers of new products and advancing product research and development upgrades to strengthen its corporate
competitiveness. At the same time, it will further intensify market development efforts, expand the application fields
of its products, and improve the Group’s results.

Leveraging “lens technology”, the Group will continuously explore its applications in remote sensing technology,
UAV data transmission, fire safety monitoring, and various other fields, particularly in WiFi devices. The Group
empowers WiFi frequency bands with metamaterial lens technology to significantly enhance antenna gain and
efficiency, effectively addressing weak coverage challenges. With gains reaching up to 10 dBi, this technology can be
applied to WiFi device signal transceivers, effectively improving network coverage performance and enhancing users’
network application perception without increasing the original device's transmission power. As WiFi6/6E and WiFi7
technologies become more widespread and sectors such as loT and smart home rapidly grow, this field holds vast
market potential. The Group will also strengthen efforts to expand its newly developed consumer-grade products in
the WiFi domain to create new growth drivers for its results.

At the same time, the Group will actively participate in the establishment of innovative application projects such
as “signal upgrade” and “broadband frontier”. Based on the Group’s joint application with Yunnan Unicom (&
mH448) and Kunming University of Science and Technology for the “Research and Application of 5G Innovative
Metamaterial Antennas for Frontier Construction Scenarios”, a “Major Science and Technology Special Plan” project
under the Yunnan Province Science and Technology Department, the Group aims to promote the application of lens
antennas in frontier scenarios, actively responding to the national “broadband frontier” construction policy. This
initiative is expected to significantly enhance the quality of network services for residents in frontier regions, facilitate
information exchange, support the development of emerging economic models such as e-commerce, boost residents’
income, drive local economic prosperity, and contribute to the Group's performance growth.

Meanwhile, in 2025, the Group will continue to develop agricultural and sideline products-related businesses, striving
to improve the performance of agricultural and sideline products, and fully fulfil the social responsibilities as a listed
company through industrial poverty alleviation.

With regard to the capital required for future development of the Group, in addition to bank borrowings and
revitalisation of existing assets, the Group will also carry out financing when appropriate through additional issuance
of new shares and issuance of bonds. The Board and the management of the Group will strive to turn the Group into
a high-tech enterprise with diversified operations and development.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

TOP FIVE SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, sales to the top five customers and the largest customer accounted for
approximately 68.85% (2023: 81.12%) and 29.60% (2023: 34.98%) respectively of the Group’s main business
income.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, purchases from the top five suppliers and the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 44% (2023: 43.96%) and 12% (2023: 21.70%) respectively of the Group’s total purchases.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, each of the top five customers and the top five suppliers is independent of
and not connected with any of the Directors, chief executives or any shareholders of the Company which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Shares of the Company, or any of their respective associates.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

During the year, the Group was mainly financed by funds generated from operations, short-term borrowings, and
lease liabilities under right-of-use assets. The short-term borrowings were mainly for daily operations and the lease
liabilities were solely used for financing those assets and services under operating leases of the Group during the year.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had the short-term borrowings of approximately RMB3.51 million which were
repayable within one year, and the lease liabilities of approximately RMB150,000 which were classified in accordance
with the lease terms.

During the year, the interest-bearing borrowings borne interest rates of ranging from 1% to 6% per annum and the
lease liabilities borne interest rate of 7.13% per annum. Majority of debts for operations were denominated in RMB
during the year. Details of policy in respect of interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk are disclosed in note X.1
to the financial statements, the Directors consider that exposure to interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk was
minimal.

As at 31 December 2024, the gearing ratio of the Group was approximately -27.21% (2023: -46.59%), which is
calculated based on the sum of total interest-bearing borrowings and lease liabilities over the total shareholders’
equity attributable to the parent company. Details of changes in equity of the Group are disclosed in the consolidated
statement of changes in shareholders’ equity of the annual report and the structure of share capital is disclosed in
note V.25 to the financial statements.

Cash and cash equivalents increased from approximately RMB1.99 million to RMB3.13 million. As at 31 December
2024, bank deposits of approximately RMB0.27 million were regarded as margin account and restricted account funds
for operations and liabilities of the Group.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Since majority of the transactions of the Group are denominated in RMB, the Group has not experienced any material
difficulties or effects on its operations or liquidity as a result of fluctuations in currency exchange rates during the year
under review. The Group did not enter into any material foreign exchange contracts, interest or currency swaps or
other financial activities. Details of policy in respect of foreign exchange risk are disclosed in note X.1 to the financial
statements, the Directors consider that exposure to foreign exchange risk was minimal.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

Except for interests in subsidiaries disclosed in notes VIII.1 to the financial statements, the Group did not hold any
significant investment for the year ended 31 December 2024.

8 Xi'an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd.



Management Discussion and Analysis

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Significant Investment Held” above, the Group did not have any other
material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and affiliated companies during the year ended 31
December 2024.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 39 (2023: 56) full-time employees. Total staff costs for the year of 2024
amounted to approximately RMB4.61 million (2023: RMB11.88 million), including remuneration of the Directors and
members of the supervisory committee (the “Supervisors”). All employees of the Group are eligible to participate in
the defined contribution retirement schemes required by the law. The Group reviews employee remuneration from
time to time and the increments in remuneration are normally granted annually or by special adjustment depending
on length of service and performance when warranted. In addition to salaries, the Group provides employee benefits
including medical insurance. Bonuses are also available to employees of the Group at the discretion of the Directors
and depending upon the financial performance of the Group. The Group has not granted any share options to the
Directors and its employees. A comprehensive career development programme is launched for all employees which
provides diversified part-time training opportunities in accordance with the needs of their positions and specialities.
Details of remuneration of the Directors, Supervisors and senior management by band are disclosed in note XII.5 to
the financial statements.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS
As at 31 December 2024, except for bank deposits of approximately RMB0.27 million regarded as margin account
and restricted account funds, no other assets of the Group were pledged for its operations and liabilities.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no material capital expenditure contracted for but not provided in the
consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed herein, the Group did not have other plans for material investment.
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2024, except for those disclosed in note XIV to the financial statements, the Group did not have

any material contingent liabilities.

UTILISATION OF NET PROCEEDS FROM EQUITY FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES
During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no utilisation of net proceeds from equity fund raising activities.
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Corporate Governance Report

The board of directors (the “Directors”) of Xi‘an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) (the
“Board”) is pleased to present this corporate governance report for the year ended 31 December 2024 in accordance
with Rule 18.44(2) of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM (the “GEM Listing Rules”) of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to uphold high standards of corporate governance, as our Board believes that good and
effective corporate governance practices are key to obtaining and maintaining the trust of the shareholders of the
Company and other stakeholders, and are essential for encouraging accountability and transparency so as to sustain
the success of the Group and to create long-term value for the shareholders of the Company. The Board strives to
adhere to the principles of corporate governance and has adopted sound corporate governance practices to meet the
legal and commercial standards, focusing on areas such as internal control, fair disclosure and accountability to all
Shareholders to ensure the transparency and accountability of all operations of the Company.

The purposes of the Company are to promote success of the Group by visionary and effective leadership by the Board
and upholding high standards of corporate governance to create and enhance long-term return for shareholders
as well as stakeholders while undertaking corporate social responsibility with green sustainability. The Company
recognises the importance of corporate transparency and accountability. The Chairman takes primary responsibility for
ensuring that good corporate governance practices and procedures are established. The Board reviews the Company’s
corporate governance practices from time to time in order to meet the expectations of stakeholders and comply with
increasingly stringent regulatory requirements, and to fulfill its commitment to excellence in corporate governance.

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report, the Company has adopted and
complied with all the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) contained in Appendix C1
of the GEM Listing Rules. The Board will continue to review and enhance its corporate governance practice of the
Company to ensure compliance with any new Corporate Governance Code and align with the latest developments.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition and function

The composition of the Board reflects the necessary balance of skills, knowledge and experience desirable for
effective leadership of the Company and independence in decision making. Pursuant to the Code, the Board has
adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”). The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of
diversity of Board members. While all Board appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis, the Company
will ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience, diversity of perspectives and time commitment
appropriate to the needs of the Company’s business. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, experience (professional
or otherwise), skills and knowledge. Every newly appointed Board member has received a comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on appointment.

All Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company. Members of the Board comprise
experts from diverse business and professional backgrounds who have served relevant PRC government organisations,
listed companies, multinational or other organisations. All members of the Board have many years of experience in
investment, business operation, financial management and corporate administration. The current composition of
the Board is considered to be a reasonable balance between executive and non-executive Directors, and be able to
provide adequate checks for safeguarding the interests of shareholders of the Company.

As at 31 December 2024, the Board comprised nine Directors including Mr. Xiao Bing (chairman) and Mr. Chen
Ji (vice-chairman) as executive Directors, Mr. Li Wenqi, Mr. Sun Yikuan, Mr. Zuo Hong and Mr. Chen Ren as
non-executive Directors, and Professor Shi Ping, Mr. Tu Jijun and Mr. Liu Lidong as independent non-executive
directors. Biographies of the Directors are set out in the paragraph headed “Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” of this annual report. In compliance with Rules 5.05A, 5.05(1) and (2) of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed three independent non-executive Directors, representing at least one-third of the board
and at least one of whom has appropriate professional qualifications, accounting or related financial management
expertise.
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The Board members have no financial, business, family or other material and/or relevant relationships with each other.

All non-executive Directors are engaged by a service contract for a fixed term for not more than 3 years. All Directors
appointed to fill a casual vacancy are subject to re-election by shareholders of the Company at the first annual
general meeting following their appointment and all Directors are subject to re-appointment or re-election at least
once every three years. Composition of the Board, by category of Directors, including names of the Chairman,
executive Directors, independent non-executive Directors and non-executive Directors, has been disclosed in all
corporate communications.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.9 of the CG Code, the Company generally should not grant equity-based remuneration
(e.g. share options or grants) with performance-related elements to independent non-executive Directors as this may
lead to bias in their decision-making and compromise their objectivity and independence. The independent non-
executive Directors were not granted any equity-based remuneration up to the date of this annual report.

The Board is responsible for overseeing the preparation of accounts of each financial period, which shall give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flows for that period. It is also
responsible for formulating the Group’s long-term strategy and supervising the management to ensure thorough
implementation of the Group’s policies and effective performance of their duties. Also, the Board is responsible
for performing the corporate governance duties set out in the Code which included developing and reviewing the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional development of the Directors and senior
management, and reviewing the Company's compliance with the code provision in the Code and disclosures in this
report. During the financial year ended 31 December 2024, the Board has performed the corporate governance duties
set out in the Code.

Delegation by the Board

The management, consisting of executive Directors along with other senior management, is delegated with
responsibilities for implementing the strategy and direction as adopted by the Board from time to time and
conducting the day-to-day operations of the Group. Executive Directors and senior management meet regularly
to review the performance of the businesses of the Group as a whole, co-ordinate overall resources and make
financial and operational decisions. The Board also gives clear directions as to their powers of management including
circumstances where the management should report back and obtain prior approval before implementation, and will
review the delegation arrangements on a periodic basis to ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of the
Group.

The separate roles of chairman and chief executive officer

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024, the Company did not have a chief executive officer. The day-to-day
management of the Group’s business was handled by the executive Directors of the Company collectively. The Board
believes that the present arrangement is adequate to ensure an effective management and control of the Group’s
present business operations. The Board continually reviews the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance
structure to assess whether any changes, including the appointment of a chief executive officer, are necessary.

Independent non-executive Directors

Independent non-executive Directors have played a significant role in the Board by bringing their independent
judgement to the Board meeting and scrutinising the Company’s performance. Their views carry significant weight
in the Board’s decisions; in particular, they bring an impartial view to issues relating to the Company's strategy,
performance and control. All independent non-executive Directors possess extensive academic, professional and
industry expertise and management experience and have provided their professional advice to the Board. The
independent non-executive Directors provide independent advice on the Company's business strategy, results and
management to ensure that all interests of Shareholders are taken into account, and the interests of the Company
and its Shareholders are protected. The Board has three independent non-executive Directors in compliance with
Rule 5.05(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, which requires that every board of directors of a listed issuer must include at
least three independent non-executive Directors.
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Board meetings and attendance

The Board meets at least quarterly and additional meetings are held as and when required. Between scheduled
meetings, the Directors are provided with information on the activities and development in the businesses of the
Group in a timely manner to keep them abreast of the Group's latest developments. For all the board meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given. Agenda and meeting materials for each meeting are normally circulated to all
Directors at least 2 days before each Board meeting in order to allow the Directors to include any other matters in the
agenda that are required for discussion and resolution in the meeting. During the financial year ended 31 December
2024, the Board held 7 meetings.

During regular meetings of the board, either in person or by means of electronic communication, the Directors discuss
and formulate the overall strategies of the Group, monitor financial performances and discuss the annual, interim and
quarterly results, as well as discuss and decide on other significant matters. The Chairman also held meetings with
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other Directors. The independent non-executive
Directors are encouraged to provide their independent views to the Board.

The Company Secretary is responsible to the board for providing with board papers and related materials, for
ensuring that all board procedures and all applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed, and for reporting to the
Chairman and the board on governance matters. All Directors have unrestricted access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary also keeps minutes of all meetings which are available for inspection
at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director.

Details of Directors’ attendance records in 2024 are as follow:

Number of Number of

board meeting general meeting
attended/Total attended/Total

Executive Directors
Mr. Xiao Bing 717 11
Mr. Chen Ji 717 11

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Li Wenqi 717 11
Mr. Sun Yikuan 717 171
Mr. Zuo Hong 717 11
Mr. Chen Ren 717 11

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Professor Shi Ping 717 11
Mr. Tu Jijun 717 (vl
Mr. Liu Lidong 717 171

Continuous professional development

The Directors have been informed of the requirement under code provision C.1.4 of part 2 of the CG Code regarding
continuous professional development. All Directors are required to participate in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Each newly appointed Director is given formal, comprehensive and
customised induction training at the time of first appointment to ensure their proper understanding of the Group’s
business and operations. The Company is committed to arranging and funding suitable training to all Directors for
their continuous professional development. Each Director is briefed and updated from time to time to ensure that he/
she is fully aware of his/her roles, functions, duties and responsibilities under the GEM Listing Rules and applicable
legal and regulatory requirements and the governance policies of the Group. Up to the date of this annual report,
all Directors have confirmed to the Company that they have participated in continuous professional development
by self-study and/or attending seminars, conferences and webcast, reading material, newspapers and journals on
topics related to corporate governance and regulations, the economy, the company’s business or directors’ duties and
responsibilities.

12 Xi'an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd.



Corporate Governance Report

A summary of training received by the Directors during the financial year ended 2024 according to the records
provided by the Directors is as follows:

Training on
corporate governance,

regulatory development
and other relevant topics

Executive Directors
Mr. Xiao Bing v
Mr. Chen Ji

L

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Li Wenqi v
Mr. Sun Yikuan v
Mr. Zuo Hong 4
Mr. Chen Ren v
Independent Non-Executive Directors

Professor Shi Ping v
Mr. Tu Jijun v
Mr. Liu Lidong 4

Code of conduct for securities transactions by Directors

The Company adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors on terms which are the same
as the required standard of dealings as referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company has
made specific enquiries of all the Directors and the Company was not aware of any non-compliance with the required
standard of dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors from the year under
review to the date of this annual report.

Directors’, Supervisors’ and Officers’ Insurance

Appropriate insurance covers on Directors’, Supervisors’ and officers’ liabilities have been in force to protect the
Directors, Supervisors and officers of the Company from their risk exposure arising from the business of the Company
and, as at the date of this report, the Directors and officers of the Company are indemnified under a Directors’,
Supervisors' and officers’ liability insurance against any liability incurred by them in discharge of their duties while
holding office as the Directors, Supervisors and officers of the Company. The Directors, Supervisors and officers of the
Company shall not be indemnified where there is any fraud, breach of duty or breach of trust proven against them.

Independence

The Company has received from each independent non-executive Director an annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers all the independent
non-executive Directors to be independent.

Board Diversity

The Board believes that gender diversity is a manifestation of board diversity, among all other measurable objectives.
Under the revised Rule 17.104 of the GEM Listing Rules that came into effect on 1 January 2022, a single gender
Board will not be considered by the Stock Exchange to have achieved board diversity. During the year ended 31
December 2024, the Board comprises one female director and eight male directors. The Company will continue to
apply the principle of appointments based on merits with reference to the Board Diversity Policy as a whole.
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The Group recognises the importance of diversity and has a diverse workforce in terms of gender, providing a variety
of ideas and levels of competency that contribute to the Group's success. In the hiring process, the Company takes
into account a number of measurable factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional specialisation, experience, skills, knowledge and other qualifications. While
conscious efforts are being taken by the Company to fulfil its Board Diversity Policy, all appointments are ultimately
made on a merit basis taking into account available and suitable candidates. As at 31 December 2024, the gender
ratio of the Group’s workforce is 67% male and 33% female.

The Nomination Committee and the Board will review the Board Diversity Policy on a regular basis to ensure its
continued effectiveness from time to time. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required,
and recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

Currently the Board is comprised of male and female representation with different skills and expertise and achieved
a diversified Board. This fulfilled stakeholders’ expectation and international and local recommended best practices.
Due to the unique business nature of the Company, the Board is of the view that it is not necessary to set numerical
targets and timeline for further enhancing gender balance on its Board for the time being. The Nomination
Committee will continue to look for potential candidates and to develop a pipeline of potential successors to the
Board and will seek assistance from professional search firms if necessary.

The Group is determined to maintain gender diversity and equality in terms of the whole workforce and requests the
senior management team to improve gender equality in terms of the gender ratio within a medium-term time frame.
The Company expects the above is achievable with suitable effort in promoting the gender diversity culture, which the
Group has been advocating for.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To facilitate the work of the Board, the Board has delegated responsibilities to three committees, namely the
remuneration committee, the nomination committee and the audit committee, in order to maintain high standard of
corporate governance of the Company.

Overall, the Board considers the recruitment strategy adopted by the Group is effective and adequate. In determining
the independence of Directors, the Board follows the requirements as set out in the GEM Listing Rules.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Remuneration Committee in December 2005 with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rule 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph E.1 of the CG Code. Please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 1 February 2023 for an updated version of terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee. As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee consists of three
members, majority of which being independent non-executive Directors. Currently, the Chairman of the committee is
Mr. Tu Jijun, an independent non-executive Director, and other members include Professor Shi Ping and Mr. Li Wenqi.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the model as described in the Code Provision E.1.2 and is responsible,
among others, to make recommendations to the Board on the Company's policy and structure for all remuneration
of directors and senior management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
policy on such remuneration. The Remuneration Committee has the delegated responsibility to determine the specific
remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior management. Remuneration including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, basic salary and performance bonus of the executive Directors and senior
management is based on skills, knowledge, involvement and performance of the individuals by reference to the
Company’s performance, profitability, goals and objectives, as well as industry practice. The committee also discusses
with the chairman about the remuneration proposals for other executive Directors and ensures that no Director is
involved in deciding his or her own remuneration.

The specific terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee is posted on the Company’s website.
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The Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting in 2024 and was attended by committee members. The individual
attendance record of each member is as follows:

Number of meeting
attended/Total

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Li Wenqi 11

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Professor Shi Ping iVAl
Mr. Tu Jijun 11

During the financial year ended 2024, the Remuneration Committee has, amongst other things, review the
remuneration packages and assess performance of the executive Directors and the senior management of the
Company with reference to the Group's operating results, their duties and level of responsibility and the prevailing
market conditions.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Nomination Committee in December 2005 with written terms of reference in compliance
with paragraph 5.36A of the GEM Listing Rule and B.3 of the CG Code. As at the date of this annual report, the
Nomination Committee consists of three members, majority of which being independent non-executive Directors.
Currently, the chairman of the committee is Mr. Tu Jijun, an independent non-executive Director, and other members
include Professor Shi Ping and Mr. Zuo Hong.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for formulating nomination policy, reviewing the structure, size and
composition of the Board on a regular basis, implementing the Board Diversity Policy, assessing independence of
independent non-executive Directors, identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board members, and making
recommendations to the Board on any proposed changes, selection and appointment of, and succession planning for
Board members. The specific terms of reference of the Nomination Committee is posted on the Company'’s website.

The Company believes that the board diversity policy is a key element for the Company to maintain sound corporate
governance and sustainable development while achieving strategic objectives and enhancing decision-making
capability at the same time. The Company considers that the concept of diversity incorporates a number of different
aspects and measurable objectives, such as professional experience, business perspectives, independence, skills and
knowledge, gender, age, cultural and educational background.

The Nomination Committee held 1 meeting in 2024 and was attended by committee members for the selection and
recommendation of candidates for directorship having regard to the relevance of skills and experience appropriate to
the Group's business. The individual attendance record of each member is as follows:

Number of meeting
attended/Total
Non-Executive Director

Mr. Zuo Hong 171

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Professor Shi Ping 11
Mr. Tu Jijun 171
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During the financial year ended 2024, the Nomination Committee has, amongst other things, reviewed the structure,
size, composition and diversity of the Board, determined the policy for the nomination of Directors and adopted
the nomination procedures and the process and criteria under the Board Diversity Policy to select and recommend
candidates for directorship during the year.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee in April 2003 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules
5.28 and 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph D.3 of the CG Code. As at the date of this annual report,
the Audit Committee is currently chaired by, an independent non-executive Director, Professor Shi Ping and the other
members are Mr. Liu Lidong and Mr. Zuo Hong, with the majority being independent non-executive Directors.

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the consolidated financial statements and reports and considering
any significant or unusual financial items, accounting policies and practices adopted by the Group. It also reviews
and discusses matters related to the effectiveness of financial reporting, internal control and audit, and performs
other duties as assigned by the Board, and reports its work, findings and recommendations to the Board after each
meeting in respect of the above matters as well as the operating risks faced by the Group. The Audit Committee has
to recommend the appointment, reappointment and removal, approve the remuneration and terms of engagement,
review and monitor the independence, objectivity, resignation and dismissal of the external auditor, and maintain
sufficient communication and discuss the nature and scope of the audit with the external auditor. Also, the audit
committee of the Board has free and direct access to the Company's independent professional advisers when it
considers necessary.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee is published on the Company's website.

The Company has complied with Rules 5.05(2) and 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules in that at least one of the
members of the Audit Committee (which must comprise a minimum of three members and must be chaired by an
independent non-executive Director) is an independent non-executive Director who possesses appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting related financial management expertise.

The Audit Committee held 2 meetings in 2024 and the individual attendance record of each member is as follows:

Number of meeting
attended/Total

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Zuo Hong 2/2

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Professor Shi Ping 2/2
Mr. Liu Lidong 2/2

During the financial year ended 2024, the Audit Committee has, amongst other things, reviewed the interim and
annual results of the Company and reviewed risk management and internal control matters of the Company. The
Audit Committee has reviewed the audited financial results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
which is of the opinion that the preparation of such results complied with the applicable accounting standards and
requirements and that adequate disclosure have been made. In addition, the Audit Committee met the external
auditor once without the presence of the management to discuss any areas of concerns.

There have been no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee during the year and up to the date of
this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements of the Company and
ensure that they are prepared in accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
The Directors also ensure the timely publication of such financial statements. The Directors aim to present a balanced
and understandable assessment of the Group’s position and prospects.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company, SHINEWING Certified Public Accountants LLP (“Shinewing”),
with regard to their reporting responsibilities on the Company’s financial statements is set out in the section headed
“Auditor Report” in this Annual Report.

The Directors were aware that the Group’s net profit for 2024 is RMB-15,760,875.92, and it continues to suffer
losses; at of the end of 2024, the net assets was RMB-46,759,183.15; for 2024, the operating income was
RMB21,960,142.24 and the net operating cash flow was RMB-2,064,152.68; at the end of the year, the current
liabilities were higher than the total current assets by RMB59,406,846.97, and there are debts overdue.

These conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

Notwithstanding the above conditions, the financial statements were prepared based on the assumption that the
Group can be operated as a going concern.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with the relevant accounting standards and the applicable disclosure requirements of
the Listing Rules, the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and other applicable regulatory requirements, and for such
internal control as the Directors determine necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

The Board is responsible for presenting balanced, clear and understandable annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other statutory and regulatory
requirements.

The management has provided the Directors such explanation and information as are necessary to enable the Board
to carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are put to the Board for approval.

In determining the appropriate basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements, the Directors have
reviewed the Group's cash flow projections prepared by management based on estimations of future revenue,
expected expenses, committed and planned capital expenditure and the availability of financing, which cover a period
of twelve months from the reporting period end date. They are of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient
working capital to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due and committed future capital expenditure
within the next twelve months from the end of the current reporting period.

The Directors also confirm that, to the best of their knowledge, information and belief, having made all reasonable
enquires, they are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events of conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company engaged SHINEWING Certified Public Accountants LLP, as the external auditor for the year ended 31
December 2024. The fees paid and payable to Shinewing for audit services and other services amounted to RMB0.471
million and RMB0.015 million respectively. There was no other significant fee incurred for non audit services during
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lee Kun Yin was appointed as the company secretary of the Company with effect from 20 January 2023 pursuant
to Rule 5.14 of the GEM Listing Rules. Mr. Lee is a member of the Chartered Accountants in Australia & New Zealand
and Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. His primary contact person of the Company is Mr. Xiao
Bing, an executive Director of the Company. Mr. Lee confirms that he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training for the year ended 31 December 2024 and is in compliance with Rules 5.15 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Xiao Bing is the compliance officer of the Company. Please refer to the section headed “Directors, Supervisors,
and Senior Management” in this annual report for Mr. Xiao Bing’s biography. After the amendments to the GEM
Listing Rules which took effect from 1 January 2024, the Company is no longer required to appoint a compliance
officer under the GEM Listing Rules. As such, the Board has resolved to cancel the position of compliance officer from
1 April 2024 onwards.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s systems of risk management and internal control and for
reviewing their effectiveness. The Board will conduct regular review on risk management and internal control systems
of the Group in order to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. During the year under review, the Board
has reviewed the operational and financial reports, budgets and business plans provided by management to identify,
evaluate and manage any significant risks. Besides, the Audit Committee and the Board also performed regular
review on the Group’s performance, risk management and internal control systems including financial, operational
and compliance controls in order to ensure effective measures being in place to protect material assets, carry out
internal audit function and resolve material internal control defects of the Group. The Board considered that effective
and adequate risk management and internal control systems were adopted and continually reviews the effectiveness
of present arrangement on risk management and internal control functions to access whether any changes are
necessary.

During the year, the Group has complied with Principle D.2 of the Corporate Governance Code by establishing
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems.

DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group is committed to a consistent practice of timely, accurate and sufficiently detailed disclosure of material
information about the Group. The Group has adopted a Policy on Disclosure of inside information which sets out the
obligations, guidelines and procedures for handling and dissemination of inside information. With those guidelines
and procedures, the Group has management controls in place to ensure that potential inside information can be
promptly identified, assessed and escalated for the attention of the Board to decide about the need for disclosure.
Control procedures have also been implemented to ensure that unauthorised access and use of inside information are
strictly prohibited.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Extraordinary general meeting may be convened by the Board on written requisition of shareholders holding 10%
(including 10%) or more of the Company’s issued and outstanding shares carrying voting rights pursuant to Article 64
of the articles of association of the Company. According to Article 66 of the articles of association of the Company,
when the Company convenes an annual general meeting, shareholders holding 5% (including 5%) or more of
the total voting shares of the Company, are entitled to propose new motions in writing to the Company and the
Company shall place such motions on the agenda for such meeting if they are matters falling with the scope of duties
of the general meeting. Shareholders may propose new motions at general meeting of the Company by sending the
same to the Company at the registered office and principal place of business in the PRC of the Company and the
principal place of business in Hong Kong of the Company.
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Shareholders are, at any time, welcome to raise questions, proposals and request information (to the extent it is
publicly available and appropriate to provide) from the Board and management by writing to:

Address: Room B, 16th Floor, Yam Tze Commercial Building, 23 Thomson Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
Attention: ~ Company Secretary

Email: info@xaht.com

Shareholders may direct their enquiries about their shareholdings, share transfer, registration and payment of
dividend to the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, details of which are as follows:

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

Address: 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2862 8555

The Board has conducted an annual review of the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication policy of the Company, and considered that the policy was implemented effectively during the
Reporting Period.

DIVIDEND POLICY

In order to enhance transparency of the Company and facilitate the Shareholders and investors to make informed

investment decisions relating to the Company, the Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”).

According to the Dividend Policy, when determining whether to declare any dividend in the future and the amount of
dividend to be declared, the Company shall consider a number of factors, including but not limited to:

- the actual and expected financial performance of the Group;
- retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each of the members of the Group;
- the liquidity positions of the Group;

- the future cash requirements and availability of the Group, including its expected working capital
requirements, capital expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

- any restrictions on payments of dividends that may be imposed by the Group's lenders;

- the general market conditions, business cycle of the Group’s business and other internal and external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial performance and position of the Group; and

- any other factor that the Board may consider appropriate.
The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend distribution proportion or distribution ratio. The

declaration, payment and amount of dividends will be subject to the Board's discretion. The Board will review the
Dividend Policy on a regular basis.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company follows a policy of disclosing relevant information to shareholders of the Company in a timely manner.
Members of the Board meet and communicate with shareholders at general meeting of the Company. The Chairman
proposes separate resolutions for each issue to be considered and put each proposed resolution to the vote by way of
a poll. Voting results are posted on the Company’s website on day of general meeting.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a shareholders’ communication policy which aims at
establishing a two-way relationship and communication between the Company and shareholders. The Company has
established several channels to communicate with shareholders as follows:

- corporate communications such as annual reports, interim reports, quarterly reports and circulars are issued in
printed form and are available on the website of the Stock Exchange and on the website of the Company at
www.xaht.com;

- periodic announcements are published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company;

- corporate information is made available on the Company’s website; and

- annual and extraordinary general meetings, if any, provide a forum for shareholders to make comments and
exchange views with the Directors and senior management.

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and enhancing communication with the existing shareholders
and potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from investors, stakeholders and the public. Enquiries to the Board
or the Company may be sent by post to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

The Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy and
considered it to be effective for the year ended 31 December 2024.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
The Company has not made any change to its constitutional documents during the year. A consolidated version of the

Company’s constitutional documents is available on the Company’s website and the website of the Stock Exchange.

Except for the above, there were no other significant changes in the Company’s Articles of Association which are
available on both the GEM website and the Company's website.
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WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

In compliance with paragraph D.2.6 of the CG Code, the Company has put in place whistleblowing policy which
applies to all the directors and employees (including but not limited to permanent, full-time, part-time and contract
employees, etc.) of the Group and any parties who deal with the Group (including but not limited to investors,
customers, contractors, suppliers, creditors and debtors, etc.). The policy is designed to provide the employees and
any external parties with confidential whistleblowing channels to report to the Group the actual or suspected illegal
activities and misconducts in financial reporting, internal control or other areas.

Whistle-blowers are able to contact the Board, senior management and/or their supervisors. The identity of the
whistle-blower and all the concerns or irregularities raised will be treated as confidential and every effort will be made
to ensure that confidentiality is maintained throughout the process.

The Board which is responsible for overseeing and monitoring the whistle-blowing policy and mechanism, will make
decisions on further actions (if needed) while the Company is also committed to ensuring the protection of the
whistle-blower against detrimental or unfair treatment.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY
The Company does not tolerate any corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud or money laundering during the course of its
business activities.

In compliance with paragraph D.2.7 of the CG Code, the Company has in place an anti-corruption and integrity
promotion system within all its employees, which forms part of the Company’s employees staff manual. Employees
are required to act with integrity and to report any suspected bribery, corruptions and money laundering cases to
senior management or the Board. The employees are required to declare any conflict of interest when performing
their duties. The anti-corruption and integrity promotion system forms an integral part of the framework, outlining
the Group's expectations and requirement of business ethics, as well as the investigation and reporting mechanism of
suspected corruption practices.

CONCLUSION

Going forward, the Company will continue to review its corporate governance practices on a timely basis to maintain
its high level of transparency. The Company will also try to enhance its operating efficiency and competitiveness in
order to generate greater returns for its stakeholders.
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OVERVIEW

Xi'an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd. (the “Company”, or together with its subsidiaries, the “Group” or
“we") is pleased to present this Environmental, Social and Governance Report (“ESG Report”). This report discloses
and outlines the significant environmental, social and governance ("ESG") policies and performance of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Group is responsible for formulating the Group's overall ESG strategy,
preparing reports, and implementing related management policies. By overseeing and reviewing the Group’s analysis
of sustainable development objectives, risks and opportunities, operational performance, and overall development
strategy, the Board will develop action plans and allocate resources to help the Group achieve its policies and goals.
The Board also assumes responsibility for managing and improving sustainable development performance.

The Group has been concentrating on the development of mobile communication products and services while
developing various types of marine engineering, aviation and other equipment. The Group was established in October
1999, owns more than 60 patented technologies, and has developed more than 400 types of antenna-related
communication products on its own, which are widely used in mobile communication networks across the country.

The Group has built up a complete operating system that integrates product development, production, sales,
installation and services, and fully understands the importance of independent R&D and innovation. The Group’s
innovative efforts and achievements in this area have been highly recognised by the State, as such the Group has
undertaken a number of key scientific research projects for various government agencies by virtue of our industry
leading technology, which earned us the title as one of the first “Innovative Enterprises” certified in China and its
shares listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 5 November 2003
to meet the needs for future development.

The Group believes that prudent management of environmental and social issues is one of the key factors for long-
term success. To better understand the risks and opportunities for environmental protection, the Group ensures it
complies with the requirements of regulatory authorities through an efficient operation management, policies and
procedures as well as setting achievable targets, efficient energy measures and waste treatment.

Designated personnel from operational departments are responsible for providing and analysing ESG data, assisting
in formulating relevant strategies in their respective working areas, and ensuring the effectiveness of policy
implementation in line with the strategies and objectives endorsed by the Board. Regular meetings are conducted
between the Board and the designated personnel from operational departments to address ESG-related matters,
assess policy implementation processes, and evaluate risks, targets, and strategies pertaining to the Group's ESG
initiatives.

The regular ESG meetings provide ongoing monitoring of the ESG work process. By convening ESG meetings regularly,
the Group ensures that our ESG strategy and objectives remain aligned with broader business goals. The meetings
also play a crucial role in ensuring compliance with legal requirements and meeting stakeholders’ expectations.
Regulatory frameworks related to environmental protection, social responsibility, and corporate governance are
constantly evolving, making it essential for the Group to stay abreast of changes and adapt their practices accordingly.
ESG meetings provide an opportunity to assess the Group’s compliance status, identify any gaps or areas of
improvement, and take proactive measures to address them.
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Reporting Principles and Scope

This Report discloses the principles, strategies, objectives and overall performance of the Company's principal
businesses in respect of environmental, social and governance reporting. In addition, the Report has been prepared
in accordance with the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “Guide"”) as set out in Appendix
C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM Board of HKEX. The Report has been prepared in full
compliance with the mandatory disclosure requirements and “Comply or explain” provisions stipulated in the Guide
and has been approved by the Board of the Group.

Unless otherwise stated, the ESG Report covers the overall performance, risks, strategies, measures and commitment
of the Group’s business operations in the PRC and Hong Kong from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (the
"Reporting Period”).

For the Group’s corporate governance structure and other relevant information, please refer to the corporate
governance report on pages 10 to 21 of this annual report.

Data sources
The data and information used in this report are mainly derived from public data, internal statistical statements,
surveys, administrative instruments, reports and other related documents.

Stakeholders’ Feedback
We welcome opinions on the Group's approaches on the environmental, social, and governance aspects upon reading
the ESG Report. Please share with us via:

Postal address: Room B, 16th Floor, Yam Tze Commercial Building, 23 Thomson Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
Email: info@xaht.com

Forward-looking Statements

This Report contains forward-looking statements based on the current expectations, estimates, projections, beliefs
and assumptions of the Group about the businesses and the markets in which it and its subsidiaries operate. The
forward-looking statement is not a guarantee of future performance and is subject to market risk, uncertainties,
and factors beyond the control of the Group. Therefore, actual outcomes and returns may differ materially from the
assumptions and statements in this Report.

Outlook of The Group

It is the Group's aim to invest more manpower and resources in sustainable development, including resources
efficiency and carbon reduction, to protect our planet. We will create a humanized and high-quality working
environment for employees and ensure product safety and quality in the production process while the Group is
committed to complying with all the applicable laws, regulations and standards, and operating under the principle of
corporate sustainability and in an ethical, honest and transparent manner.

Meanwhile, we will also continue to communicate closely and effectively with our stakeholders, e.g. customers,
employees, communities, suppliers, business partners, investors and regulatory authorities, listen to their opinions on
the development of society and environment. We can only achieve our sustainable development and operation with
the trust of our stakeholders.
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Reporting Principles
In preparing this Report, the Group adheres to the reporting principles outlined in the ESG Reporting Guide:

Reporting principles Interpretation

Materiality Identify important environmental and social issues by analyzing the opinions of
stakeholders of the Group, and prioritize and disclose important issues in the
Report. The Board also conducts internal meetings to analyse and identify material
ESG issues while the Board approves and acknowledges the results of annual
materiality analysis and discloses the effects of the Company on material topics
and the Company’s performance in this report.

Quantitative The Group calculates the key performance indicators (“KPIs”) with reference to
“Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” and “Appendix 3:
Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs” of “How to Prepare an ESG Report” published
by HKEX and discloses them in a quantitative manner where appropriate.

Balance The Report aims to disclose data in an objective and impartial way, which aims
to provide stakeholders with a balance overview of the Group's overall ESG
performance.

Consistency This report aims to comply with the environmental, social, and governance

reporting guidelines outlined in Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange’s GEM. It has made efforts to use consistent evaluation
and calculation methods as in previous years to ensure that the disclosed data is
comparable and can serve as a basis for ongoing monitoring.

Report Publication
The Report is published in both Chinese and English. It is uploaded to the HKEX's website and the Company’s official
website (www.xaht.com). Should there be any discrepancy between the Chinese and English versions, the English
version shall prevail.

Reporting Boundary

In order to preserve a meaningful comparison, there was no material change to the methods of KPIs used by the
Group in the years ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2024. The Group did not have any reporting
boundaries of the ESG Group.
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Stakeholder Engagement

The success of the Group's business depends on the support and advice of all our management, employees,
customers and other relevant stakeholders. By absorbing their valuable opinions, we can make progress and operate
our business in a sustainable manner. The Group actively opens communication channels to understand stakeholders’
concerns about the Company and to effectively improve relevant policies. After our communication with the
stakeholders, their main issues of concern of are listed below:
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Relevant groups

Expectations/Concerns

Communications and responses

Internal
stakeholders

Employees

Senior management

Members of board of
directors
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e Qverall operating results of
the Company;

e Compliance during daily
operation;

e Remuneration, promotion and
reward/punishment system,
and imparity; and

e Talent training system and
personal development
prospects.

e Economic benefits of the
Company;

e Production and operation
management;

e Comprehensiveness of
governance system;

e Risk management; and

e Investment opportunities in
the sector and development
potential of the Company.

e Strategic planning and
its effectiveness and
sustainability; and

e Comprehensiveness and
effectiveness of financial and
internal control system.

e Regular meetings and
management communication;

e Employee suggestion forms;

e Field trip; and

e Job performance evaluation

e Regular meetings with
executive directors; and
e Job performance evaluation

e Regular meetings and/or
conference calls between
board members



Relevant groups

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Expectations/Concerns

Communications and responses

External Shareholders and
stakeholders investors
Customers
Suppliers

Government and
regulatory authorities

Media and general
public

e Financial condition and
operating profitability of the
Company;

e QOperational condition and
industry changes; and

¢ Interest of shareholder and
investors.

e Production technology
and product quality of the
Company;

e Service quality and
commitment of the Company;
and

e Operational stability of the
Company.

e Production technology
and product quality of the
Company;

e Open and fair procurement;
and

e Operational stability of the
Company.

e Compliance of the Company’s
operation;

e Exercise in capital market and
its compliance; and

e Economic value and benefits.

e Environmental protection
policies;

e Communities involvement;
and

e Compliance of the Company’s
operation.

e Annual general meeting;

e Announcements and circulars;
e Email or mail; and

e Financial reports

e Announcements and website
of the Company;

e Customer service channels;
and

e Customer Satisfaction Surveys

e Website of the Company;

e Regular review of suppliers;

e Supplier management
meetings and events; and

e Supplier Selection

e |nteraction and visits;

e Government inspections;

e Tax returns and other
information; and

e Rules and guidelines
published by regulatory
authorities

e Company’s website;
e Shareholders’ meetings; and
e |ssue of financial reports

The Group endeavours to collaborate with its stakeholders in improving its ESG performance and create greater value

for the community consistently.
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Opinion Collection Channels

The Group proactively opens up multiple communication channels to understand their concerns over the Company,
and discuss the Group's relevant policies improvement with them. As regards communication initiatives with internal
stakeholders, the Group has formulated employee manual and relevant work guidelines; whilst building face-to-face,
written, interaction, notice boards and other communication channels to allow employees to share their difficulties
and demands in terms of their jobs. Through regular feedback, performance evaluation and other systems, we aim to
evaluate work efficiency and communicate with management to enhance the overall efficiency.

For external stakeholders, the Company has established a strict internal control system and a comprehensive
meeting system in accordance with the Company Law (‘2 &]7%) and Articles of Association (‘ABI&#2), which include
convening shareholders’ meeting on a regular basis to allow shareholders to participate in the Company’s substantial
matters. In addition, the Company attaches high importance to the comprehensive information disclosure system,
where relevant announcement and latest updates of the Company are released to ensure effective communication
with external investors. Officers are also designated to maintain the company website and attend to visits by
investors, representatives from regulatory authorities and media outlets. The Company also has an investor hotline to
ensure timely communication between the Company and investors, media and general public. We also communicate
with various government departments and regulatory agencies from time to time to follow up with the policy change
and makes subsequent adjustment to the internal system. We sustain a close business relationship with suppliers,
customers and other business partners, and share market and industry insights while understanding and cater to their
needs.

After collecting internal and stakeholders’ views and opinions, executive directors will carry out materiality
assessments internally with the related managers and externally with related stakeholders through various means.
The Group continues to assign a board member and duty managers to constantly communicate with its stakeholders
under the established channels in order to gain insights on ESG material aspects in 2024 Reporting Period.

BOARD INVOLVEMENT

The Board of Directors of the Group is ultimately responsible for overseeing the Group’s ESG risk management and
monitoring substantial risks within the Group. In addition, the Board of Directors also plays the role of a driving force
in setting the vision of “people-oriented, technology innovation, serve the society and pursue excellence” for the
Group.

Meanwhile, the Board leads the Environmental, Social and Governance Working Group to identify, assess and
determine the relevant environmental, social and governance risks and formulate risk management measures, with
a view to facilitate the Company’s concerted and effective progress towards the goal of sustainable development.
The Board will also continue to monitor the implementation of the risk management measures to ensure their
effectiveness, and will continue to listen to the advice of various stakeholders to further improve the governance.

Functional Organization Specific Responsibilities

Board of Directors e Determine ESG-related risks
e Develop ESG strategy and approach
e Review ESG Work Plan and Results

Environmental, Social and e |dentify ESG risks and opportunities
Governance Working Group e Coordinate ESG audit and information disclosure

e Report to the Board of Directors on ESG matters

Business Units e Implement ESG-related policies
e Report relevant work results to the working group
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In order to ensure that the Report effectively addresses the concerns of our stakeholders, we have conducted a
materiality assessment that considers both relevance and importance. This assessment enables us to identify and
prioritise the ESG topics that are most significant to our business and stakeholders. This approach allows us to
provide more comprehensive, transparent, and specific responses, thereby enhancing the overall quality of the ESG
management.

We have adopted the following steps in the materiality assessment process:

1. Identified and categorised a list of potential topics in environmental and social aspects based on stakeholder
concerns and the Group's business;

2. Conducted a materiality assessment to measure the importance of each topic; and
3. Analysed, prioritised and selected the most significant and relevant topics for stakeholders by the Group.

The Group has identified 16 ESG issues material to its operation through consistent communication with stakeholders
and Board discussions. The Group has conducted an internal materiality assessment during the Reporting Period.
ESG material issues were identified and ranked considering the operation conditions of the Group, opinions from
stakeholders, ESG material issues of the industry mentioned in Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB) and
ESG material issues identified by peer companies. The identified material issues are strictly managed by adopting
relevant policies and guidelines and will be disclosed in a focused manner in the Report.

Material Issues Materiality

Environment

1. Client Change Most Important
2. Emissions Control Most Important
3. Waste Management Most Important
4. Environment and Natural Resources Important
5. Green Office Important

Employment

6. Remuneration and Benefit Most Important
7. Recruitment and related Policies Most Important
8. Health and Safety Most Important
9. Development and Training Important
Operation

10. Anti-corruption Most Important
11. Procurement Policy Most Important
12. Product Responsibility Most Important
13. Protection of Privacy and Intellectual Property Important Most Important
14. Data Protection Important

15. Whistle Blowing Policy Important

Community
16. Corporate Social Responsibility and Community Investment Important

During the Reporting Period, the Group confirmed that it has established appropriate and effective management

policies and internal control systems for ESG issues, and confirmed that the disclosed contents are in compliance with
the requirements of the ESG Reporting Guide.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT

As a socially responsible corporate, the Group fully recognises its responsibility for environmental protection and is
committed to sustainable operations. To achieve low-carbon and sustainable business operations, we continually
strive to enhance resource efficiency and are dedicated to minimising our environmental impact. The Group strictly
abides by relevant national laws and regulations, and has also formulated internal environmental protection policies
with reference to the relevant guidelines and standards, including the “Procedures for Environmental Elements

Identification and Evaluation”,”Environmental Operation Control Procedures”, “Procedures for Environmental
Monitoring and Measurement Control”, "Extracts of the Major Environmental Laws and Regulations Involving
Haitiantian Antenna”, “Waste Management System in Waste Area” and “Copier Repair and Waste Toner

Management System” Waste Management System in Waste Area Copier Repair and Waste Toner Management
System, and ensures that its employees strictly comply with such codes.

The Group hopes to encourage its employees to make good use of resources, develop energy conservation
habits, reduce our impact on the environment and protect the environment through the implementation of the
aforementioned environmental protection policies and codes. In addition, to reinforce the implementation of relevant
environmental measures, the Group has a clear division of labour amongst various departments, whereby the
administration department is responsible for the overall environmental control. It monitors the implementation of
different environmental measures, including energy consumption, and sets up relevant reward initiatives.

Although the Group does not generate significant emissions, the Group formulates relevant internal guidelines,
strictly complies with all local environmental laws and regulations, and manages emissions generated from and
resource use in our business activities to minimize environmental impact to the greatest extent.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with laws and regulations
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste that would have a significant impact on the Group.

Emissions and Wastes

Air Pollution

The Group strictly complies with relevant national laws and regulations, including but not limited to the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China (FZE A R HEFMEIEIERE %), Air Pollution
Control Ordinance, Waste Disposal Ordinance, Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China (7
#EANREMEAIRIZEFREE), Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Pollution From
Environmental Noise (F2E A R HE M ERIERE S AEHIAE), Law of the People’s Republic of China on Environmental
Impact Assessment (P A R £ BEIRIE & 2578 )%), Regulations on the Administration of Construction Project
Environmental Protection (3% 18 B IRIZFRE B EKH)), Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes (F 2 A B A1 5 [E 58 EE 9 75 IR 1B R A8 7%) , Decision of the State
Council on Several Issues Concerning Environmental Protection (B# PR IRIBE(RES TRIERIAT) and other
relevant regulations promulgated by the government and applicable to the Group. In addition, we have passed the
quality control system ISO19001: 2016 standard certification, which proves that we meet the requirements of relevant
laws. We comply with the secondary standards of the Ambient Air Quality Standards (R18 =R E =12 %) (GB3095-
2012) for air quality management in the general working environment. The Group does not discharge any material air
pollutants during its production process.

In the product design process, we strictly follow the national laws and regulations and prohibit the use of materials
that are expressly prohibited by relevant laws and regulations. In addition, we also require the design of related
electronic products to select materials that comply with the “EU RoHS" of Restriction of Hazardous Substances
Directive of the European Parliament and of the European Council to reduce hazards to human health and protect the
environment.
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Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste

The Group is aware that improper disposal of waste will cause serious damage to the environment and affect the
ecology. The Group implements stringent guidelines in this regard. We strictly comply with the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes (FF 2 A B £ 1 & [E B &
)5 RIRIE R A E) , the Circular Economy Promotion Law of the People’s Republic of China (1% A R H A FEIR L
TR #EER) , Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap.354 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and other relevant laws and regulations.
According to the Waste Management System of Waste Area (BEREREEYEIESE)and Management System
of Photocopier Repair and Waste Toner (2ENEEIEREFEEMEIESGIE), the Group adopts relevant measures
to prevent environmental pollution during the use and disposal of electronic solid waste and other wastes. We do
not dispose of and throw out any solid waste irresponsibly. We abide by the principle of taking resources in a right
way, while making efforts to reduce waste generation. On the other hand, we actively look for ways to reuse waste
resources to make the best use of them. There is no significant hazardous waste generated during the Company’s
daily operations.

For electronic products, we have taken the following measures to reduce electronic waste generation:
1. Encourage the reuse of functioning electronic devices;

2. Certain officers are assigned to procure computers and other electronic devices are bought based on their
quality, to ensure a longer lifespan of products and a lower damage to the environment;

3. Invite specialized officers to teach other employees about the proper use of these electronic products to
minimise damage arising from inappropriate use and thus the electronic waste;

4. Used computers, electronic products and waste batteries, cartridges, and consumables generated in our
daily operations which will cause environmental pollution will be recycled by competent companies with
a"Certificate of Disposal of Waste Electrical and Electronic Products” according to the requirements of the
Interim Provisions on the Discharge of Industrial Solid Waste in the Hightech Zone; and

5. If it is to be cleared by individuals, we will request the contractors to sign a Guarantee on Waste Disposal,
which clearly states where the waste will go, so as to prevent environmental pollution.

For the other solid waste, we require:

1. Collection and classification of the waste produced during production processes by all production departments,
and storage at designated locations according to guidelines; and

2. Inspection and record on the storage of waste by the Administration Department.

Sewage Discharge

The operation of the Group will not consume massive water resources. The Group does not produce waste water
from the cleaning of its equipment. Sewage discharge mainly includes domestic wastewater. We strictly follow the
environmental standard with proper wastewater treatment and wastewater will be discharged to the municipal pipe
network after being processed by septic tank to minimise pollution to the environment.
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Use of Resources

Green Office

The Group deeply understands that effective resources management is conducive to environmental protection and
is closely related to the sustainable development goals of the Company. We actively enhance our energy efficiency,
promote green office and energy conservation and emission reduction, while requiring our employees in all
departments to strictly comply with the requirements of the “Regulations on Electricity Conservation Management”,
“Power Safety Management System” in daily work, the “Administrative Regulations for Office Supplies Requisition”
in handling their requests for office supplies and paper consumption and “Safe Electricity Management System”
implementation, aiming to continuously improve our energy efficiency management. We require our employees
to take conservation of resources seriously and uphold the environmental protection idea. Meanwhile, in order to
tackle potential energy supply issues during daily operation, the Group proactively optimises its energy protection
and prevents suspension of energy supply. Meanwhile, we strive to promote environmental awareness by identifying
and assessing potential environmental risks and making efforts to reduce resource consumption, with the following
specific measures:

i. Encouraging employees to develop the good habit of switching off all electronic equipment, separating,
recycling and reusing of waste before leaving after work;

ii. Regulating our employees’ use of office appliances under the principle of “switch it up only when you need to
use it, put it idle when you don't, and shut it down after work”, so as to reduce energy consumption at idle;

iii. Reducing the use of unnecessary lighting in public area under adequate sunlight, and employing energy
conserving lighting system;

iv. Using a timer to control our lighting system in summer and winter, respectively;

V. Regulating our employees’ water usage so as to avoid waste;

vi. Maximizing paperless office operation, with information transmission through the network;

vii. Encouraging double-sided printing as well as waste paper recycling; and

viii.  Performing regular inspection and maintenance on our equipment, improving the energy-consuming devices

inside to ensure efficient operation.

We often review the effectiveness of these measures and make adjustments according to our operation to improve
the efficiency of the use of resources.

As mentioned above, the Group’s main water consumption is mainly domestic water and it is mainly from office scale
operation. Therefore, the Group does not have difficulties in obtaining water resources.
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The Environment and Natural Resources

Human beings rely on the ecosystem services provided by nature. Therefore, it is important to protect biodiversity
and the ecosystem. We pay full attention to the environmental impact and consumption of natural resources created
by production processes. We have established, and have been following and maintaining an efficient environmental
management system, which advocates environmental protection practices in a number of areas:

i. Strictly complying with relevant environmental laws and regulations while continuing to improve our
environmental system;

ii. Reducing the use of equipment with higher energy consumption and using energy-efficient electronic
equipment during daily operation;

iii. Adopting green procurement and reusing resources as allowed,;

iv. Improving production techniques, adopting green production such as lowering emission of exhaust gas and
treating wastewater;

V. Minimising noise pollution during production by selecting low-noise equipment, implementing effective noise
cancelling measures through improving production techniques; and

vi. Separating waste from daily operation into hazardous and non-hazardous waste, increasing the waste recycling
rate to reduce damage to the environment.

Moreover, the Group hopes that environmental protection can be subtly integrated into the lives of our employees.
In addition to stringent compliance with relevant environmental laws and regulations, the Group organizes
environmental knowledge training on a regular basis, such as knowledge contest and other fun and relaxing activities,
while participating in and organising outdoor green events, to promote self-monitoring and self-reflection on
environmental protection, as well as raising the awareness.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any non-compliance with environmental laws and regulations
related to waste gas and greenhouse gas emissions, water and land discharge, and generate hazardous or non-
hazardous pollutants that have a significant impact on the Group.

Climate Change

The Group fully understands the importance of identifying and responding to significant climate risks, and proactively
manages potential climate risks that may impact the Group’s business. We have established risk management policies
in identifying and mitigating various risks, especially the climate change related risks. To develop appropriate risk
response strategies, the Board also holds regular meetings to maintain close communication and cooperation with
senior management to explicitly identify and assess climate-related risks.

We have also identified climate change-related risks and opportunities that may affect our business operations by
reviewing internal policies, analysing current business conditions, stakeholder engagement, and studying relevant
government policies.

The Group attaches great importance to the risks posed by climate change to the Group’s business, and has

formulated the “Emergency Plan” (FE£FE2%), “Emergency Rescue Plan” (FE & ETEZE 51 3)) and other systems and
plans to cope with such risks in order to maintain the normal operation of the Group’s business.
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Risks and Actions

The Group has identified the risks posed by climate change to the Group’s business and analysed the possible impact
as follows:

Actions

Physical Risks Potential Impacts

Increasing frequency and severity of Damage to power grids and The Group adopts flexible work

extreme weather events caused by
climate change.

Transition Risks

communication infrastructure,
causing employee injuries,
business interruptions, reduced
production capacity and
productivity of the Group, or
exposing the Group to risks
associated with non-performance
and delayed performance.

Potential Impacts

arrangements and precautionary
measures under adverse or
extreme weather conditions.

Actions

Climate regulations and rules will
become increasingly stringent with
higher requirements for climate-
related information disclosure.

Increasingly stringent environmental

laws and regulations will
increase the Group's compliance
costs and may even expose

the Group to higher risks of
claims and lawsuits for failure
to comply with relevant laws
and regulations. Failure to meet
climate change compliance
requirements will increase

the Group’s relevant capital
investment and compliance costs,
as well as affect the Company’s
reputation.
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To respond to policy and legal risks

as well as reputation risks, the
Group regularly monitors existing
and emerging climate-related
trends, policies and regulations,
and prepares to alert top
management when necessary,

in order to avoid increased

costs, fines for violations and/or
reputation risks due to delayed
response.
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Environmental KPI

Emission type Unit 2024 2023

Air emissions

Nitrogen oxides (NOx) K 19.59 25.73
Sulphur oxides (SOx) 9 0.20 0.33
Particulate matters (PM) 0.10 0.14

Greenhouse gas emissions
Total greenhouse gas emissions

(scope 1 and scope 2) kg (equivalent of

carbon dioxide) 101,928.44 194,945.13

Scope 1 — Direct emissions 18,075.39 17,008.67
Scope 2 - Indirect emissions 83,853.05 177,936.46
Intensity kg/income in RMB million 7,123.49 25,235.09

Hazardous waste
Total hazardous waste kg 3.93 6.55
Intensity kg/income in RMB million 0.27 0.85

Non-hazardous waste
Total non-hazardous waste kg 3,336.79 9,055.40
Intensity kg/income in RMB million 233.20 1,172.20

Summary of Resources Consumption Data

Type of resources consumption Unit 2024 2023

Energy consumption

Total energy consumption kWh 199,569.89 350,509.09
Electricity kWh 137,692.00 292,182.90
Fuel oil kWh 61,877.89 58,276.19
Natural gas kWh 0.00 50.00

Intensity kWh/income in RMB million 13,947.37 45,372.40

Paper kg 133.14 220.00

Packaging materials

Total packaging materials kg 18,748.80 20,210.00
Plastic kg 172.80 225.00
Corrugated papers kg 18,576.00 19,985.00

Intensity kg/income in RMB million 1,310.30 2,616.13

Water
Total water consumption m?3 1,342.00 3,992.00

Intensity m3/income in RMB million 93.79 516.75
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SOCIAL ASPECT

Employment

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed 39 employees. With the “people-oriented” concept, we are
committed to providing our employees with a work environment that is free from discrimination against gender, age,
nation, sexual orientation, family status, race or religion, and with a place where our employees feel accepted, cared
and respected. The Group respects the laws in the areas where its people are employed, including the Employment
Ordinance in Hong Kong, Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China (F# AR MBI E15%), Civil Code of
the People’s Republic of China (F# AR HEMEIE AH), Regulation on Labour Security Supervision (35 B){RFEEE 5
&) and the Labour Basic Standard Law (55 81E # %) of the People’s Republic of China, and formulates its own
employment and labour practices in accordance with the industrial practices, which are detailed in the Employee
Handbook, aiming to regulate the employee’s behaviour and responsibilities and ensure they are treated fairly. During
the Reporting Period, the Group was not involved in any illegal activities in relation to its employment which had a
significant impact on it.

Remuneration and Benefit

We have a well-maintained compensation management system to ensure that all our employees can enjoy the
remuneration, benefits and welfare, including minimum salary, vacation, compensation for termination and other
benefits. We also provide suitable amount of subsidies for their daily communication and business trips.

The Group makes social insurance contributions for employees in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations.
Pursuant to the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, we make regular contributions for eligible employees
in Hong Kong. Employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China are required to participate in the state-
managed retirement benefit scheme operated by the PRC government.

In addition to basic statutory holidays, employees are entitled to paid annual leave, marriage leave, maternity
leave, paternity leave, and sick leave, etc. Although the Group emphasises work efficiency and does not encourage
employees to work overtime under normal circumstances, they may work overtime as appropriate according to work
requirements.

Recruitment and Promotion Policy

Upholding the impartial and fair principle, the Group’s recruitment processes are made based on operational needs,
business growth, and requirement of occupational skills and qualifications. Suitable employees are selected after
careful analysis of their personal moral standard, professional skills, work experiences and relevant qualifications. We
do not allow any personal relationship and interest as priority and prohibit any form of discrimination. We have built
a comprehensive performance assessment and promotion system, evaluating the job performance of employees to
make sure that each and every employee is entitled to reasonable promotion opportunities, with a view to creating an
endeavouring and harmonious corporate culture.

Equal Opportunity and Diversity Policy

The Group strives to reinforce its human resource management. Through strengthening human strategy, building
talent nurturing system, together with the promotion of corporate culture, we aim to improve our systems. The Group
determines employees’ salary, benefits and promotion based upon their job nature, experience, work performance,
financial results and market condition. The Group guarantees fair treatment of employees and prevent discrimination
based on gender, race, religion, age, marital and family status, disability or any other grounds. To attract and hire
outstanding talents, we adhere to ethical standards, knowledge, ability, experience and physical fitness as recruitment
criteria, and are committed to the principles of fairness, equality, and openness.
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Dismissal Policy
In general, the Group will lay off employees for the following reasons:

i. Unsatisfactory performance of an employee for a prolonged period of time, or his/her capability and skills do
not meet the required level of the respective position so that he/she cannot perform the job duties;

ii. Serious violation of laws and regulations and employment policies to the level that he or she should be
dismissed; and

iii. Objective condition where the company is not able to subsist.
If an employee is dismissed due to the above reasons, the Group will follow the procedures to handle and make
reasonable compensation to the dismissed employee according to the guidance under relevant employment law and

the relevant provisions on termination of the employment set out in the employment contracts of every staff.

Employee turnover rate:

Category 2024 2023
Rate of employee turnover (Note 1) 35.79% 63.91%
Gender (Note 2) Male 37.50% 30.77%
Female 32.26% 105.26%
Age group (Note 2) 2024 2023
Age 20-29 200.00% 93.33%
Age 30-39 33.33% 52.63%
Age 40-49 20.00% 75.36%
Age 50-59 133.33% 200.00%
Geographical region (Note 2) 2024 2023
Mainland China 35.79% 62.72%

Note 1: The calculation method of the turnover rate in the year: the number of employees leaving employment in the year = ((the
number of employees at the beginning of the year + the number of employees at the end of the year) =+ 2) X 100%.

Note 2: The calculation method of the turnover rate by category in the year: the number of employees leaving employment in the
category in the year = ((the number of employees in the category at the beginning of the year + the number of employees
in the category at the end of the year) =+ 2) X 100%.

Communication with Employees and Corporate Culture

We highly value employee opinions, for which we have set up diversified channels between the management
and our employees to listen earnestly to the suggestions and ideas of all employees and facilitate communication
between them and enhance their efficiency in this aspect. We hold in high regard the employees’ understanding
of the corporate culture. We aspire, through turning the corporate culture into actions from philosophy, creating a
concrete idea from abstract concept, and exploring oral and written forms, to raising employees’ comprehension of
our corporate culture, thereby strengthening their sense of belonging. To strengthen connections between employees
and promote work-life balance, the Group has arranged a series of corporate and social activities for employees
to enhance corporate culture and their sense of belonging. During the Reporting Period, the Group organised
various corporate activities and team-building dinners, providing good opportunities for all employees to relax and
communicate.
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Summary of Employee Data

2024 2023
L ta A b e s L N A | _ - 09
Gender Male 26 38
e __female = U5
Employment type Full time 37 52
o _____Perttime _ _ _______ - L
Age group Age below 30 0 4
Age 30-39 10 14
Age 40-49 18 22
Age 50-59 9 12
S . Ageover60 DA 4
Geographical region Mainland China 38 55
Hong Kong 1 1

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with laws and regulations
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunities,
diversity, anti-discrimination and other benefits and welfare that would have a significant impact on the Group.

Health and Safety

The Group attaches great importance to the promotion of the concept of health and safety, and we always put our
employees’ health and safety in the first place as always. The Group formulated, in strict compliance with the relevant
provisions of Production Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China (FZEAREMEZ 24 E %), Labour Law
of the People’s Republic of China (1 AR ZEHME S H)/%) and Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap.509
of the Laws of Hong Kong) and a series of internal guidelines to standardise its daily operations, eliminate potential
safety hazards and protect its employees’ safety, including the “Safety Training System”, “Safety Inspection System”
and “Hidden Hazards Screening System”.

We consider protection of our employees during production processes as very crucial, as we adhere to the motto of
“Safety and Prevention First”. In addition to obtaining work-related injury insurance for all our employees, employees
are strictly required to follow all laws and operational regulations during daily work and production, and are assigned
to acquire additional professional knowledge to raise their safety awareness, in order to contain and reduce accidents.

To prevent accidents, we closely monitor the safety indicators in the working environment, regularly check the
machines and related operating procedures to ensure that all safety rules are obeyed. We have also put in place
adequate fire extinguishers and first aid packages, and organised all kinds of occupational safety training sessions
whereby we urge employees to learn all necessary safety knowledges and launch safety drills, including education on
fire prevention and emergency response, equipment operation and fire drills. We will continue to upgrade our safety
facilities and review the relevant safety rules from time to time. If any safety hazards are found, our employees and
supervisors must report immediately to the management and take remedial measures to prevent accidents.
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We understand the increasing concern from employees and the society over work pressure and potential problems
and the balance between work and life is very important to employees. Hence, we proactively care about our
employees, so as to achieve pleasant mental health. The Group promotes the enriched and colourful lifestyle as we
regularly organises and encourages its employees to participate in various kinds of activities that can promote their
awareness of health, including dinner gatherings, long-distance running, basketball competition and other outdoor
and social events. We hope to enhance their enthusiasm, understanding with each other, and thus the cohesiveness,
so as to create an agreeable working atmosphere.

To ensure employees’ occupational health and safety, the Group has implemented a number if work safety measures
such as (a) ensure sufficient space between workstations and clean public areas such as corridors and pantries; (b)
arrange professional service providers for regular cleaning; (c) maintain adequate ventilation and lighting systems in
the offices; (d) prohibit smoking and alcohol abuse at the workplace; and (e) install various fire-fighting facilities in
offices.

In the past three years (including the Reporting Period), the Group has not recorded any work-related fatalities or
serious bodily injuries. In addition, during the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any claims or compensation
to employees for work-related injuries or fatalities, and was not aware of any material violations of laws and
regulations relating to employee health and safety.

Development and Training

The Group firmly believes that providing employees with proper and adequate training is crucial, as it will not only
improve their job performance and product quality, but will also inspire work potential and promote team spirit. We
pay attention to the training and improvement of employees’ abilities, knowledge and skills and strive to promote
their long-term career development. We have a comprehensive, diverse career development programme to ensure
employees to be adept at professional skills and bolster their quality and better adapt to the change in business
environment, so that the overall capacity of the company will be enhanced. The Company employs first-class related
professional institutions to provide training for staff, including Nanjing China Quality Mark Certification Group
(Jiangsu) Co., Ltd.* (R A EEFRHEEE LB R E), Changshu Emergency Management Bureau, Accounting
Continuing Education Platform of Jiangsu Province, etc. The training programmes cover knowledge-based, skill,
mental trainings, as well as integrated quality assessment:

i. Induction training: organising employee induction talk from time to time, inviting officers as speakers and
allowing employees to acquire knowledge, such as operational management and development planning, which
is relevant to their respective positions and understand the company policy and corporate culture;

ii. Skill training: providing skill enhancement training from time to time to let employees become adept at job
skills, in order to enhance their work efficiency and overall benefits of the Company. These training sessions
are grouped into “internal trainings” and “external trainings” and the Group will pay for external courses;

iii. Mental training: through launching various exchange events to fill employees with trust and develop
interpersonal relationship and complete their personal characters, with a view to enhance work efficiency by
improving psychological quality; and

iv. Integrated quality assessment: regularly organising integrated quality assessment by forms of oral and written

tests and practical operation, to ensure that employees have a deep understanding of corporate culture and
enhance their job skills, as well as improving their overall quality.
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Employees Training Hours:

Category 2024 2023

Total number of employees trained || _Number of people _____ EESSENRSNSEN = 44

Trained employees as a percentage of Percentage

__total number of employees __ _ _ _______ _____________________________ L . eI

Gender Male Percentage 96.15 68.42

L e SRR e rceniageT NS [N 100007

Employee category Executives Percentage 100.00 87.50

B e Others ________Percentage ____________ESSSSSS 96.88 ____ e

Gender Male Average number of hours 38 37

e AR Female  _______ Average number of hours__ _[SEREIE . 1

Employee category Executives Average number of hours 34 33
Others Average number of hours 438 47

For required qualifications and certificates to assume certain professional positions, such as the accountant
qualifications for finance officers and certificates for electricians, the Company will provide relevant training subsidies
according to actual needs and encourage employees to proactively learning new professional knowledge.

We evaluate the effects of the training and our employees’ performance to adjust the training programs. Also,
we always pay close attention to the latest national policy and regulatory changes and updates from the relevant
regulatory authorities, so that our directors and senior management fully understand the new legal requirements,
systems and industry knowledge.

Internal Development

The Group is well aware that talent training is the most important work above all, so the Group actively trains its
employees to enhance efficiency and build a future management team. Therefore, the Group offers employees with
enormous room for internal promotion. We advocate a “fair, just and transparent” promotion mechanism. To boost
employees’ awareness and aggressiveness, the Company will provide an enabling promotion platform according to
development need. Based on the operational condition of the company, we will reward employees with outstanding
performance and remarkable results in assessment. When there are suitable vacancies, we will prioritising the internal
promotion of existing employees, with a view to building their confidence and sense of belongings, as well as
reducing employee turnover.

Promotion of senior management must be made based on integrated performance assessment. We will follow the
principle of enhancing personal integrated quality and focus on training its comprehensive management capability. In
addition, we will make adjustment to different positions according to actual needs while employees are allowed to
request changes of job positions for personal situation.
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Prohibition of Forced Labour and Child Labour

The Group strictly prohibits the child labour and forced labour, and complies with the local relevant laws and
regulations, including but not limited to Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China (FPZE AR EME B HE),
Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China (A A R HHMIE % E13249°%), Employment Ordinance (Cap.
57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), and Civil Code of the People’s Republic of China (F1#E A R HFER A8 .

The Group strictly prohibits employment of children, swindle of child labour, forced child labour and other form of
forced labour. When hiring people, we require the applicants to present their IDs and academic certificates, and other
identity proving documents to ensure that we will not end up hiring child labour. We will also make sure there are no
forced labour-related complaints by specifying the time and nature of work when signing the labour contracts with
our employees. The Group will review and further improve its labour mechanism from time to time.

The Group also actively protects employees from any form of harassment or bullying at work. We hold a very
high personal moral and ethical standard of employees. Through training and information sharing, together with
a stringent behavioural guidelines, we monitor and prohibit and harassment and bullying among employees at or
outside our workplace.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had neither child labour or forced labour, nor involved in any violation of
labour standard.

Supply Chain Management

The Group is concerned about the impact of its daily operations and products on the environment and society. We
believe that proper supply chain management is essential for business sustainability and quality control. To achieve a
sound supply chain management, we should start with controlling the quality of raw materials, and integrating viable
environmental and financial practices into the entire supply chain cycle. Based on this theory, we have formulated
our “Supplier Management System” and “Purchase Management System”, aiming to maintain strict control over
the supply chain. During the Reporting Period, the Group had approximately 25 suppliers, all of which are domestic
suppliers.

Procurement Policy

Our “Purchase Management System” details our supplier selection criteria and identifies and evaluates the relevant
risks. Generally speaking, we have established a competitive and transparent tendering and procurement process in
order to achieve fairness and credibility, and prevent the suppliers from getting the contracts through bribery. We will
invite 3-5 suppliers to make tenders for products or parts that we expect to procure, and select among them upon
integrated examination of their costs, quality, qualifications and track records. Afterwards, we will communicate with
the selected suppliers by phone or by site visit to perform procurement management and production inspection, in
order to ensure that the Group is able to obtain supply of qualified products or parts. In case of non-compliance with
operational laws or concerning production risks by our suppliers, we will replace with other suppliers pursuant to
relevant system. In addition, to prevent conflicts of interest, employees and other individuals who have an interest in
the relevant suppliers will not be allowed to participate in related procurement activities. During the Reporting Period,
the Group has implemented the aforesaid measure on approximately 15 suppliers.
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We are advocating a green and sustainable supply chain model, in which environmental protection concepts are
considered from research and development to production. The Group carefully examines the qualifications of suppliers
and their comprehensiveness in terms of environmental policies and systems when cooperating with them. The Group
keeps a close eye on whether the suppliers had a history of significant violation of environmental laws during daily
operation. We learn their operational environmental measures through investigations and site visit, and ensure that
their materials meets required standards, so as to protect the Group’s supply chain from creating substantial impact
on the environment and natural resources.

The Group also emphasises the integrity of suppliers and partners. The Group only selects suppliers and partners with
good past business records and no serious violations or unethical business conduct. The Group adopts zero tolerance
for bribery and corruption and strictly prohibits suppliers and partners from obtaining procurement contracts or
partnerships through any form of transfer of benefits.

Controlling Environmental and Social Risks

The Group proactively maintain close communication with suppliers. The Group will review existing suppliers’
performance periodically. We resort to such measures as meetings and telephone calls to ensure that they are able to
fulfil their contractual responsibilities while complying with the Group’s criteria and national laws and regulations. In
addition, the Group advocates the sustainable supply chain model, whereby our products are designed, researched
and produced with consideration of environmental protection. We showcase the environmental quality of our
products through online and offline promotion, including participation of international exhibitions and other business
events, while also promoting our corporate culture and encouraging our suppliers to continue to improve and source
suppliers with the same value to make contributions to economic, social and environmental sustainability. The Group
will optimise its supply chain upon industry changes.

Suppliers are able to provide a reliable and stable source of materials to us because of the contribution of their
employees. Therefore, their personnel management system and safe production standards are also vital. We want our
suppliers to be people-oriented and maintain a safe production and regulated operation. The Group will examine their
relevant mechanisms and protective measures from time to time. In summary, if any potential material issues arise
with suppliers, the Group will take appropriate measures to change suppliers.

Product Responsibility

The top priority of a group is to ensure that customers are satisfied with our products and services. The Group strictly
complies with the Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China (FFEE A RHMEERESX), Law of the
People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests (F1ZE A R LA EH & & (R #
7%), Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China (FE AR HEMEBEIZEF]7%), Sale of Goods Ordinance (Cap.26 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), Copyright Ordinance (Cap.528), Prevention of Copyright Piracy Ordinance (Cap.544), Personal
Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap.486) and other all relevant regulations. We carefully select our raw materials for our
commitment to environmental protection and energy saving, as we will never use and put in during production
processes any substances which are harmful to the environment or human body. We carry out stringent quality
control in each procedure from production to delivery; whilst assigning officers to strictly monitor our production
processes, so that our production is performed with advanced technology from the country or overseas, and is in line
with the relevant standards of the ISO19001: 2016 Quality Management System. We also assess the quality of our
products and services based on the relevant national and industry standards. After the production is completed, our
products will be sent to research centre for test by experts to ensure their safety and reliability meet the specified
level. Taking our submarine products as an example, after the stereotype is finished, we will send it to the specific
research institute for conducting several functional tests, so as to ensure that our products meet the quality and
safety standards.

42 Xi'an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd.



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

To ensure the continuous improvement of the quality control system, quality technology, and costs, our employees
have the product quality assurance responsibilities such as (a) actively participate in various activities of the quality
control system, implement the quality policy at work, and strive to achieve the company’s quality objectives,
continuously promote more efficient development of the quality system, while ensuring product quality, process
capabilities and performance; (b) focus on customers, meet customer requirements, improve customer satisfaction,
and exceed customer expectations; (c) implement the system documents to prevent any inconsistencies with the
quality control system requirements; (d) encourage and support employees’ innovative spirit; and (e) any improvement
opportunities and other issues discovered by employees regarding the quality control system shall be promptly
submitted to the Company through the prescribed channels.

During the Reporting Period, there were there were no significant complaints received regarding the Group's product
quality and service delivery and significant complaints or compensation requests against us arising from the quality
issue of the products of the Group.

Data Protection

The Group is committed to protecting the privacy of its customers, employees, business partners and suppliers
by maintaining a safe and secure data environment. The Group complied with relevant laws and regulations by
ensuring the highest standard of information security and protection. Employees are prohibited from disclosing the
Group’s business information to unauthorised parties. All personal and business data collected during the Group’s
business activities were organised and secured properly. Computers and servers were protected by access passwords,
employees were instructed of their responsibility to follow the confidentiality code on the access to information and
to ensure the safekeeping of all personal, customer and business data, trade secrets and proprietary information.

Understanding Customer’s Expectation

The Group has always been customer-centric as their opinions are especially important to us in improving our service
quality. We strive to be professional and maintain the highest level of professionalism. Shining the Company’s
image is of the same significance as being compassionate and respectful to our customers, giving them as much
convenience and thought as possible. We have a professional customer service team and a perfect customer service
workflow, which enables us to deliver satisfactory pre-sales, on-sales and after-sales services in all aspects. In order
to obtain customer’s feedback, our CS team visits the customers regularly to conduct quarterly surveys on customer
satisfaction. For the questions raised by our customers, in addition to providing professional answers, we hold regular
internal meetings to analyse and study their requirements, so as to continuously improve our product quality and
service levels.

Handling of Complaint and Product Recall

We have established a complete complaint handling and product recall mechanism, with specific and clear guidelines
on the division of responsibilities and handling procedures. To address different types of complaint, we adopt an
“accountability” handling mechanism which directs complaint to responsible departments. Designated officers
will handle complaints from customers through a series of procedures including sending complaints, undergoing
investigation, giving clear handling timeline, delivering results and conveying satisfaction surveys, to prevent
any emergencies. As regards compensation claim on product recall, the Group has established a corresponding
compensation mechanism, and recall products, make exchanges or settle compensation in accordance with the
Compensation Management Measures (85 {8 & I2## %) and other after-sale measures and requirements.

During the Reporting Period, no products were subject to recall due to safety and health concerns.
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Protection of Privacy and Intellectual Property

We understand the vitality of protecting intellectual property and strictly comply with the Civil Code of the People’s
Republic of China (F#EARHXEMBEIEAE), Law of the People’s Republic of China on Protection of Intellectual
Property Rights (FFZE AR HEFMEA A ZERE L), Anti-Unfair Competition Law (&K N IEE % F %) and other relevant
laws and regulations. We constantly complete our management protocols and Employee Manual to include applicable
terms of protecting intellectual property, such as confidentiality, employees’ responsibilities, violation punishment and
other preventive measures, in order to keep all business information obtained during daily business exchange in strict

confidence.

When cooperating with other companies, we enter into and strictly follow the confidentiality agreement. For patent
technologies owned by third-party we obtain through cooperation, we undertake to carry out rigid control of the
scope of knowledge spread and only the necessary employees shall obtain such confidential information. Preventive
measures are made as anything carrying the confidential information shall be clearly marked and encrypted. We have
formulated stringent the “Management Regulations on Confidentiality of the Group’s Internal Information”, the
“Template of Non-disclosure Agreement” and other stringent information confidentiality regulations, which adopt
encryption measures for customers’ information and other data and prohibit personal discussion and mention at
public events of such information, so as to ensure product data, customer privacy and other business confidential
information are fully protected, and avoid leaks because of mishandling.

If the Company has developed the proprietary technologies or unique designs independently, we will submit the
relevant application for patents and recognition of unique design to the competent authorities, so as to ensure that
the intangible assets of the customers will not suffer any losses, and the Company’s legitimate rights and interests are
well protected.

To prevent any infringement (such as counterfeit trademarks), we closely monitor the infringement in the market and
periodically review our intellectual property portfolios, including trademarks, designs and patents, around the world.

During the Reporting Period, there was no material infringement of the intellectual property rights, and the Group
has taken reasonable measures to prevent any infringement of its own intellectual property rights and the intellectual
property rights of third parties.

Anti-corruption

The Group adhered to its principles of operation of high integrity standard and actively responded to the call of the
Chinese Government on fighting corruption, for which it has formulated a series of anti-corruption guidelines in
accordance with the laws and regulations of the People’s Republic of China, such as the Criminal Law of the People’s
Republic of China (12 A R HFEHAIE), Company Law of the People’s Republic of China (F1ZE A R A A TE),
Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China (% A RHME & 7%#2%), Anti-Monopoly Law of
the People’s Republic of China (% A R £ E & BEET/%), Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People's Republic of
China (MEARHAFNBE R RIEE# P E), Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201 of Hong Kong Law) (B LEBBE&
& 451l), Competition Ordinance (Cap. 619 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and other applicable laws and regulations, and
put them into active practice.
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To establish a clean and righteous corporate culture, we periodically invite the company lawyer to explain for our
employees the common legal knowledge, whilst encouraging them to conduct self-learning of relevant laws and
regulations and raising their awareness. In addition to requiring all our directors, senior executives and staff to comply
with the laws and regulations when carrying out the real business and operations in capital market, we have given
the Board of Directors greater responsibility, who, in addition to being responsible for the operation and management
of the Company, are expected to raise reasonable doubts about any possible cases in which a conflict of interests or
transfer of interests may occur, and for which the management must provide reasonable explanations.

As to cooperation with other companies in aspects of procurement, external investment or investment introduction,
the Group has sound rules and system. We will perform due diligence in advance and strictly manage and implement
each business relating to procurement and investment in accordance with its rules and procedures, and strengthens
the supervision and management of related businesses in the financial aspect so as to avoid the problem of collecting
any form of interest. Heads of relevant departments of the Company will also contact and communicate with external
partnerships such as suppliers from time to time to understand issues in business development and whether any
interest is gained. The Group also conducts internal self-inspection and communicates with customers from time to
time to obtain customer information and understand thoroughly about their balance sheets, cash flow condition and
profitability. In addition, combined with their qualification in terms of integrity, financing records, capital investment
and project condition, we are able to analyse their financial situation and determine whether their income sources
are valid and reliable, to ensure that the client’s funds are properly sourced and that no illegal acts such as money
laundering are involved.

In terms of finance and corporate governance, we strictly prevent the occurrence of illegal acts. All the members of
the management must straighten their daily operations and management with the authority granted to them by the
Board of Directors and in accordance with our internal control system, so as to eliminate corruption of any kind. We
have set up an Audit Committee according to the Listing Rules and engage external lawyers and auditors to provide
professional advice on the Company’s financial reports and other compliance issues. Apart from complying with the
corporate governance requirements of the Stock Exchange for listed companies, we have been constantly reviewing
the effectiveness of our internal controls and enhancing our corporate governance.

Whistle-blowing Policy

To enhance our internal integrity culture, we have a well-maintained anonymous reporting mechanism to encourage
our employees to report unlawful and dishonest conducts within the Company through e-mail, telephone and
other written form, etc., and promise to provide the informants with adequate protection to ensure that employees
who whistle-blow will not subject to unreasonable disciplinary action, unfair dismissal, or coercion. Upon receipt
of a report, investigations and internal verification will be triggered with the case immediately reported to the
management, regulatory agencies, Board of Directors and Audit Committee, who will then notify the government’s
law enforcement agencies. All necessary measures will be taken to punish and pursue employees, suppliers and
business partners who violated the laws. Meanwhile, we will conduct a review on a case-by-case basis, and propose
appropriate remedial measures if any loopholes are found.

With the continuous expansion of our business, we will further improve our anti-corruption mechanism, carry on the

education on fighting corruption and strengthen our cooperation with external stakeholders such as the suppliers,
partners and government agencies, aiming to continuously improve our internal control to stop any violation.
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During the Reporting Period, there were no concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the
Company and its employees while we did not spot any violations related to corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud, and
money laundering, which had a significant impact on the Group. The Group has not found any significant risks and
issues.

Community Investment

As a member of the community, an enterprise and the community are closely linked, and it is the great mission of
an enterprise to increase social well-being. The Group pursues sustainable development and try its best to strike a
balance between interest and responsibility. We proactively respond to the country’s appeal to benefit the people.
As to regions where the Group launches and operates its projects, the Group actively accommodates the local policy
to boost economic development together. We hope to blend the project with the local community and actively
participate in the local charity activities and take the social responsibilities. Employees are asked to improve personal
quality and develop the civic-mindedness while we encourage employees to also take their social responsibilities to
help the community. We champion the moral principle of dedication and appreciation, and aspire to cultivate personal
work ethics and social moral quality through actions, for the purposes of self-improvement and giving back to the
society.

Contribute to the National Work on Poverty Alleviation

In order to actively respond to the national poverty alleviation policy and fulfill the Group's social responsibility, the
Group has set up Hailan Natural Agricultural Development Co., Ltd. GBI R AREEBEF R ST AT) with 51%
equity interest in Yi County, Hebei Province, which is a territory included in the navy's fixed-point poverty alleviation
village policy since 2016, to carry out the production and sales of agricultural products, mainly live chicken, chicken
meat and related by-products, and established an agricultural product sales and operations department.

Going forward, the Group plans to extend its community engagement activities and find more ways of “giving

back”, by exploring how the Group can also contribute in non-financial ways, such as volunteering, school talks, and
donating of used computer and office equipment.
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INDEX OF ESG REPORTING GUIDE OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE

This report is prepared in accordance with the ESG Guide. The following table provides an overview on the general
disclosures and KPIs of various aspects under each subject area which has been cross-referenced below.

Subject Areas

A. Environmental Aspect

A1 Emissions
General Disclosure

A1.1
A1.2
A1.3
A1.4
A1.5

A1.6

General Disclosure
A2.1

A2.2
A2.3

A2.4

A2.5

General Disclosure

A3.1

Content

Information on

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste

The types of emissions and respective emissions data

Greenhouse gas emissions in total and intensity

Total hazardous waste produced and intensity

Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity

Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results

achieved

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes
are handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy,
water and other raw materials

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total
and intensity

Water consumption in total and intensity

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results
achieved

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and
results achieved

Total packaging material used for finished products and
with reference to per unit produced

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the
environment and natural resources

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them

Section

Air Pollution

Environmental KPI
Environmental KPI
Environmental KPI
Environmental KPI
Air Pollution,
Hazardous and
Non-hazardous Waste
Hazardous and
Non-hazardous Waste

Use of Resources
Environmental KPI

Environmental KPI
Air pollution and Use
of Resources

Sewage discharge

Environmental KPI

Environment and
Natural Resources
Environment and
Natural Resources
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Subject Areas
General Disclosure

A4.1

General Disclosure

B1.1

B1.2

General Disclosure

B2.1
B2.2
B2.3

Content

Policies on identification of and response to significant
climate-related issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer

Description of the significant climate-related issues which
have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer,
and the actions taken to manage them

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating
to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare

Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group

and geographical region

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and

geographical region

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating
to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards

Number and rate of work-related fatalities

Lost days due to work injury

Description of occupational health and safety measures

adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored
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Section
Climate Change

Risk and Action

Employment

Summary of
Employment Data
Dismissal policies

Health and Safety

Health and Safety
Health and Safety
Health and Safety



Subject Areas
General Disclosure

B3.1

B3.2

General Disclosure

B4.1

B4.2

General Disclosure

B5.1

B5.2

B5.3

B5.4

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Content

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities
The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category

The average training hours completed per employee by
gender and employee category

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
preventing child and forced labour

Description of measures to review employment practices to
avoid child and forced labour

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the
supply chain
Number of suppliers by geographical region

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,
number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, and how they are implemented and
monitored

Description of practices used to identify environmental
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored

Description of practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers,
and how they are implemented and monitored

Section

Development and
Training
Development and
Training
Development and
Training

Prohibition of
Forced Labour and
Child Labour

Prohibition of
Forced Labour and
Child Labour
Prohibition of
Forced Labour and
Child Labour

Supply Chain
Management
Supply Chain
Management
Supply Chain
Management

Controlling
Environmental and
Social Risks
Procurement Policy
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Subject Areas
General Disclosure

B6.1

B6.2

B6.3

B6.4

B6.5

General Disclosure

B7.1

B7.2

B7.3

General Disclosure

B8.1

B8.2

Content

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters relating to products and services provided
and methods of redress

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to

recalls for safety and health reasons

Number of products and service related complaints received
and how they are dealt with

Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights

Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures

Description of consumer data protection and privacy
policies, and how they are implemented and monitored

Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering
Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the issuer or its employees during
the Reporting Period and the outcomes of the cases
Description of preventive measures and whistleblowing
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored
Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors
and staff

Policies on community engagement to understand the
needs of the communities where the issuer operates
and to ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests

Focus areas of contribution

Resources contributed to the focus area
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Section
Product Responsibility

During the Reporting
Period, no products
were subject to recall
due to safety and
health concerns.
Product Responsibility
During the Reporting
Period, there were no
significant complaints
or compensation
requests against

us arising from the
quality issue of

the products

of the Group.
Protection of

Privacy and
Intellectual Property
Product Responsibility

Protection of
Privacy and
Intellectual Property

Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption

Whistle-blowing
Policy
Anti-corruption

Community
Investment

Community
Investment
Community
Investment



Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management

DIRECTORS
The Board consists of nine Directors, including two executive Directors, four non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors.

Executive Directors

Mr. Xiao Bing (B &4t4), aged 59, is a son of Professor Xiao Liangyong, the founder of the Company. Mr. Xiao
studied in radio technology under the Adult Education College of Xidian University* (78 % & F &% K 22) from 1984
to 1987 and obtained a Master of Business Administration from China Europe International Business School in 2006.
He worked in Xi‘an General Factory of Qil Instruments* (7% A HENIREESLER) from 1987 to 1992, served as the
manager of Xi'an Haitian Communications Equipment Factory* (F8Z2 ;8 K@M 58 B from 1992 to 1999 and was
the general manager of Xi'an Haitian Communications Equipment Company Limited* (FA & B XFBEAZEBREL
&) from 1999 to 2000. Mr. Xiao joined the Group as an assistant to chairman of the Board since 1999, and was
appointed as the general manager of the Company and elected as an executive Director since October 2000. Mr. Xiao
was the chairman of the Board from August 2004 to November 2007 and from 31 December 2012 to 28 June 2016,
was the vice chairman of the Board from 29 June 2016 to 31 December 2018, and has been the chairman of the
Board since 1 January 2019.

Mr. Chen Ji (BR#%4), aged 49, obtained a Bachelor of Economics from Shanghai University of Finance and
Economics* (/B4R AKE)in 1997, a Bachelor of Laws from East China University of Political Science and Law*
(FEHBUEZ P in 2005, a Master of Business Administration from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics
in 2008 and a Master of Laws from Fudan University* (8 B K2)in 2009. Mr. Chen has extensive experiences in
finance, internal control and management. Mr. Chen worked for Air China Limited Shanghai Branch Office* (FR B &
PR ZE IR 1D B BRA B & ) as the office supervisor from July 1997 to August 2001. Mr. Chen served as a senior
manager of finance department and a partner of Xinzhuo (China) Consulting Co., Ltd.* (55 (P E) ZHBERAQ
&) from December 2003 to January 2006. He joined Shanghai Hui Da Feng Law Firm* (&5 B & 2 M EF5F)
as a paralegal since February 2006 and became a lawyer and a partner, and was the founder partner of Shanghai
Heng Lu Lawyers Alliance (Group) Firm* (/8182 EE7EM (&) F7#5F) in October 2010. Mr. Chen was the vice-
chairman of Shanghai Zhongji Investment Holding Co., Ltd.* (/8RR EERRHBERAF), a company listed on
The Shanghai Stock Exchange, for the period from November 2012 to November 2014. Mr. Chen was appointed as a
director and elected as the chairman and the chief executive officer of Zhejiang Xinlian Co., Ltd.* (3 LS8 IRD B R
‘AB])on 2 March 2015 and 3 March 2015 respectively. Mr. Chen served as a director of Cloud Live Technology Group
Co., Ltd.* (FRIE@PB L EBRMNDABIRAT]), a company listed on The Shenzhen Stock Exchange, from November
2016 to March 2018, as the vice chairman from June 2017 to March 2018, and has been the chairman and the chief
executive since 1 November 2018. Since June 2018, Mr. Chen has served as the chief representative of the Greater
China region of the Bilateral Research Institute in the United States. Mr. Chen was an independent non-executive
Director from 10 August 2012 to 13 April 2015, was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 13 April
2015, was the chairman of the Board from 29 June 2016 to 31 December 2018, and has been the vice chairman of
the Board since 1 January 2019.
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Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Li Wenqi (EXH%4%), aged 59, graduated from Shaanxi College of Finance and Economics* (Bt Bf 48 &%,
now known as Xi'an Jiaotong University* (F%2 3238 A 2)). He worked for Shaanxi Silk Import & Export Corporation*
(BRPE & 44483 1 /A F)), which is one of the promoters of the Company, as the deputy chief of planning and
finance department from October 1987 to April 1994, the manager of planning and finance department from April
1994 to October 1997, an assistant to general manager and the manager of planning and finance department
from October 1997 to May 2001. He has served as the chief accountant and the manager of planning and finance
department of Shaanxi Kaisei Group Co., Ltd.* (BRFERIRERBREEAF)since May 2001, and the general
manager of Shaanxi Kaisei Group Co., Ltd. since September 2015. Mr. Li has joined the Company as a non-executive
Director since October 2000.

Mr. Zuo Hong (EZ4t4), aged 61, graduated from Xidian University* (FAZ 8B FRA%)and obtained the
qualification of Senior Engineer in 2005. He was the instructor of Xi‘an Armed Police Corps. He took the position of
supervisor and chief technical director of the engineering and technology department in Xi‘an Huiliaing Electronic
Technologies Co., Ltd.* (AALZEZRBFHIHARAT)in 1995 and 1997 respectively. He was the chairman and the
general manager of Xi'an Tianditong Communication Development Co., Ltd.* (AZXMEBEEEARLAT)In
September 1999. Mr. Zuo was appointed as the general manager of Xi'an Haitian Communication System Engineering
Co., Ltd.* (AL EBRBERHKIEZERAT), a subsidiary of the Company, in July 2006 and as an assistant to the
chief executive director of Xi‘an Hi-tech Communication Software Co., Ltd.* (FALBHEERNHKEERAT), a
subsidiary of the Company, in December 2006. He served as the head of the sales and marketing department of the
Company in 2007, was the general manager of the Company from 31 December 2012 to 13 July 2016, and has
become the vice general manager of the Company since 13 July 2016. Mr. Zuo was an executive Director for the
period from 20 May 2007 to 8 April 2014, and has been appointed as a non-executive Director since 29 June 2016.

Mr. Sun Yikuan (JA&E B 4), aged 54, graduated from Dongbei University of Finance and Economics* (881584
#&KE)in 2004 majoring in business administration with a bachelor degree. Mr. Sun worked at Xi'an Graphite
Products Factory* (FaZe 28 &) from February 1990 to January 1994; Haikou Daxin Urban Credit Cooperative*
(BOXEM™E AT as an assistant to manager of capital planning department from January 1994 to September
1997; Hainan Hong Kong and Macau International Trust and Investment Co., Ltd.* GEE B REREITRERRER
@]) as a senior manager of capital planning department from October 1997 to October 2001; Western Investment
Group Industrial Co., Ltd.* (AR EEBEEE B L)) as the deputy manager of capital planning department
from October 2001 to February 2003; and the industrial investment fund department of Shaanxi Province Industrial
Investment Management Co., Ltd.* (PREEE EEREEIEBRAB) from February 2003 to April 2006. Mr. Sun
joined Xi'an International Medical Investment Co., Ltd.* (AALEREBRERMDBRLQE), which is one of the
promoters of the Company, in April 2006, and successively served as a project manager of the investment planning
department, a supervisor and an executive officer of Kaiyuan Mall Baozhen Co., Ltd.* (FITTEIMERE RAT),
a supervisor of Xi'an International Medical Centre Co., Ltd.* (FAZBIRE 2 HFRAE), a director of Shangluo
International Medical Centre Hospital Co., Ltd.* (B /&EIRE 2 BB R/AE), and an assistant to the president
of Xi'an International Medical Investment Co., Ltd. until May 2018. From May 2018 to May 2021, Mr. Sun served
as the chairman of the labour union, an assistant to the president and a supervisor of Xi‘an International Medical
Investment Co., Ltd. Mr. Sun has become the vice-president of Xi'an International Medical Investment Co., Ltd. since
May 2021. Mr. Sun joined the Company as a non-executive Director with effect from 29 June 2022.
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Mr. Chen Ren (BR1Z), aged 58, graduated from University of Electronic Science and Technology (formerly known as:
Chengdu Institute of Telecommunications Engineering), majoring in electronic engineering. Mr. Chen is currently the
chairman of Chengdu Datu Zhitong Technology Co., Ltd. (&R IR E BRHZ B RAF)) and the chairman and general
manager of Chengdu Wuji Hexin Intelligent System Co., Ltd. (R&EBEBSHEEERAKBERAE). Mr. Chen has
previously served as managing director of Sichuan Fengguo Network Technology Co., Ltd. (P0)I|#8 R4A4& R AR A
7)) ; deputy general manager of Sichuan Chuangli Information Technology Co., Ltd. (FUJIIBI HE ERMABREAT);
chairman and general manager of Chengdu Zhongyan Technology Co., Ltd. (B & R k& B BRAE)) ; deputy general
manager of Guangzhou Bangxun Technology Co., Ltd. (BN MT AR AE]) ; chairman and general manager of
Shenzhen Xiantaike Technology Co., Ltd. CRIIFc =R B B RAF]) ; deputy general manager of Shenzhen Shekou
Jinnuo Technology Co., Ltd. GRIIEOEHERBRAR),; head of the manufacturing department, head of the
planning department and the assistant to the general manager of Shekou Taifeng Electronics Co., Ltd. (ftOF&EEF
BBRAR]), manufacturing engineer and quality management engineer of Weili Electronics Company ({2 /7 FA 7))
and Yada Electronics Company (J#3£ & F/A &) ; and a teaching assistant in the Department of Radar and Department
of Electronic Engineering at University of Electronic Science and Technology of China (BB F Rl AS) .

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Professor Shi Ping (Fis$##%), aged 75, holds a doctoral degree and the Chinese Certified Public Accountant
qualification. Professor Shi has served as a professor and a doctoral tutor of School of Economics and Management
at Northwestern University* (FA35K22) since November 1985. The main social positions of Professor Shi included
an assessor of National Natural Science Foundation of China* (B BARIZ2ESIEH), an executive director of
Accounting Society of Shaanxi Province* (BRFEE 522 ®), the vice president of Shaanxi Cost Accounting Researching
Association* (BRPERZSFIZSE), an advisor of Xi‘an Accounting Society* (AL &2 ). Professor Shi was
an independent director of Shaanxi Qinling Cement (Group) Co., Ltd.* (BrFEZRZEICE (EE) BRHERAT),
GuangYuYuan Chinese Herbal Medicine Co., Ltd.* (B&&ZFRZR DB AE)and Xi'an Haixing Technology Industry
(Group) Co., Ltd.* (AL BER L EZ (@) BE/AT)) . Professor Shi is an independent director of Ginwa Enterprise
(Group) Inc.* (BTE % (@) BRPBFR/AE]) and Xi'an International Medical Investment Co., Ltd.* (F L EIREE
KERMABERAT). Professor Shi was an independent Supervisor from 11 October 2002 to 28 June 2013, and has
been appointed as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 13 April 2015.

Mr. Tu Jijun CRAEFE S 4E), aged 58, graduated as a Bachelor of Engineering from Xidian University* (FA% 8 F
5 AK2) in July 1986. Since November 1986, Mr. Tu has worked at the information technology department of
Shaanxi Branch of Bank of China Co., Ltd.* (FREIIR1TAXHB B R LA BIBRFEE 297). Mr. Tu has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 21 August 2015.

Mr. Liu Lidong (BIAZ 84t 4E), aged 54, graduated from Beijing College of Posts and Telecommunications* (15 &R #F
BE ), now known as Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications* (36 R E8E A EE) , with bachelor degree
in computer communication in July 1992, and obtained a master degree in business administration from Tsinghua
University in July 2006. Mr. Liu served as an engineer, supervisor, manager and department head of Guangdong
Mobile Communications Co., Ltd. Shenzhen Branch* (BEE#ZHEEHBREFE AR FYIDAQE) successively from
1992 to 2006; served as the general manager of Guangdong Mobile Communications Co., Ltd. Meizhou Branch* (&
ERHEEERISTATEMDAQE) from 2006 to 2007; served as the regional general manager and integrated
department general manager of CMPark Co., Ltd.* (FEIR Bl BRI AR A E]) successively from 2007 to 2009;
and served as the executive of Yinsheng Electronic Payment Technologies Co., Ltd* (R EF (TR ARAT)
from 2009 to 2011. Mr. Liu has served as an executive director in Shenzhen Yangyi Technologies Co., Ltd.* GF1)l
mHE SR BRAT)since 2011, and has served as the chairman and director of Guangzhou Liuhe Information
Technologies Co., Ltd.* (BMN/N&1E BRI RN B R/AE) since 2016. Mr. Liu has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director with effect from 10 May 2021.
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SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE
The Supervisory Committee currently consists of three members.

Mr. Li Tianzuo (XS 4), aged 52, graduated from Electronic Engineering Department of Southeast University*
(BEgA2) at Nanjing in Jiangsu province with a bachelor degree in July 1995. Mr. Li worked at the research and
development department of State-owned Xi‘an Datang Telecom Company* (F8Z KEEEAF) from 1995 to 2000
and engaged in the early stage of research, development and design of program control exchange for the State. He
served as the product manager of Shanghai Jinglun Communication Co., Ltd.* (E/&EEmEEARAE) from May
2000 to October 2002 and engaged in design and development of new generation of soft-switching communication
products. Mr. Li has joined the development department of the Company to organise research, development, design
and production for full-band wireless communication products, communication base station and long-term evolution
(LTE) equipment system since November 2002 and has become the head of development department of the Company.
Mr. Li has been elected as a staff Supervisor since 29 June 2016.

Mr. Wang Xiaokun (EBE#4E4E), aged 55, graduated from Nanjing University* (FBER AZ2)in 1991 with a bachelor
degree in water resources and environmental. Mr. Wang worked as an engineer at Shaanxi Provincial Environmental
Protection Research Institute* (BREEEIRIGIREMZTHT) from 1991 to 1994 and served as the deputy general
manager in Xi'an Tiancheng Medical Bio-Engineering Co., Ltd.* (AL XRMEBEEEY TIEBRAE) from 1994 to
1998. Since 1998, Mr. Wang has appointed as the chairman of Xi'an Dadi Phyto Tech Co., Ltd.* (782 A MiE 1L H: i
BBRAR]) . Mr. Wang has been appointed as an independent Supervisor with effect from 30 June 2015.

Mr. Zeng Kun (BIE4t4), aged 47, holds a Master Degree in Economics from The Boston University, USA. Between
March 2018 and May 2020, Mr. Zeng was a Deputy Manager of the Investment Development Department and Head
of the Fund Business Department of Beijing Holdings Limited (RZ&E % (5£8) BRAF) . Between May 2020 and
February 2023, Mr. Zeng was a Manager of the Fund Securities Department of Beijing Holdings Limited (RZRE %
() BIRA7). Since April 2018, Mr. Zeng has been the Director of Beijing Shunlong Private Debt Investment
Fund Management Co., Ltd. QERIEEMFEFKREE S EIEF R E) while since November 2021, he has been
the Member of the Investment Decision-Making Committee of Beijing Shunlong Investment Development Fund
(Limited Partnership) GERIEEKEZRE S (BREH)). Since February 2023, Mr. Zeng has been the Supervisor of
Tangshan Port Industrial Group Co., Ltd. (B W EEE A B R A B and Supervisor of Huayuan Property Co., Ltd. (&
=M ERDBBRAE) while he has been the Director of Blue Whale Capital GP Ltd since August 2023. Since May
2023, Mr. Zeng has been a Manager of the Strategy Investment Team of Beijing Holdings Limited (R&RZE % (£E) &
RRE)).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wang Yun (E&t4), aged 44, graduated from School of Economics and Management of Northwest University*
(FA16K2) majoring in investment and economics in 2002, and obtained a minor diploma in e-commerce from
Northwest University in the same year. In 2009, he obtained a Master of Engineering in project management from
Northwestern Polytechnical University* (Flt T AK2). Mr. Wang was a non-staff representative supervisor of the
fourth supervisory committee from March 2019 to March 2021 and has been a non-staff representative supervisor
and the chairman of the fifth supervisory committee since March 2021 of Cloud Live Technology Group Co., Ltd.* (7
REARSEBRKRHDERAT), a company listed on The Shenzhen Stock Exchange, and an appointed representative
of Shanghai Zhenxi Enterprise Management Consulting Partnership (Limited Partnership)* (L83 E X EEEHS
Bh¥E (BEREE)) since 8 December 2020. After joining the Group in September 2002, he served in the securities
department, the finance department and the administration department as the project manager as well as the deputy
head and the head of the administration department. Mr. Wang served as the secretary to the Board from 2011 to
2019 and has become the general manager of the Company since 11 December 2019.
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Mr. Xu Hao (&35 4), aged 53, graduated from Shaanxi Financial Technological College* (Bt 78 B4 B 2 &I 2 4%) with
a major in finance in July 1994 and obtained the accountant qualification. Mr. Xu worked in the finance division of
Xi'an State-owned Tractor Factory* (B 78 2 ¥R 1 B G k) from 1994 to 2000, served as the financial supervisor of
Xi'an Tianhao Plastic Steel Product Limited Liability Company* (72 A iF 2808 @B R EE A7) from January 2001
to September 2003, and served as the project manager of Xi'an Pengguang Tax Agent & Bureau Co., Ltd.* (F5Z g
HIRFEENRFEFT B R E LA F) from October 2003 to February 2005. Mr. Xu has worked in the finance department
of the Company since March 2005 and is now the financial controller of the Company. Mr. Xu was a staff Supervisor
from 18 April 2008 to 17 April 2014 and from 11 September 2015 to 28 June 2016.

Mr. Wang Jianging (E#Z# & % 4%), aged 43, graduated from China Central Radio and Television University* (f1 2R &
EBEHRAZE) (now known as The Open University of China) in the business administration in 2007. Mr. Wang worked
as a project manager and a project supervisor of the research and development department of the Company from
August 2001 to December 2011, a project supervisor of the research and development department and the vice
manager of delivery centre in Xi'an Sanyuanda Haitian Antenna Co., Ltd.* (& = EBRKLBRAE) from
December 2011 to February 2016, the product manager of Shaanxi Chuangda Communication Technologies Co., Ltd.*
(BRFa R 2B E R B R A E) from February 2016 to June 2017, and the vice general manager and the head of the
research and development department of Xi'an Xiao's Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd.* (BAZ ¥ KXERIEAERAT)
from 2017 to 2019. Mr. Wang has become the vice general manager of the Company since 11 December 2019.

Ms. Lei Xiao (8 &Z %« L), aged 39, obtained a Bachelor of Administration Management from Air Force Engineering
University* (ZEE T2 K2)in 2008. Ms. Lei worked in the administration and personnel department of the Company
from July 2008 to December 2011, worked in Xi’an Sanyuanda Haitian Antenna Co., Ltd.* (AZ = cEEBRKEGIR
‘A 8]) from December 2011 to June 2014 as the head of general affairs department and the assistant to the general
manager, and served as the head of the securities department of Shaanxi Guode Electric Manufacturing Co., Ltd.* (PR
FAEEBE RIS ARAT) from June 2014 to March 2015. Ms. Lei has been the head of the investment department
of the Company since March 2015, and has been the secretary of the Board since 11 December 2019.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lee Kun Yin (EREEf4), qualified as a chartered accountant in Australia and is the founder of Inston Hong
Kong Limited. He has previously managed the Asia Pacific commission sales and client strategy business in equities
for Credit Suisse and Standard Chartered Bank and managed advisory teams for Accenture in Hong Kong. He holds a
Master of Commerce Degree from The University of New South Wales and Bachelor of Commerce and Arts Degrees
from The University of Melbourne. He is a member of both the Chartered Accountants in Australia & New Zealand
and Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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To all shareholders,

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the supervisory committee of the Company (the “Supervisory
Committee”) thoroughly performed its duties faithfully in accordance with the provisions of the Company Laws of
the PRC, GEM Listing Rules and the articles of association (the “Articles”) of the Company. Adhering to the principles
of safeguarding interests of all shareholders and benefits of the staff of the Company, the Supervisors attended
Board meetings, acquiring first-hand information of the Board's decision on marking important issues and effectively
monitoring the Board and senior management of the Company in performing their duties, and providing reasonable
recommendation and advice on the operations and development plans of the Company.

The Supervisory Committee considers that:

1.

The Company's operation for the year of 2024 complied with the relevant laws and regulations of the state
and local governments of the PRC and the Articles;

The Directors and managers of the Company performed their duties in strict compliance of the relevant rules
and regulations for the development of the Company. They carried out their work diligently without violating
any laws and regulations or the Articles and had not conducted any activities which were against the interests
of the Company;

The connected transactions of the Company, which have fully complied with the relevant provisions of the
GEM Listing Rules, were fair and reasonable. We have not discovered any act that prejudiced the interests of
the Company;

The Supervisory Committee’s role in monitoring the management was strengthened by attending Board
meetings, participating in the decision-making process of the management and reviewing regularly the
Company’s financial statements and accounts. The Supervisors believe that the financial management of
the Company was performed in strict accordance with the relevant accounting principles, that the financial
statements and accounts were prepared timely and properly and that no improper disclosures were identified,;
and

The Supervisory Committee has verified the financial information such as the financial and performance
reports and was satisfied with the report of the Board, the audited financial statements to be submitted to the
forthcoming annual general meeting by the Board. We are of the opinion that the audited financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2024 have reflected truly and fairly the conditions of the operating results
and the assets of the Company and of the Group.

The Supervisory Committee would like to extend its appreciation to all shareholders of the Company, the Directors
and members of staff for their strong support to the Supervisory Committee’s work.

On behalf of the Supervisory Committee

Li Tianzuo
Chairman

Xi'an, the PRC
28 March 2025
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors are pleased to present this annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of Xi‘an
Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in research and development, manufacture and sale of mobile communication
antennas and related products, underwater and underground surveillance, imaging, mechanical equipment, and
complicated environment warning and surveillance equipment, agricultural and forestry used unmanned aerial
vehicles, provision of consultancy services and sales of agricultural products.

The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note VIII.1 to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW
The business review of the Group for the Year together the future business development are set out in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

An account of the Group's relationship with its key stakeholders and discussions on the Group's environmental
policies and performance are included in the respective sections headed “Corporate Governance Report” and
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report”.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the consolidated income statement of
this annual report.

No interim dividend (2023: Nil) was paid during the Year and the Board did not recommend any payment of a final
dividend for the Year (2023: Nil). As at the date of this annual report, the Board is not aware of any shareholders who
have waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY PARTIES
The success of the Group also depends upon the support from key parties which include customers, suppliers,
employees and shareholders respectively.

Customers

The Group provides high standard and good quality products to our customers, as well as strong maintenance and
after-sales services to maintain a close relationship with our existing customers to encourage re-engagement and/or
referral.

Suppliers

Good relationship with suppliers constitutes one of the essential elements of the Group’s success. To achieve positive
business growth, the Group maintains close relationship with its suppliers in order to provide products and services
with high efficiency and quality so as to further enhance our reputation in the market.

Employees

The Group focuses on the talents of our employees as our most valuable asset and provides a harmonious and
professional working environment. The key objective of our human resources management is to recognise and reward
performing staff by providing competitive remuneration packages, work-life balances and implementing an effective
performance appraisal system with appropriate incentives, namely equal promotion opportunity.

Shareholders

The principal goal of the Group is to maximise the return to the shareholders of the Company. The Group will focus
on our core business for achieving sustainable profit growth and rewarding the shareholders with potential dividend
payouts by taking into account the business development needs and financial position of the Group.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group's environmental, social and governance (“ESG") strategy and
reporting. The Board is responsible for the Group’s ESG risk management and internal control systems to ensure that
the ESG strategies and reporting requirements are met. The Group is committed to building an environmentally-
friendly corporate environment that pays close attention to conserving natural resources. The Group strives to
minimise its impact on the environment by reducing its electricity consumption and encouraging recycle of office
supplies and other materials. For further details, please refer to the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”
section of this annual report.

Overall, the Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of its businesses and the communities with which it
engages. The Group pursues this business approach by managing the business prudently and executing management
decision with due care and attention.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
Details of the segment information of the Group for the year are set out in note XVI.2 to the Financial Statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

In accordance with the Articles, the reserve available for distribution is the lower of amount determined under
accounting principles generally accepted in the PRC and the amount determined under the principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong if applicable. Based on the financial statements of the Company prepared in accordance
with the relevant accounting principles and financial regulations applicable to companies established in the PRC, the
Company does not have any reserves available for distribution to its equity holders as at 31 December 2024.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Our Group's financial condition, results of operations and business prospects may be affected by a number of risks
and uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining to our Group’s businesses. The followings are the key risks and
uncertainties identified by our Group. There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to those shown below
which are not known to our Group or which may not be material now but could turn out to be material in the future.

Risks relating to the industry

The products Business of the Group depends substantially on the global economic and market conditions. During
period of slowing economic growth or recession and trade conflicts, consumer spending may drop as they are less
willing to spend money. A drop in customer spending power could lead to a drop in demand for production lines
which in turn lower the demand of our products and thereby adversely affecting our results of operations and
financial condition. To manage and reduce the risk, the Board carefully plan and monitor any expansion of business in
caution.

Risks relating to concentration of suppliers

There is no assurance that our business relationship with our suppliers will continue in the future. To reduce the
risk, the Group proactively tries to expand its supplier base for high quality suppliers in which it has achieved an
improvement.

Risks relating to conducting business in the PRC

Our results, financial condition and prospects are to a significant degree subject to the economic, political and legal
developments of the PRC, as substantial part of our assets and business operation are located in PRC. The economic,
political and social conditions, as well as government policies, including taxation policies, could affect our business.
To manage the risk, senior management would closely monitor economic, political, legal, institutional and social
developments in the PRC while maintaining conservative treasury policy.

Financial risks
Details of financial risks are set out in note X to the consolidated financial statements.
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RESERVES
Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in shareholders’ equity of this annual report and notes V.26 to 28 to the financial statements respectively.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited financial statements,
is set out on page 204 in this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the year are set out in note V.25 to the financial
statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS AND SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
During the year, the Company has not entered into any equity-linked agreement and has not undertaken any share
option scheme.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the Year are set out in notes V.8 and
9 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS
The Directors and Supervisors during the year and up to the date of this annual report were/are:

Executive Directors
Mr. Xiao Bing (chairman)
Mr. Chen Ji (vice-chairman)

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Li Wenqi

Mr. Sun Yikuan

Mr. Zuo Hong

Mr. Chen Ren

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Professor Shi Ping

Mr. Tu Jijun

Mr. Liu Lidong

Supervisors

Mr. Li Tianzuo

Mr. Wang Xiaokun

Mr. Zeng Kun (appointed on 28 June 2024)
Mr. Shang Lijian (resigned on 3 June 2024)
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Directors’ and Supervisors’ service contracts

Each of the Directors and the Supervisors has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term valid until
28 June 2025 subject to renewal upon approval by the shareholders of the Company for one or more consecutive
terms of three years. In accordance with the provisions of the Articles, the term of office of the Directors shall be
three years commencing from the date of appointment or re-election and renewable upon re-appointment or re-
election. In accordance with the provisions of the PRC Company Law, the term of office of the Supervisors shall also
be three years and renewable upon re-appointment or re-election.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors and Supervisors has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

Independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors

The Board confirmed that the Company received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considered that the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Directors’ and Supervisors’ emoluments
Details of emoluments of Directors and Supervisors are set out in note XII.5 to the financial statements.

CHANGE OF INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Save as disclosed above, there is no change to the Directors’, Supervisors’ and senior management's information as
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors, Supervisors (as if the requirements
applicable to the Directors under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) had applied to the Supervisors) and chief executives of the Company in the shares (the “Shares”), underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO); or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein; or which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required
standard of dealings by Directors as referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long positions in domestic shares of the Company (“Domestic Shares”)

Approximate
% in Approximate

Number of total issued % in

Domestic Domestic total issued

Name of person Capacity Shares Shares Shares

Mr. Xiao Bing (¥ F 5 4) Beneficial owner, family member 485,832,335 38.81% 25.60%
interest and interest in (Note 1)

controlled corporation

Mr. Chen Ji (BR#E %5 %) Interest in controlled corporation 272,844,804 21.80% 14.38%
(Note 2)
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Long positions in H shares of the Company (“H Shares”)

Approximate Approximate

% in % in

Number of total issued total issued

Name of person Capacity H Shares H Shares Shares

Mr. Xiao Bing (¥ E%4%) Beneficial owner 10,000,000 1.55% 0.53%

Mr. Chen Ji (BR#%4) Beneficial owner and 11,718,000 1.81% 0.62%

spouse interest (Note 3)
Notes:

1. 328,363,637 Domestic Shares are held by Xi'an Tian An Corporate Management and Consulting Co., Ltd.* (AZXZ 1

¥ EI1EEHABRAE) (“Tian An Corporate”), which is beneficially owned as to 60% by Mr. Xiao Bing (¥ £ 4) and
40% by his spouse Ms. Chen Jing (BRE¥ % 1) . 157,468,698 Domestic Shares are held by Xi'an Xiao’s Antenna Technologies
Co., Ltd.* (AZH EXRERFEERAE) (“Xiao Antenna”), which is beneficially owned as to 31% by his father Professor
Xiao Liangyong (B R B #3%) and as to 30% by his spouse Ms. Chen Jing. On 10 August 2023, Professor Xiao Liangyong
transferred his 31% share of Xiao Antenna to Ms. Chen Jing. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Xiao Bing is deemed to be interested
in the same 328,363,637 and 157,468,698 Domestic Shares. In the 2nd quarter of 2023, Mr. Xiao Bing transferred his
57,000,000 and 8,000,000 Domestic Shares to Mr. Chen Ren and Ms. Ma Xiuling, respectively.

2. 254,844,804 Domestic Shares are held by Shanghai Gaoxiang Investment Management Co., Ltd.* (E/8SHIEBEEAR
‘AT)) (“Gaoxiang Investment”), which is beneficially owned by Mr. Chen Ji (BE# 4 4) and his spouse Ms. Sun Xiangjun
(}# &L T)in equal share. The Domestic Shares held by Shanghai Hongzhen Ningshang Investment Management
Partnership (limited partnership)* (LB BEHKEEE B % (BER&H¥)) (“Shanghai Hongzhen Ningshang”)
reduced from 18,500,000 to 18,000,000. In the 2nd quarter of 2023, Shanghai Hongzhen Ningshang transferred its
500,000 Domestic Shares to Mr. Song Xiangyu. Shanghai Hongzhen Ningshang is beneficially owned as to 83.33% by
Mr. Chen Ji and 16.67% by Shanghai Hongzhen Investment Management Co., Ltd.* (LB B EBEBRAR)
("Shanghai Hongzhen Investment”), and Shanghai Hongzhen Investment is beneficially owned as to 60% by Gaoxiang
Investment. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chen Ji is deemed to be interested in the same 254,844,804 and 18,000,000 Domestic
Shares.

3. 11,418,000 H Shares are held by Mr. Chen Ji and 300,000 H Shares are held by Ms. Sun Xiangjun. By virtue of the SFO,
Mr. Chen Ji is deemed to be interested in the same 300,000 H Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors, Supervisors and chief executives of the
Company had any other interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or which were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by Directors as
referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, so far as is known to the Directors, the Supervisors or chief executive of the Company, the
following persons/entities (other than the Directors, Supervisors or chief executive of the Company) who/which had,
or are deemed to have, interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO; or who/which were or are expected
to be, directly or indirectly, interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights
to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company; or who/which were recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in Domestic Shares

Approximate

% in Approximate

Number of total issued % in

Domestic Domestic total issued

Name of person/entity Capacity Shares Shares Shares

Ms. Chen ling (BR&$ 2 1) Spouse interest and interest in 485,832,335 38.81% 25.60%
controlled corporation (Note 1)

Tian An Corporate Beneficial owner 328,363,637 26.23% 17.30%
(Note 1)

Ms. Sun Xiangjun Spouse interest and interest in 272,844,804 21.80% 14.38%
(KB L) controlled corporation (Note 2)

Gaoxiang Investment Beneficial owner 254,844,804 20.36% 13.43%
(Note 2)

Xiao Antenna Beneficial owner 157,468,698 12.58% 8.30%
(Note 1)

Xi'an International Medical Beneficial owner 100,000,000 7.99% 5.27%

Investment Co., Ltd.*
(AZERE2EERNERAR)

Shenzhen Huitai Investment Beneficial owner 75,064,706 5.99% 3.96%
Development Co., Ltd.* (Note 3)
(FITHERREERE
fRAE])
Mr. Xiao Feng (B I& % 4) Interest in controlled corporation 75,064,706 5.99% 3.96%
(Note 3)
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Name of person/entity

Xi'an Haorun Investment Ltd.*
(AZRBRERRETAE)

Mr. Wang Yun (&% 4)

Mr. Chen Ren (BE1{Z 4% %)

Beijing Holdings Investment
Management Co., Ltd.*

(ERIERZREEEFRAR)

Beijing Holdings (Group) Ltd.*
(REB% &EE) BRAR)

Ms. Jin Rongfei (£I4F % +)

Shaanxi Yinji Investment Ltd.*

(RERSKREBRAR)

Mr. Zhang Jiandong
(REREL)

Shanghai Ruikou Commerce
and Trading Ltd.*
(LEEEEEERRH)

Shanghai Hongzhen Ningshang

Mr. Jiao Chengyi (FE A & 5E4%)
Mr. Liao Kang (B2 EE % 4E)
Ms. Ma Xiuling (f& 5% % £)

Mr. Song Xiangyu (7R ¥ 5k 4 £E)

Capacity

Beneficial owner

Interest in controlled corporation

Beneficial owner

Beneficial owner

Interest in controlled corporation

Beneficial owner

Beneficial owner

Beneficial owner

Beneficial owner

Beneficial owner

Beneficial owner
Beneficial owner
Beneficial owner

Beneficial owner

Number of
Domestic
Shares

70,000,000
(Note 4)

70,000,000
(Note 4)

57,000,000
54,077,941
(Note 5)
54,077,941
(Note 5)

50,000,000

20,000,000

20,000,000

18,500,000

18,000,000
(Note 2)

10,943,030
9,101,478
8,000,000

500,000

Directors’ Report

Approximate
% in

total issued
Domestic
Shares

5.59%

5.59%

4.55%

4.32%

4.32%

3.99%

1.60%

1.60%

1.48%

1.44%

0.87%
0.73%
0.64%

0.04%

Approximate
% in

total issued
Shares

3.69%

3.69%

3.00%

2.85%

2.85%

2.64%

1.05%

1.05%

0.97%

0.95%

0.58%
0.48%
0.42%

0.03%
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Long positions in H Shares

Name of person/entity

Mr. Huang Li Hou (BZE%4)

Ms. Chen Wei (BR¥8 % +)

Hongkong Jinsheng Enterprise
Co., Limited

(EBRALERRAT)

Oceanic Bliss Holdings Limited

(BHERBRRE)

Zeal Warrior Investments Limited

Clear Renown Global Limited
(BRBIRHEBRATR)

Ms. Huang Wei Wen
(BERXxt)

Ms. Sun Xiangjun
(BMEEZL)

Guotai Junan Financial

Guotai Junan International

Guotai Junan Holdings

Guotai Junan Securities

Capacity

Beneficial owner

Beneficial owner and interest
in controlled corporation

Beneficial owner

Interest in controlled corporation

Interest in controlled corporation

Beneficial owner

Interest in controlled corporation

Beneficial owner and spouse interest

Issuer of investment products

Interest in controlled corporation

Interest in controlled corporation

Interest in controlled corporation
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Number of
H Shares
(Note 6)

85,100,000

70,897,000
(Note 7)

70,752,000
(Note 7)
70,752,000
(Note 7)

70,752,000
(Note 7)

42,000,000
(Note 8)

42,000,000
(Note 8)

11,718,000
(Note 9)

23,500,000
(Note 10)

23,500,000
(Note 10)

23,500,000
(Note 10)

23,500,000
(Note 10)

Approximate
% in

total issued
H Shares

13.18%

10.98%

10.96%

10.96%

10.96%

6.50%

6.50%

1.81%

3.64%

3.64%

3.64%

3.64%

Approximate
% in

total issued
Shares

4.48%

3.74%

3.73%

3.73%

3.73%

2.21%

2.21%

0.62%

1.24%

1.24%

1.24%

1.24%
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Short positions in H Shares

Approximate Approximate

Number of % in % in

underlying total issued total issued

Name of person/entity Capacity H Shares H Shares Shares
(Note 6)

Guotai Junan Financial Issuer of unlisted and cash settled 23,500,000 3.64% 1.24%
derivatives (Note 11)

Guotai Junan International Interest in controlled corporation 23,500,000 3.64% 1.24%
(Note 11)

Guotai Junan Holdings Interest in controlled corporation 23,500,000 3.64% 1.24%
(Note 11)

Guotai Junan Securities Interest in controlled corporation 23,500,000 3.64% 1.24%
(Note 11)

Notes:

328,363,637 Domestic Shares are held by Tian An Corporate, which is beneficially owned as to 60% by Mr. Xiao Bing and
40% by his spouse Ms. Chen Jing. 157,468,698 Domestic Shares are held by Xiao Antenna, which is beneficially owned as
to 31% by his father Professor Xiao Liangyong and as to 30% by his spouse Ms. Chen Jing. In the 2nd quarter of 2023,
Mr. Xiao Bing transferred his 57,000,000 and 8,000,000 Domestic Shares to Mr. Chen Ren and Ms. Ma Xiuling, respectively.
On 10 August 2023, Professor Xiao Liangyong transferred his 31% share of Xiao Antenna to Ms. Chen Jing. By virtue of the
SFO, Ms. Chen Jing is deemed to be interested in the same 328,363,637 and 157,468,698 Domestic Shares.

254,844,804 Domestic Shares are held by Gaoxiang Investment, which is beneficially owned by Mr. Chen Ji and his spouse
Ms. Sun Xiangjun in equal share. 18,000,000 Domestic Shares are held by Shanghai Hongzhen Ningshang, which is
beneficially owned as to 83.33% by Mr. Chen Ji and 16.67% by Shanghai Hongzhen Investment, and Shanghai Hongzhen
Investment is beneficially owned as to 60% by Gaoxiang Investment. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Sun Xiangjun is deemed to be
interested in the same 254,844,804 and 18,000,000 Domestic Shares.

75,064,706 Domestic Shares are held by Shenzhen Huitai Investment Development Co., Ltd.* CRIITMERKEZEBRA
&), which is beneficially owned as to 80% by Mr. Xiao Feng (H &% 4) . By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Xiao Feng is deemed to
be interested in the same 75,064,706 Domestic Shares.

70,000,000 Domestic Shares are held by Xi‘an Haorun Investment Ltd.* (AL R EREBRIEAE), which is beneficially

owned as to 50% by Mr. Wang Yun (E& 5 4) . By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Wang Yun is deemed to be interested in the same
70,000,000 Domestic Shares.
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5, 54,077,941 Domestic Shares are held by Beijing Holdings Investment Management Co., Ltd.* Jt RIEIZERFRREEEF R
‘A7) (“Beijing Holdings"). By virtue of the SFO, Beijing Holdings (Group) Ltd.* (RZ&=& % ((£E) BRAF), which holds
more than one third of voting rights of Beijing Holdings, is deemed to be interested in the same 54,077,941 Domestic
Shares.

6. Details of these shareholders of the Company are based on information as set out in the website of the Stock Exchange and
notified by the Disclosure of Interests Online System of the Stock Exchange.

/. 145,000 H Shares are held by Ms. Chen Wei (B¥£%2 1) who is beneficial owner of Zeal Warrior Investments Limited (“Zeal
Warrior”). 70,752,000 H Shares are held by Hongkong Jinsheng Enterprise Co., Limited (F#B#EF B AR AF), which is
beneficially owned by Oceanic Bliss Holdings Limited GE## & B BR2 5)) (" Oceanic Bliss”), and Oceanic Bliss is beneficially
owned by Zeal Warrior. By virtue of the SFO, each of Ms. Chen Wei, Oceanic Bliss and Zeal Warrior is deemed to be
interested in the same 70,752,000 H Shares.

8. 42,000,000 H Shares are held by Clear Renown Global Limited (BAZIREKERAE), which is beneficially owned by
Ms. Huang Wei Wen (E&X % ). By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Huang Wei Wen is deemed to be interested in the same
42,000,000 H Shares.

9. 11,418,000 H Shares are held by Mr. Chen Ji and 300,000 H Shares are held by Ms. Sun Xiangjun. By virtue of the SFO,
Ms. Sun Xiangjun is deemed to be interested in the same 11,418,000 H Shares.

10. 23,500,000 H Shares are held in investment products issued by Guotai Junan Financial Products Limited (“Guotai Junan
Financial”), which is beneficially owned by Guotai Junan International Holdings Limited (“Guotai Junan International”).
Guotai Junan International is beneficially owned as to 65.74% by Guotai Junan Holdings Limited (“Guotai Junan
Holdings"”), which is beneficially owned by Guotai Junan Securities Co., Ltd (“Guotai Junan Securities”). By virtue of the
SFO, each of Guotai Junan International, Guotai Junan Holdings and Guotai Junan Securities is deemed to be interested in
the same 23,500,000 H Shares.

11. Short positions in 23,500,000 underlying H Shares are derived from unlisted and cash settled derivatives issued by Guotai
Junan Financial, which is beneficially owned by Guotai Junan International. Guotai Junan International is beneficially owned
as to 65.74% by Guotai Junan Holdings, which is beneficially owned by Guotai Junan Securities. By virtue of the SFO, each
of Guotai Junan International, Guotai Junan Holdings and Guotai Junan Securities is deemed to have short position in the
same 23,500,000 underlying H Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors, Supervisors and chief executives of the Company
were not aware of any other person/entity (other than the Directors, Supervisors or chief executive of the Company)
who/which had, or is deemed to have, interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO; or who/which was or
is expected to be, directly or indirectly, interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company; or who/which was recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE H SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, so far as is known to the Directors, Supervisors and chief executives of the Company,
none of the Directors, Supervisors or chief executives of the Company or any of their respective associates including
spouses and children under 18 years of age had any interest in, or has been granted, or exercised, any rights to
subscribe for H Shares (or warrants or debentures, if applicable) or to acquire H Shares.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors and Supervisors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures in the Company or
any other body corporate, and neither the Directors nor Supervisors, nor chief executives of the Company, nor any of
their spouses or children under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had
exercised any such right.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the laws of the PRC, which would oblige the
Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

The Company had not purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities (including sale of treasury
shares) during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report. As at 31 December 2024, no
treasury shares were held by the Company.

ISSUANCE OF NEW SHARES AND DEBENTURES
The Company did not issue any new shares and debentures during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
At least 25% of the Company's total issued share capital was held by the public throughout the year ended
31 December 2024 and as at the date of this annual report.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors, the Supervisors or the management shareholders of the Company (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) or their respective associates had an interest in any business which competes or may compete, directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group nor any conflicts of interest which has or may have with the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Group was entered into or existed during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions” and except for Directors’ and Supervisors’
service contacts, no contract of significance, to which the Company or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director or a Supervisor had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or any
time during the year.

DONATIONS
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group made no charitable and other donations.

MATERIAL INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any material investments, acquisitions or disposals
of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures. There was no formal plan authorised by the Board for any material
investments, acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures as at 31 December 2024 and up to
the date of this annual report.

FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES
There were no fund-raising activities conducted by the Company during the year ended 31 December 2024.

COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s major operations are mainly carried out in Mainland China and Hong Kong, while the Company listed on
the GEM of the Stock Exchange. The Group always aims to comply with relevant laws and regulations in Mainland
China, Hong Kong and the respective places of incorporation of the Company and its subsidiaries while sufficient
resources and training have been allocated and provided to ensure the on-going compliance with applicable laws and
regulations.
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During the year and up to the date of this annual report, the Board was unaware of any non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and operations of the Group. The Company was
not involved in any material litigation or arbitration during the Year. The Directors are also not aware of any material
litigation or claims that are pending or threatened against the Group during the Year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions entered into by the Group during the year ended 31 December
2024 are set out in Note XlI to the consolidated financial statements. To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of
these related party transactions constitutes connected transactions that need to be disclosed under GEM Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
During the year, the Company did not undertake and/or approve any significant and discloseable related parties and
connected transactions with connected persons of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set out on pages 10 to 21 of
this annual report.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report, there was or is, any permitted
indemnity provision being in force for the benefit of any of the Directors and Supervisors (whether made by the
Company or other parties) or any of those of an associated company (if made by the Company).

The Company took out directors’ liability insurance for Directors and Supervisors during the year. The relevant
insurance covers the liability of Directors and Supervisors and the related costs incurred by the Directors and
Supervisors in respect of potential legal proceedings against them arising out of corporate activities.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION FOR H SHAREHOLDERS
The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of
the Company’s securities.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The Group does not have any material subsequent events after 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this annual
report, which would materially affect the Group’s operating and financial performance.

AUDITOR
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 were audited by

SHINEWING Certified Public Accountants LLP (“Shinewing”). A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting to reappoint Shinewing as the auditors of the Group.

The Group has not changed its external auditor in any of the preceding 3 years.
OUTLOOK

The Company will continue to develop and grow while aiming to improve its financial position, business operation
and industry reputation in order to create long-term value for shareholders.

On behalf of the Board

Xiao Bing
Chairman

Xi'an, the PRC
28 March 2025
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EXRBMLITHESFT | Jestmi A X s 1L K8 | BAIE : +86(010)6554 2288

Q [
{—‘E‘ mﬁa ALK T APEOE telephone: +86(010)6554 2288

8 w 9th Floor, Block A, Fu Hua Mansion
2 2 3 3 No.8, Chao Yang Men Bei Da Jie,
h‘ne ‘ngf Shlnerng Dong Cheng District, fEH +86(010)6554 7190
certified public accountants | Beijing, 100027, P.R.China facsimile: +86(010)6554 7190

To all shareholders of Xi‘an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd.,

l. AUDIT OPINION
We have audited the attached financial statements of Xi‘an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd. (hereinafter
referred to as Haitian Antenna), including Consolidated and Parent Company’s Balance Sheets on 31 December
2024, Consolidated and Parent Company’s Income Statements, Consolidated and Parent Company’s Cash Flow
Statements, Consolidated and Parent Company’s Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity, and related
Notes to Financial Statements for 2024.

In our opinion, the attached financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and
parent company’s financial positions of Haitian Antenna as at 31 December 2024, and its consolidated and
parent company's financial performance and cash flows for 2024 in accordance with the Accounting Standards
for Business Enterprises.

1. BASIS TO FORM AUDIT OPINION
We have conducted our audit in accordance with the Auditing Standards for Certified Public Accountants
of China. The section in the auditor’s report titled “CPAs’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements” further describes our responsibilities under these standards. We conduct our audit independent of
Haitian Antenna in accordance with the China Code of Ethics for Certified Public Accountants and fulfil other
responsibilities in ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate,
which has provided a basis for expressing our audit opinion.

1l. MATERIAL UNCERTAINTIES RELATED TO GOING CONCERN

We remind users of the financial statements to note that as stated in the Note “I.2 Going Concern” to the
financial statements, net profit for 2024 is RMB-15,760,875.92, and it continues to suffer losses; at of the end
of 2024, the net assets was RMB-46,759,183.15; for 2024, the operating income was RMB21,960,142.24 and
the net operating cash flow was RMB-2,064,152.68; at the end of the year, the current liabilities were higher
than the total current assets by RMB59,406,846.97. Haitian Antenna disclosed the proposed improvement
measures in the notes to the financial statements, but there are still major uncertainties in matters or
conditions that may cause major doubts about the ability to operate on an on-going basis. It may not be able
to obtain sufficient funds in normal operations to meet the Company’s working capital needs. This matter does
not affect the issued audit opinion.

V. KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are the most important matters for the audit of the current financial statements according
to our professional judgment. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit for the entire financial
statements and the formation of our opinions thereon. We do not declare a separate opinion on these matters.
In addition to the matters described in the section headed “Material Uncertainties Related to Going Concern”,
we have determined that the following matters are key audit matters that need to be communicated in the
audit report.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Key audit matters

Countermeasures in the audit

1. Matter on advanced payments for
purchase of land and real estate

As stated in Note V.12 and Note XVI.1 of the
financial statements, the book balance of
Haitian Antenna’s other non-current assets was
RMB18,546,000.00 at the end of December 2024,
and impairment provisions of RMB15,299,797.77
have been made.

In 2016, Haitian Antenna paid advanced payments
of RMB18,546,000.00 to Xi‘an Xiangyu Aviation
Technology Co., Ltd. (hereinafter referred to as
Xiangyu Aviation) for the land and aboveground
buildings located at the east of Shuoshi Road (F&+
2% L5 ) and the west of Chuangye Avenue (Bl 2 K
78 LI7E), National Hi-tech Industrial Development
Zone, Xi'an, Shaanxi Province, the PRC. As of 31
December 2024, Haitian Antenna had not paid the
remaining purchase price of RMB21,454,000.00,
and the aforesaid land and aboveground building
property rights have not been transferred to Haitian
Antenna. Based on the implementation status of
other legal matters of Xiangyu Aviation, Haitian
Antenna’s management engaged a lawyer to give
professional advice on the litigation between
Haitian Antenna and Xiangyu Aviation and perform
impairment calculation on the above-mentioned
advanced payments.

As the advanced payments for the purchase of
land and above-ground buildings with signs of
impairment were tested for impairment in which
the judgments and estimates of the management
and lawyer were involved, and errors or potential
management biases may exist, we therefore
identified the impairment of the advanced
payments for purchase of land and above-ground
buildings as a key audit matter.

Xi'an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd.

We design the following audit procedures:

(1)

Reviewing the legal advice of lawyer engaged
by Haitian Antenna on the purchase of land
and above-ground buildings to understand
the relevant legal relationship and legal
consequences.

Discussing with management the possible
impairment indicators for advanced payments
and reviewing management’s assessment of the
possible impairment indicators.

Evaluating the impairment calculations
conducted by the management, reviewing
and evaluating the judgments, estimates,
and selected valuation methods adopted
by the management, and analysing their
reasonableness.

Reviewing the adequacy and completeness of
relevant disclosures in the notes to the financial
statements.



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Key audit matters

Audit Report

Countermeasures in the audit

2 Matter on impairment of intangible
assets

As mentioned in Note V.10 of the financial
statements, as of 31 December 2024, the
original book value of the patented technology
of Suzhou Haitian New Antenna Technologies
Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of Haitian Antenna, was
RMB63,600,000.00, and the book value was
RMB16,430,000.00, which was an important part
of the assets of Haitian Antenna. Judgments and
impairment tests on the indication of impairment
of relevant patented technology are material
to the financial statements of Haitian Antenna.
The management of Haitian Antenna exercises
judgments on the impairment of the patented
technology at the end of each year, and introduces
external experts to perform impairment tests on the
patented technology.

Since the impairment test of patent with indication
of impairment involves significant judgments and
estimates made by the management, and there may
exist errors or potential management biases, hence,
we identify the impairment of intangible assets as a
key audit matter.

OTHER INFORMATION

We design the following audit procedures:

(1

Discussing possible signs of impairment with
the management and evaluating the impairment
tests conducted by the management and
appraisers.

Reviewing the evaluation report prepared by the
independent evaluation agency on 31 December
2024, and evaluating the competence,
experience and objectivity of external experts;
examine the parameters and method selected
by the evaluation agency in the impairment test
and judged its reasonableness.

Reviewing the expected future annual sales
revenue or operating performance of the
patent.

Reviewing the adequacy and completeness of
relevant disclosures in the notes to the financial
statements.

Haitian Antenna’s management (hereinafter referred to as the management) is responsible for other
information. Other information includes the information covered in 2024 annual report of Haitian Antenna,
but excludes the financial statements and our audit report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not include other information, and we neither express any form
of authentication opinion for other information.

Based on our audit of financial statements, we bear the responsibility of reading other information and
considering whether there is any significant inconsistence or seemingly material misstatement between other

information and the financial statements or situations obtained by us in the audit process.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement in such other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises, and for design, implementation and
maintenance of internal control that is deemed necessary to enable that the financial statements are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparation of the financial statement, the management is responsible for assessing Haitian Antenna’s
going-concern ability, disclosing the going-concern related items (if applicable) and applying going-concern
assumptions, unless otherwise the management plans to liquidate Haitian Antenna, stop operation or it has no
other practical choice.

The governing level is responsible for supervising the financial reporting process of Haitian Antenna.

CPAS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AUDIT

Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with the Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatement can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users would take on the basis of these
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. At the same time, we also:

) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraudulent practices is higher than that resulting from mistakes,
as fraudulent practices may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

(2) Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of its internal control.

(3) Assess the appropriateness of adopted accounting policies and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and disclosures made by the management.

(4) Conclude the appropriateness of the going-concern assumption made by the management. Meanwhile,
based on the audit evidence obtained, the conclusion is drawn on whether there is significant
uncertainty in the matters or any circumstances that may lead to major doubts about Haitian Antenna’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements; if such
disclosures are inadequate, we shall give our unqualified opinion. Our conclusions are based on audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, the matter or situation in the future
may cause Haitian Antenna to cease to continue as a going concern.
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Audit Report

VIl. CPAS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AUDIT (Continued)
(5) Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

(6) Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within Haitian Antenna to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit on the Group, and we remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and related safeguards (if applicable).

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless the laws or regulations preclude public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter shall not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so will reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

ShineWing Certified Public Accountants Certified Public Accountant of China:
(special general partnership) (Project partner)

Certified Public Accountant of China:

Beijing, China 28 March 2025
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

31 December 2024

Prepared by: Xi‘an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd.

31 December

Unit: RMB

31 December

Item Note 2024 2023

Current assets:
Cash at bank and on hand Vi 3,134,837.66 1,991,322.95
Financial assets held for trading o o
Notes receivable V.2 . 97,000.00
Accounts receivable V.3 12,389,106.14 7,794,907.92
Receivables financing o o
Advanced payments V4 90,920.75 289,172.02
Other receivables V.5 1,111,606.65 1,390,127.45

Of which: Interest receivable
Dividends receivable
Inventories V.6
Contractual assets
Held-for-sale assets
Non-current assets due within one year
Other current assets /4

(]
(]
10,081,518.11
(]
(]

10,034.08

°
°
11,730,210.34
°
°

240,720.96

Total current assets

26,818,023.39

23,533,461.64

Non-current assets:
Creditor’s right investment
Other creditor’s right investment
Long-term receivables
Long-term equity investments
Other equity instrument investments
Other non-current financial assets
Investment properties
Fixed assets V.8
Projects under construction
Bearer biological assets
Oil and gas assets

Right-of-use assets V.9
Intangible assets V.10
Development expenditure

Goodwill

Long-term deferred expenses

Deferred income tax assets VirT
Other non-current assets V12

3,075,813.05

()

()

()

413,708.89
16,431,586.22

()

()

()

13,857.18
3,246,202.23

4,783,795.07

929,754.20
24,792,598.93

4,525,224.00

Total non-current assets

23,181,167.57

35,031,372.20

Total assets

49,999,190.96

58,564,833.84
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
31 December 2024

Prepared by: Xi‘an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd. Unit: RMB

31 December 31 December
Item Note 2024 2023

Current liabilities:

Other non-current liabilities

Short-term borrowings V.14 3,506,533.33 4,771,159.67
Financial liabilities held for trading o o
Notes payable o o
Accounts payable V.15 11,407,942.25 6,983,288.79
Advanced receipts Vie o 142,680.00
Contractual liabilities V17 102,191.16 61,327.43
Payroll payable V18 12,199,365.47 12,587,886.15
Taxes payable V.19 2,836,115.29 2,255,441.45
Other payables V.20 55,922,400.65 51,838,968.21
Of which: Interest payable o o
Dividends payable o o

Fees and commissions payable o o
Reinsurance amounts payable o N
Held-for-sale liabilities o o
Non-current liabilities due within one year V21 237,037.37 451,080.35
Other current liabilities V22 13,284.84 107,972.57
Total current liabilities 86,224,870.36 79,199,804.62

Non-current liabilities:

Insurance contract reserves o .
Long-term borrowings o o
Bonds payable o o
Of which: Preferred shares o o
Perpetual bonds o o

Lease liabilities V.23 145,408.26 370,161.43
Long-term payables V.24 10,377,094.15 9,986,815.75
Long-term payroll payable o o
Estimated liabilities . .
Deferred incomes o o
Deferred income tax liabilities Vit 11,001.34 6,359.27

Total non-current liabilities

10,533,503.75

10,363,336.45

Total liabilities

96,758,374.11

89,563,141.07
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
31 December 2024

Prepared by: Xi‘an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd.

Item

Note

31 December
2024

Unit: RMB

31 December
2023

Shareholders’ equity:
Share capital
Other equity instruments
Of which: Preferred shares

Perpetual bonds

Capital reserves
Less: Treasury shares
Other comprehensive income
Special reserves
Surplus reserves
General risk reserves
Undistributed profits

V25

V.26

V27

V28

189,762,900.00

(]
(]
(]
202,569,046.27
(]
(]
(]

16,435,819.34

-458,090,029.50

189,762,900.00

°
°
°
202,569,046.27
°
°
°

16,435,819.34

-442,207,777.30

Total shareholders’ equity attributable to
the parent company

-49,322,263.89

-33,440,011.69

Minority shareholders’ equity

2,563,080.74

2,441,704.46

Total shareholders’ equity

-46,759,183.15

-30,998,307.23

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

49,999,190.96

58,564,833.84
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Prepared by: Xi‘an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd.

31 December

Balance Sheet of Parent Company

31 December 2024

Unit: RMB

31 December

Item Note 2024 2023

Current assets:
Cash at bank and on hand 723,175.72 281,565.48
Financial assets held for trading o o
Notes receivable o 97,000.00
Accounts receivable XVII. 1 9,452,771.01 5,038,163.93
Receivables financing o o
Advanced payments 29,218.87 21,460.00
Other receivables XVIl.2 47,973,772.22 45,283,649.93

Of which: Interest receivable
Dividends receivable

Inventories

Contractual assets

Held-for-sale assets

Non-current assets due within one year

Other current assets

[ ]
[ ]
5,499,406.06
[ ]
[ ]
[ ]

L[]
L[]
4,474,652.36
L[]
L[]
L[]

Total current assets

63,678,343.88

55,196,491.70

Non-current assets:
Creditor’s right investment
Other creditor’s right investment
Long-term receivables
Long-term equity investments

Other equity instrument investments

Other non-current financial assets
Investment properties

Fixed assets

Projects under construction
Bearer biological assets

Oil and gas assets
Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets
Development expenditure
Goodwill

Long-term deferred expenses
Deferred income tax assets
Other non-current assets

L]

L]

L]

XVII.3 42,658,068.73
L]

L]

L]
848,559.11
L]

L]

L]

L]

3,705.30

L]

L]

L]

3,246,202.23

L]

L]

L]
53,658,068.73

L[]

L[]

L]
1,070,566.04

L]

L]

L[]

L]
18,525.30

L]

L]

L]

4,525,224.00

Total non-current assets

46,756,535.37

59,272,384.07

Total assets

110,434,879.25

114,468,875.77
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Balance Sheet of Parent Company
31 December 2024

Prepared by: Xi‘an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd.

31 December

Unit: RMB

31 December

Item Note 2024 2023

Current liabilities:
Short-term borrowings 3,506,533.33 3,504,491.67
Financial liabilities held for trading o o
Notes payable o o
Accounts payable 14,871,459.63 8,261,943.91
Advanced receipts o °
Contractual liabilities 102,191.16 61,327.43
Payroll payable 8,806,693.45 8,909,508.43
Taxes payable 2,560,806.53 2,008,445.71

Other payables
Of which: Interest payable
Dividends payable
Held-for-sale liabilities
Non-current liabilities due within one year
Other current liabilities

47,180,519.80

13,284.84

55,123,225.09

107,972.57

Total current liabilities

77,041,488.74

77,976,914.81

Non-current liabilities:
Long-term borrowings
Bonds payable
Of which: Preferred shares

Perpetual bonds
Lease liabilities
Long-term payables
Long-term payroll payable
Estimated liabilities
Deferred incomes
Deferred income tax liabilities
Other non-current liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

10,377,094.15

9,986,815.75

Total liabilities

87,418,582.89

87,963,730.56
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Balance Sheet of Parent Company
31 December 2024

Prepared by: Xi‘an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd. Unit: RMB
31 December 31 December
Item Note 2024 2023

Shareholders’ equity:

Share capital 189,762,900.00 189,762,900.00
Other equity instruments o .
Of which: Preferred shares o o
Perpetual bonds o o

Capital reserves 200,460,762.84 200,460,762.84
Less: Treasury shares ° °
Other comprehensive income o o
Special reserves . .
Surplus reserves 16,435,819.34 16,435,819.34
Undistributed profits -383,643,185.82  -380,154,336.97
Total shareholders’ equity 23,016,296.36 26,505,145.21
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 110,434,879.25 114,468,875.77
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Consolidated Income Statement

2024

Prepared by: Xi‘an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd. Unit: RMB
Item Note 2024 2023
I. Total operating income 21,960,142.24 13,091,468.20
Of which: Operating income V.29 21,960,142.24 13,091,468.20
Interest income o °
Il. Total operating costs 32,593,905.84 41,019,887.74
Of which: Operating costs V.29 14,531,699.55 11,034,415.18
Interest expenses o o
Handling fee and commission expenses J N
Taxes and surcharges V.30 34,793.54 22,198.02
Selling expenses V.31 3,264,809.14 4,258,537.57
Administrative expenses V.32 12,158,238.10 19,207,691.77
R&D expenses V.33 1,969,895.65 5,657,550.50
Financial expenses V.34 634,469.86 839,494.70
Of which: Interest expenses 611,872.83 789,815.33
Interest income 2,988.08 3,260.96
Add: Other gain V.35 18,604.37 107,921.67
Investment gain (“-" for loss) V.36 o 1,124.00

Of which: Gain from investment in associates
and joint ventures o °

Derecognition gain of financial assets

measured at the amortised cost o o
Exchange gain (“-" for loss) o U
Net exposure hedging income (“-" for loss) o o
Gain from changes in fair value (“-" for loss) o .
Credit impairment loss (“-" for loss) V.37 -1,775,078.90 -4,814,347.45
Assets impairment loss (“-" for loss) V.38 -3,668,538.73 -10,595,654.99
Gain from assets disposal (“-" for loss) V.39 330,814.24 496,279.19
Ill. Operating profit (“-” for loss) -15,727,962.62 -42,733,097.12
Add: Non-operating income V.40 7,257.14 o
Less: Non-operating expenditure V41 26,934.82 253,863.87
IV. Total profit (“-" for total loss) -15,747,640.30 -42,986,960.99
Less: Income tax expenses Vi42 13,235.62 6,637.61

80 Xi'an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd.



Prepared by: Xi‘an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd.

Item Note

Consolidated Income Statement

2024

Unit: RMB

2024 2023

V. Net profit (“-” for net loss)
(I) By business continuity
1. Net profit from continuing operations
("-" for net loss)
2. Net profit from discontinued operations
("-" for net loss)
(Il) By ownership
1. Net profit attributable to owners of
the parent company (“-” for net loss)
2. Minority shareholders’ profit and loss (“-" for net loss)
VI. Net of tax of other comprehensive income
Net of tax of other comprehensive income
attributable to owners of the parent company
(I) Other comprehensive income that cannot
be reclassified to profit or loss
1. Changes arising from re-measurement of
the defined benefit plans
2. Other comprehensive income that cannot
be reclassified to profit or loss under the
equity method
3. Changes in fair value of other equity
instrument investments
4. Changes in fair value of the enterprise’s credit risk
5. Others
(Il) Other comprehensive income that will
be reclassified to profit or loss
1. Other comprehensive income that can
be reclassified to profit or loss
under the equity method
2. Changes in fair value of
other creditor’s right investments
3. Amount of financial assets reclassified
to other comprehensive income
4. Provision for credit impairment of
other creditor’s right investments
5. Reserves for cash flow hedge (effective portion of
cash flow hedging gain or loss)
6. Translation difference of foreign
currency financial statements
7. Others
Net of tax of other comprehensive income attributable to
minority shareholders
VIl. Total comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income attributable to shareholders of
the parent company
Total comprehensive income attributable to minority
shareholders
Vill.LEarnings per share:
() Basic earnings per share (Yuan/share)
(Il) Diluted earnings per share (Yuan/share)

-15,760,875.92 -42,993,598.60
-15,760,875.92 -42,993,598.60

-15,760,875.92 -42,993,598.60

-15,760,875.92 -42,993,598.60

-15,882,252.20 -42,980,083.20
121,376.28 -13,515.40

-15,760,875.92 -42,993,598.60

-15,882,252.20 -42,980,083.20

121,376.28 -13,515.40
L] o

-0.0084 -0.0226
-0.0084 -0.0226
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Income Statement of Parent Company

2024

Prepared by: Xi'an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd. Unit: RMB
Item Note 2024 2023
I. Operating income XVil.4 14,072,936.58 7,266,281.94
Less: Operating costs XVIl.4 8,446,950.28 5,348,300.19
Taxes and surcharges 13,934.12 16,841.91
Selling expenses 2,821,110.37 3,149,920.44
Administrative expenses 4,708,621.31 8,807,130.17
R&D expenses 1,220,468.35 5,055,219.90
Financial expenses 563,630.67 407,057.86
Of which: Interest expenses 541,744.26 382,569.62
Interest income 359.26 577.74
Add: Other gain 6,965.71 107,481.46
Investment gain (“-" for loss) XVIl.5 -539,207.41 994,094.18
Of which: Gain from investment in associates and
joint ventures o o
Derecognition gain of financial assets
measured at amortised cost o o
Net exposure hedging income (“-" for loss) o o
Gain from changes in fair value (“-" for loss) . °
Credit impairment loss (“-" for loss) 796,525.50 -11,485,560.53
Assets impairment loss (“-" for loss) -50,998.13 .
Gain from assets disposal (“-" for loss) . .
Il. Operating profit (“-” for loss) -3,488,492.85 -25,902,173.42
Add: Non-operating income 4.00 o
Less: Non-operating expenditure 360.00 201,395.98
lll. Total profit (“-” for total loss) -3,488,848.85 -26,103,569.40
Less: Income tax expenses o °
IV. Net profit (“-" for net loss) -3,488,848.85 -26,103,569.40
(I) Net profit from continuing operations (“-" for net loss) -3,488,848.85 -26,103,569.40
(Il) Net profit from discontinued operations (“-" for net loss) ° °
V. Net of tax of other comprehensive income o o
(I) Other comprehensive income that cannot be reclassified to
profit or loss o o
1. Changes arising from re-measurement of the defined
benefit plans o o
2. Other comprehensive income that cannot be
reclassified to profit or loss under the
equity method o o
3. Changes in fair value of other equity instrument
investments ° °
4. Changes in fair value of the enterprise’s credit risk o o
5. Others o o
(Il) Other comprehensive income that will be reclassified to
the profit or loss o o
1. Other comprehensive income that can be reclassified to
profit or loss under the equity method o o
2. Changes in fair value of other creditor’s right
investments o o
3. Amount of financial assets reclassified to other
comprehensive income o o
4. Provision for credit impairment of
other creditor’s right investments o o
5. Reserves for cash flow hedge (effective portion of
cash flow hedging gain or loss) o o
6. Translation difference of foreign currency
financial statements o o
7. Others o o
VI. Total comprehensive income -3,488,848.85 -26,103,569.40
VIl. Earnings per share J o
() Basic earnings per share (Yuan/share) . .
(Il) Diluted earnings per share (Yuan/share) o °
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

2024
Prepared by: Xi‘an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd. Unit: RMB
Item Note 2024 2023
I. Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash received from sales of goods or rendering of services 19,174,000.35 17,025,406.30
Refund of taxes and fee J U
Other cash received relating to operating activities V43 473,977.03 1,288,572.08
Subtotal of cash inflows from operating activities 19,647,977.38 18,313,978.38
Cash paid for purchase of goods and receipt of services 8,837,443.10 9,426,859.76
Cash paid to and for employees 4,979,842.91 7,795,474.84
Taxes and fee paid 451,372.87 508,819.37
Other cash paid relating to operating activities V43 7,443,471.18 7,265,905.59
Subtotal of cash outflows for operating activities 21,712,130.06 24,997,059.56
Net cash flows from operating activities V.44 -2,064,152.68 -6,683,081.18
Il. Cash flows from investing activities:
Cash received from recouping investment o °
Cash received from investment income o °
Net cash received from disposal of fixed assets,
intangible assets and other long-term assets 642,150.00 46,000.00
Net cash received from disposal of subsidiaries and
other business entities o °
Other cash received relating to investing activities o °
Subtotal of cash inflows from investing activities 642,150.00 46,000.00
Cash paid for the purchase and construction of fixed assets,
intangible assets and other long-term assets 128,699.00 484,601.21
Cash paid to acquire investments o o
Net cash paid for acquisition of subsidiaries and
other business entities o °
Other cash paid relating to investing activities o o
Subtotal of cash outflows for investing activities 128,699.00 484,601.21
Net cash flows from investing activities 513,451.00 -438,601.21
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
2024

Prepared by: Xi‘an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd. Unit: RMB
Item Note 2024 2023
Ill. Cash flows from financing activities:
Cash received from absorbing investment o o
Of which: cash received from minority shareholders’
investment in subsidiaries L .
Cash received from borrowings 3,500,000.00 3,500,000.00
Other cash received relating to financing activities V43 5,536,000.00 19,970,355.10
Subtotal of cash inflows from financing activities 9,036,000.00 23,470,355.10
Cash paid for repayment of debts 4,794,802.87 5,333,332.00
Cash paid for distribution of dividends, profits or repayment
of interests 149,449.98 333,363.12
Of which: dividends and profits paid to minority
shareholders by subsidiaries o o
Other cash paid relating to financing activities V43 1,429,740.98 10,814,380.03
Subtotal of cash outflows for financing activities 6,373,993.83 16,481,075.15
Net cash flows from financing activities 2,662,006.17 6,989,279.95
IV. Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and
cash equivalents 1,065.43 -69,524.36
V. Net increase in cash and cash equivalents V.44 1,112,369.92 -201,926.80
Add: opening balance of cash and cash equivalents V.44 1,748,760.63 1,950,687.43
VI. Closing balance of cash and cash equivalents V.44 2,861,130.55 1,748,760.63
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Cash Flow Statement of Parent Company

Prepared by: Xi‘an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd.

Item

Note

2024

2024

Unit: RMB

2023

I. Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash received from sales of goods or rendering of services

Taxes and fees refunded

Other cash received relating to operating activities

11,277,244.35

453,112.37

10,780,328.09

265,459.20

Subtotal of cash inflows from operating activities

11,730,356.72

11,045,787.29

Cash paid for purchase of goods and receipt of services
Cash paid to and for employees

Taxes and fees paid
Other cash paid relating to operating activities

1,457,032.66
3,161,650.26

111,482.39
6,751,599.52

850,410.34
4,499,153.45
320,518.20
6,733,253.69

Subtotal of cash outflows for operating activities

11,481,764.83

12,403,335.68

Net cash flows from operating activities

248,591.89

-1,357,548.39

Il. Cash flows from investing activities:

Cash received from disposal of investment

Cash received from investment gain

Net cash received from disposal of fixed assets,
intangible assets and other long-term assets
Net cash received from disposal of subsidiaries and

other business entities

Other cash received relating to investing activities

Subtotal of cash inflows from investing activities

Cash paid for purchase and construction of fixed assets,
intangible assets and other long-term assets

Cash paid for acquisition of investments

Net cash paid for acquisition of subsidiaries and other

business entities

Other cash paid relating to investing activities

118,699.00

101,161.21

Subtotal of cash outflows for investing activities

118,699.00

101,161.21

Net cash flows from investing activities

-118,699.00

-101,161.21

lll. Cash flows from financing activities:
Cash received from absorbing investment
Cash received from borrowings
Other cash received relating to financing activities

3,500,000.00
12,193,630.17

3,500,000.00
32,228,201 558

Subtotal of cash inflows from financing activities

15,693,630.17

36,499,201.83
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Cash Flow Statement of Parent Company
2024

Prepared by: Xi‘an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd. Unit: RMB
Item Note 2024 2023
Cash paid for repayment of debts 3,500,000.00 3,500,000.00
Cash paid for distribution of dividends,
profits or repayment of interests 149,449.98 145,522.20

Other cash paid relating to financing activities

11,736,437.05

31,431,147.30

Subtotal of cash outflows for financing activities

15,385,887.03

35,076,669.50

Net cash flows from financing activities 307,743.14 1,422,532.33
IV. Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and

cash equivalents 411.93 -9,546.11

V. Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 438,047.96 -45,723.38

Add: opening balance of cash and cash equivalents 40,611.06 86,334.44

VI. Closing balance of cash and cash equivalents 478,659.02 40,611.06
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

Prepared by: Xi‘an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd.

04

2024

Unit: RMB

Shareholders' equity attributable to the parent company

Other equity instruments Less: Other Minority Total
Share Preferred Perpetual Capital Treasury comprehensive Special Surplus General Undistributed shareholders shareholders
Item Capital shares. bonds Others reserves shares income Teserves feserves Tisk reserves profits Others Subtotal " equity " equity
. Closing balance of last year 189,762,900.00 - - - 202,569,046.27 - - - 16,435,819.34 - T30 = 3344001169 244170446 -30,998,307.23
Add: Changes i accounting policies . . . . . . . . . . . . . . -
Cortections of pror perod erors . . . . . . . . . . . . . . -
Merger of businesses under
same control . . . . . . . . . . . . . . -
Others . . . . . . . . . . . . . . -
Il Opening balance of the year 189,762,900.00 - - - 202,569,046.27 - - - 16,435,819.34 - 1m0 = -33,440011.69 244170446 -30,998,307.23
M1l Changes for the year (*" for decrease) - - - - - - - - - - 15,882,250 - 15,882,250 121,376.28 -15,760,875.92
() Total comprehensive income: . . . . . . . . . . -15,882.252.20 - 15,882,250 121,376.28 -15,760,875.92
(1) Capitlivested and reduction by
hareholders - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
1. Common shares invested by
shareholders . . . . . . . . . . . . - . -
2. Capitel invested by other
equity nstrument holders . . . . . . . . . . . . - . -
3. Amount of share-based
payment recognised as
shareholders” equity . . . . . . . . . . . . - . -
4 Others . . . . . . . . . . . . - . -
(1) Proftdistibution - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
1. Appropriation of surplus
resenes . . . . . . . . . . . . - . -
2. Appropriaton of general risk
TESENES . . . . . . . . . . . . - . -
3. Distrbution to sareholders . . . . . . . . . . . . - . -
4 Others . . . . . . . . . . . . - . -
() Intermal stucture of shareholders
equity - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
1. Transferfrom caital reserves
o share capitel . . . . . . . . . . . . - . -
2. Transfer from surplus resenves
o share capitel . . . . . . . . . . . . - . -
3. Elmination of losses by
Surpls rsenies . . . . . . . . . . . . - . -
4. Retained earnings carred
over fiom changes n
defined benefit plans . . . . . . . . . . . . - . -
. Retained eamings carred
over from ther
comprehiensie ncame . . . . . . . . . . . . - . -
6. Others . . . . . . . . . . . . - . -
V] Special rsenves - - - - - - - - - - . . - - -
1. Appropriaton during the year . . . . . . . . . . . . - . -
2. Utlisation during the year . . . . . . . . . . . . - . -
(V) Others . . . . . . . . . . . . - . -
IV, Closing balance of the year 189,762,900.00 - - 202,569,046.27 - - - 16,435,819.34 - -458,090,09.50 49300,26389 2,563,08074 -46,759,183.15
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

2024

Prepared by: Xi‘an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd.

03

Unit:

RMB

Shareholders"equiy atributable to the parent company

Other equity instruments Less Other Minority Total
Share Freferred Perpetual Cpital Treasury comprehensive Special Surlus General Undistrbuted shareholders shareholders'
Item Capitel shares bonds Others NS shares income esenves esenves 1k reserves profts Others Subtotal equity equity
I Closing balance of last year 189,762,900.00 . . . 202,569,046.7 . ' . 1643581934 . -399,27,694.10 . 954007151 24551986 119929137
Add: Changes in accounting polices - . - 0 . . ' . . . . . . f .
Conctions of pror erod erors - . - ' ' ' . ' ' . . ' ' . '
Merger of businesses under
the same contrl - . - . . ' ' . ' . . ' . . .
QOthers - 0 = 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 . 0
Il Opening balance of the year 189,762,900.00 = = = 202,569,046.7 o = = 1643581934 - 3788410 o 954007151 24551986 119929137
Il Changes for the year ("" for decrease) - - - - - - - - - - -42,980,083.20 - -4,080,083.20 -1351540 -42,993,598.60
(I} Total comprehensive income - - - - - . ' 0 . . -42,980,083.20 . -42,980,083.20 -1351540 -42,993,598.60
(1) Capitalinvested and reduction
by shareholders - - - s o = 5 o S - - - - -
1. Common shares invested by
shareholders 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 - . -
2. Capitel invested by other
equity instrument holders . . . 0 . . ' . . . . . - g -
3. Amount of share-based
payment recognised as
shareholders” equity . . 0 0 . . ' . . . . . - g -
4 Orhers 0 . . . . ' ' ' ' ' . . S . =
() Proft distibuton - - - - - - S S = = = - - - -
1. Appropriation of surplus
Tesenves ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' g . =
2. Appropriation of generel
Tigk reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 - . -
3. Distibution to shareholders . . . . ' 0 ' ' . . ' . S . -
4 Ohers 0 . . . . ' ' ' ' ' . . S . =
V) nternlstuctue of shereholders”
equity S S o S B o o o o S S o S B o
1. Transferfrom captl reserve
oshare cpil f f f f f f ' f f f f f R 5 R
2. Transfer from surplus resenves
oshare Gpil f f f f f f ' f f f f f R 5 R
3. Himination of losses by
Surpls resenes ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' g . =
4. Retained earnings carried
over from changes in
defined benefit plans . . . . . . ' . . . . . S . 5
5. Retained eamings carred
over fiom other
comprefiensie ncome . . . ' ' ' ' . ' ' ' . 5 . =
6. Others . . . . . ' ' ' ' ' . . S . =
(V) Special resenves - - - - - - - - - - S S 5 B -
1. Approprition during the year . . 0 . . . 0 . 0 0 . . - B -
2. Utiisation during the year . . 0 0 . . ' . . . . . - f -
V) Otters ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' g . =
IV, Closing balance of the year 189,762900.00 S o S 202,569,046.27 B e e 1643581934 - AN o 3344001163 244170446 -30,998,307.3
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Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity of the Parent Company

2024
Prepared by: Xi‘an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd. Unit: RMB
2024
Other equity instruments Less: Other Total
Preferred Perpetual Capital Treasury ~ comprehensive Special Surplus  Undistributed shareholders’
Item Share Capital shares bonds Others reserves shares income Teserves Teserves profits Others equity
. Closing balance of last year 189,762,900.00 = = - 200,460,762.84 = = - 1643581934 -380,154,336.97 - 265051451
Add: Changes in accounting policies . ' ' . . ' . . . ' ' o
Corrections of prior period errors 0 . . . . . ' ' ' ' . -
Others 0 0 0 . 0 0 0 0 0 . . o
II. Opening balance of the year 189,762,900.00 = = - 200,460,762.84 = = - 1643581934 -380,154,336.97 - 265051451
IIl. Changes for the year (*" for decrease) - - - - - - - - - -3,088,848.85 - -3,488,84885
() Total comprehensive income - - 0 0 0 0 0 o -3,488,8885 o 348884885
(I Capital invested and reduction by shareholders - - - - - = = = o -
1. Common shares invested by shareholders ' . . . 0 0 0 0 0 . . -
2. Capitalinvested by other equity instrument holders 0 . . . 0 0 0 0 0 . . -
3. Amount of share-based payment recognised
as sharefolders' equity . ' ' . . ' . . . ' ' o
4. Others . . . ' 0 0 . 0 0 ' . o
(I} Profit cistribution - - - - - = > = o - -
1. Appropriation of surplus reserves 0 ' . . . . . ' ' ' . -
2. Distribution to shareholder . ' . . . 0 . . 0 ' ' -
3. Others . . . ' 0 0 . 0 0 ' . o
(V) Internal structure of shareholders” equity - - - = = - > > = - - -
1. Transfer from capital reserves to share capital . . . . 0 0 0 0 0 . . -
2. Transfer from surplus reserves to share capital 0 . . . . 0 0 . 0 . . -
3. Elimination of losses by surplus reserves ' . . . 0 0 0 . . . . -
4. Retained earnings carried over from changes
in defined benefit plans ' . . . 0 0 0 . . . . -
5. Retained earnings carried over from
other comprehensive income ' . . . 0 0 0 . . . . -
6. Others 0 . 0 . . 0 . . . . . -
(V) Special reserves - - - o o = = - - - - -
1. Appropriation during the year . 0 . 0 . . . 0 0 0 . =
2. Utilisation during the year ' . . . 0 0 0 . . . . -
(V) Others 0 0 0 0 0 0 . . . . . -
IV, Closing balance of the year 189,762,900.00 = = 200,460,762.84 - - - 1643581934 -383,643,185.82 23,016,296.36
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Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity of the Parent Company

2024

Prepared by: Xi‘an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd. Unit: RMB
pLUE]
Other equity instruments Less: Other Total
Preferred Perpetual Capital Treasury  comprehensive Special Surplus ~ Undistributed shareholders'
Item Share Capital shares bonds Others TEServes shares income TEServes TESENVes profits Others equity
1. Closing balance oflast year 189,762,90000 = = - 20046076284 = = - 1643581930 35405076757 - 56087146
Add: Changes in accounting policies . . . . . . . ' ' ' f -
Corrections of prior period errors ' . . . 0 . 0 . . . . -
Others ' 0 . 0 . . . . . . . -
II. Opening balance of the year 189,762,900.00 = = - 200,460,762.84 = S - 1643581934 -354,050,767.57 - 52,608,714.61
IIl.- Changes for the year ("" for decrease) - - - - - 2 S S - -6,103,569.40 - 226,103569.40
() Total comprehensive income ' . . . 0 . . . o 2610356940 v -26,103569.40
() Capital invested and reduction by shareholders - o S o 5 5 - - - - - _
1. Common shares invested by shareholders ' . . . . . . . . . . -
2. Capital invested by other equity instrument holders . . . ' . . . ' ' ' ' -
3. Amount of share-based payment recognised
as shareholders' equity . . . . . ' ' ' ' f f -
4. Others ' ' . . . ' . ' . . . -
(I} Profit cistribution - - S S 8 5 S - - - - _
1. Appropriation of surplus reserves ' . 0 . . . . . . . . -
2. Distribution to shareholder ' . . ' . ' . ' . . ' -
3. Others ' ' . . . ' . ' . . . -
(V) Internal structure of shareholders" equity - - S S S 5 5 - - - - _
1. Transfer from capital reseves to share capital ' ' ' . ' . . . ' ' ' -
2. Transfer from surplus reserves to share capital ' . . . . . . . . . . -
3. Elimination of losses by surplus reserves ' . 0 . . . . . . . . -
4. Retained earnings carried over from changes
in defined benefit plans ' . . . . . . . . . . -
5. Retained earnings carried over from
other comprehensive income ' . 0 . . . . . . . . -
6. Others ' . ' . . ' . ' . ' ' -
(V) Special reserves = = s s = - - - - - - -
1. Appropriation during the year ' . . . . . . . . . . -
2. Utilisation during the year ' . . . . . . . . . . -
(VI) Others ' 0 . 0 . . . . . . . -
IV, Closing balance of the year 189,762,900.00 S o - 200,460,762.84 S S - 1643581934 -380,154,336.97 - 2650514521
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BASIC INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY

Incorporated and established on 13 October 1999, Xi‘an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd. (hereinafter
referred to as the Company, Haitian Antenna and/or collectively referred to as the Group, if it includes any
subsidiary) is a joint stock limited company with limited liabilities (and a listed joint venture co-funded by
investors from both Taiwan, Hong Kong, Macao and Mainland China), holding a Business License for Legal
Person with a unified credit code numbered as 916101317101664434, issued by the Xi'an Administration for
Industry and Commerce; registered address: No. 25 Shuoshi Road, High-tech Industrial Development Zone,
Xi'an; office address is located at No. 25 Shuoshi Road, High-tech Industrial Development Zone, Xi‘an, legally
represented by Xiao Bing, with both registered capital and share capital of RMB189,762,900.

The H shares issued by the Company have been listed on GEM of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange from 5
November 2003.

The parent company of the Company is Xi‘an Tian An Corporate Management and Consulting Co., Ltd., with
Mr. Xiao Bing as the ultimate controlling party. Both are a company registered in China and a citizen of the
People’s Republic of China.

The Company belongs to the communication system equipment manufacturing industry and is mainly engaged
in the development, production and sales of communication antenna products. Its main products are mobile
base station lens antenna, Wi-Fi routers, Wi-Fi router lens antennas and agricultural and sideline products.

These financial statements were approved by the board of directors of the Company on 28 March 2025.

BASIS FOR PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Basis of preparation
The Group’s financial statements are prepared based on actual transactions and events in accordance
with the “Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises” and its application guidelines, interpretations
and other relevant regulations promulgated by the Ministry of Finance (hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “ASBE"), as well as the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and relevant disclosure
requirements under the GEM Listing Rules of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

2, Going concern

The Group's net profit for 2024 was RMB-15,760,875.92, and it continues to suffer losses; at
the end of 2024, the net assets were RMB-46,759,183.15; for 2024, the operating income was
RMB21,960,142.24 and the net operating cash flow was RMB-2,064,152.68; at the end of the year,
the current liabilities were higher than the total current assets by RMB59,406,846.97. These events all
indicate the existence of material uncertainties that may cast significant doubts on the Group’s ability
to operate on a going concern basis. In view of this, the management of the Company has carefully
considered the Group’s future liquidity, operating conditions and available financing sources to assess
whether the Group has sufficient working capital and financing sources to ensure that the Group
will operate for 12 months after 31 December 2024. The Group has also implemented a number of
measures to improve its financial conditions and reduce liquidity pressure, including:

(1) Expansion of product sales
1) In terms of communication base station antennas, in 2024, the Group proactively
promoted the completion of delivery for signed contracts and collection of payments;
paid attention to the bidding of various telecom operators. As of the approval date of this
financial statement, it has won the bids for the Heilongjiang Unicom lens antenna project.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)
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BASIS FOR PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Going concern (Continued)

2.

(1

(2)

(3)

Expansion of product sales (Continued)

2) Applications of lens technology in other fields. Combining existing antenna technology,
Wi-Fi lens antennas were successfully developed and used in various routers. Currently,
small batch sales have been achieved to router manufacturers and multiple rounds of
communication have been conducted with router customers. Mass production is planned
to be achieved in 2025. As of the date of approval of these financial statements, a
cooperation framework agreement has been entered into with £ £z S & a4M848 1
B BRA 7 for the proposed participation in its brand-authorized router project.

Make full use of existing resources and reduce costs and expenses

Strengthen expense control. In 2025, the Company will strengthen internal management,
optimize the allocation of human resources, enhance efficiency, dispose of idle assets to recover
funds, strengthen expense budgets, and reduce unreasonable or unnecessary expenses.

Financial support from major shareholders

As of the end of this year, Haitian Antenna had debts of RMB11,699,184.77 due to Xiao
Bing, a shareholder, RMB8,131,098.01 due to Chen Ji, a shareholder, and RMB9,655,000.00
due to Shanghai Gaoxiang Investment Management Co., Ltd., representing a total of
RMB29,485,282.78. The two shareholders have committed that, in the event of financial
difficulties for the Company, they will not demand repayment before 31 December 2025 and will
provide necessary financial support.

Based on the abovementioned measures, the management believes that the Company will be
able to obtain sufficient working capital to support the Company's operating needs for the
foreseeable next twelve months. Accordingly, management believes that the Company and the
Company's financial statements are properly prepared on a going concern basis.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The Group has adopted the accounting policies and accounting estimates specific to the characteristics of its
actual production and operation, including the business cycle, recognition and measurement of the bad debts
provision for receivables, measurement of inventory dispatched, classification and depreciation of fixed assets,
amortisation of intangible assets, recognition and measurement of revenue and others.

1. Statement of compliance with Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises (ASBE)
The financial statements conform to the requirements of the accounting standards for business
enterprises, and truly, accurately and completely reflect the Company’s and the Group’s financial
position as at 31 December 2024 and the operating results and cash flow for 2024, and other relevant
information.

2. Accounting period
An accounting period of the Group is from 1 January to 31 December of each calendar year.

3. Business cycle
The business cycle of the Group is 12 months.

4, Recording currency
RMB is the recording currency for the Group.

5. Materiality criteria determination method and selection basis
The Group prepares and discloses financial statements in compliance with the materiality principle. The
matters disclosed in the notes to the financial statements involve the judgment of materiality standards
and the determination methods and selection basis of the materiality standards are as follows:

Disclosures involving materiality Disclosure of the matters in Materiality criteria
criteria judgments the notes to these financial determination method
statements and selection basis

Accounts payable aged more than V. 15 The amount is greater
1 year than RMB500,000
Significant other payables aged V. 20 The amount is greater
more than 1 year or overdue than RMB500,000
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)
6. Accounting treatment for business combination under common control and not under common
control

(1

(2)

Business combinations involving enterprises under common control

A business combination involving enterprises under common control is a business combination in
which all of the combining enterprises are ultimately controlled by the same party or parties both
before and after the business combination, and that control is not transitory.

The assets and liabilities acquired by the Group, as the combination party, from business
combination under common control should be measured based on the book value in the
ultimate controlling party consolidated statements of the combined party on the combination
date. The balance between the book value of the net assets obtained and the book value of
the consolidated consideration paid (or the total par value of the shares issued) shall be used
to adjust the capital reserves; and where the capital reserves are not sufficient to be offset, the
retained earnings shall be adjusted.

Business combination involving entities not under common control
A business combination involving entities or businesses not under common control is a business
combination in which all of the combining entities or businesses are not ultimately controlled by
the same party or parties both before and after the business combination.

If the Group acts as the purchaser, the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
acquired by the acquiree in the business combination not under common control are measured
at fair value on the acquisition date. Positive balance between the combined cost and the fair
value of the identifiable net assets of the acquiree obtained during the combination shall be
recognised as goodwill; and if the combined cost is less than the fair value of the identifiable
net assets of the acquiree obtained, the fair value of various identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities obtained in combination and the consolidated costs shall be re-checked
first. If the combined cost is still less than the fair value of identifiable net assets of the acquiree
obtained, the balance shall be included in the current non-operating revenue.

Judgment criteria for control and preparation method of consolidated financial statements

The consolidation scope of the Group’s consolidated financial statements is determined on the basis of
control, including the Company and all subsidiaries controlled by the Company (including the divisible
parts of the enterprise and the investee, as well as the structured entities controlled by the enterprise,
etc.). The Group's criteria for determining control are that the Group has power over the investee,
enjoys variable returns by participating in the investee's relevant activities, and has the ability to use its
power over the investee to affect the amount of its returns.

When preparing consolidated financial statements, if the accounting policy or the accounting period
adopted is inconsistent between the subsidiaries and the Company, the financial statements of
subsidiaries shall be adjusted according to the accounting policy or the accounting period of the
Company.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)

7.

Judgment criteria for control and preparation method of consolidated financial statements
(Continued)

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses, and cash flows relating to transactions
between entities of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. Shares in owner's equity of
subsidiaries but not attributed to the parent company, net profit and loss for the current period, other
comprehensive income and shares attributed to minority interest in total comprehensive income shall
be presented in consolidated financial statements as “minority interest, non-controlling interests,
other comprehensive income attributable to minority shareholders and total comprehensive income
attributable to minority shareholders”.

Operating results and cash flow of subsidiaries which are acquired by business combination under
common control are included in the consolidated financial statements at the beginning of the current
period of the combination. Upon the preparation of comparative consolidated financial statements, any
adjustments to relevant items in financial statements of the last year are considered as the subject of
reports formed after combination as if it might have existed since the time when final controlling party
began to take control.

As for subsidiaries acquired by business combination not under common control, operating results and
cash flow shall be incorporated into consolidated financial statements from the date when the Group
takes the control. In preparing consolidated financial statements, adjustments to financial statements of
subsidiaries are based on the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities or contingent liabilities, which is
identified at the purchase date.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash shown in the cash flow statement of the Group refers to both cash on hand and the deposit held
in bank available for payment at any time. Cash equivalent in the cash flow statement refers to the
investment with a term not more than 3 months and high liquidity, easily converted to known amounts
of cash and having low value change risk.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)
9. Foreign currency business and translation of foreign currency financial statements

(1

(2)

Foreign currency transaction

When the Group’s foreign currency transactions are initially recognized, the foreign currency
amount is converted into the accounting functional currency amount using the spot exchange
rate on the date of the transaction. At the balance sheet date, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are translated into functional currency using the spot exchange rates on the
balance sheet date. The translation balance arising from which is directly included in the current
profits and losses, except for exchange balances resulting from specific borrowings in foreign
currency for purchasing and constructing or producing assets that conforms to capitalisation
conditions, and such exchange balances shall be treated as per the principles of capitalisation.
Foreign currency non-monetary items measured at historical cost continue to be measured at the
amount discounted at the spot exchange rate at the date of the transaction, without changing
the amount of its recorded local currency. Non-monetary items in foreign currencies measured
at fair value are translated using the spot exchange rate at the date the fair value is determined,
and the difference between the recorded local currency amount after translation and the original
recorded local currency amount is treated as a change in fair value (including exchange rate
changes) and recognised in the current profits and losses. Capital invested in foreign currencies
received from investors is converted using the spot exchange rate on the date of transaction.
There will be no foreign currency capital conversion difference between the capital invested in
foreign currencies and the recorded local currency amount of the corresponding monetary items.

Translation of foreign currency financial statements

The Group converts the financial statements of overseas operations into RMB when preparing
consolidated financial statements, among which: items in assets and liabilities of balance
sheet in foreign currency are translated at the spot rate of the balance sheet date; except
for “undistributed profits”, items in ownership interests are translated at the spot rate when
transactions occur; and income and expenses in income statements are translated at the spot
rate of the date when transactions occur. Translation balance in the foreign currency statements
arising from translations above shall be presented in items of other comprehensive income.
Foreign currency cash flow shall be translated at the spot rate on the date that cash flow occurs.
Amount affected by change in exchange rate on cash shall be listed in the cash flow statement
separately.

10. Financial instruments

(1

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
The Group will recognise a financial asset or financial liability at the time when it becomes one
party to the contract of the financial instruments.

If the following conditions are met, financial assets will be derecognised, that is, previously
recognized financial assets will be written off from balance sheets: 1) the right to receive cash
flows from financial assets expires; 2) the right to receive cash flows from financial assets is
transferred, or under the “pass-through agreement”, the Group assumes the obligation to pay
the collected cash flow in full to a third party in a timely manner, and transfers substantially all
risks and rewards of ownership of financial assets, or relinquishes control of a financial asset
although substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are neither
transferred nor retained.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

10.

(1

(2)

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities are derecognised if the obligation for the financial liability has been
performed, canceled or expired. If an existing financial liability is replaced by another financial
liability with substantially different terms from the same creditor, or substantially all of the terms
of the existing liability are materially modified, such replacement or modification will be treated
as derecognition of the original liability and recognition of a new liability, and the difference will
be included in the current profit and loss.

Buying and selling financial assets in a regular manner is recognized and derecognized based on
transaction date accounting.

Classification and measurement of financial assets

At the time of initial confirmation of the Group’s financial assets, according to the business
model of financial assets management and the contractual cash flow characteristics of financial
assets, the Group classifies financial assets into financial assets measured at amortised cost,
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, and financial assets at fair
value through current profits and losses. Only if the Group changes its business model for
managing financial assets, all affected financial assets can be reclassified.

When determining business model, the Group considers the way of enterprise performance
evaluation and financial asset achievement reporting to the key management, the risk affecting
financial asset performance and its management mode and the way of related business
management payment, etc. When evaluating whether to take the contract cash flow as the
target, the Group analyzes and determines the reason, time, frequency and value of the sale of
financial asset before the maturity date.

When judging the contractual cash flow characteristics, the Group determines whether the
contractual cash flow only for the principal and the payment of interest on the basis of
outstanding principal, including (when evaluating the correction of time value of money,
determine whether it has significant difference compared with the benchmark cash flow, and for
the financial assets including prepayment characteristics, determine whether the fair value of the
prepayment features is very small, and so on).

Financial assets are measured at fair value upon initial recognition. However, if accounts
receivable or notes receivable arising from the sale of goods or provision of services, etc. do not
contain a significant financing component or if the financing component that does not exceed
one year is not considered, they will be initially measured based on the transaction price.

For financial assets measured at fair value through current profit or loss, the relevant transaction

costs are directly included in the current profit and loss, and the relevant transaction costs of
other types of financial assets are included in their initial recognition amount.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Classification and measurement of financial assets (Continued)

The subsequent measurement of a financial asset depends on its classification:

10.

(2)

1)

2)

3)

4)

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group shall classify the financial assets that meet the following conditions
simultaneously into the financial assets measured at amortised cost: O the business
model of the financial assets management takes the collection of contractual cash flow
as the objective. @ The contract terms of the financial asset stipulate that, the cash flow
generated on a specific date is only the payment of the principal and the interest based
on the outstanding principal amount. The Group’s financial assets in this category mainly
include: monetary funds, accounts receivable, notes receivable, other receivables, etc.

Debt instrument investments measured at fair value and changes included in other
comprehensive income

If a financial asset meets the following conditions at the same time, it is classified as
a financial asset measured at fair value with changes included in other comprehensive
income: (M the business model for managing the financial assets is both to collect
contract cash flows and for the purpose of selling the financial asset. @ The contract
terms of financial assets stipulate that the cash flow generated on a specific date is only
the payment of principal and interest based on the outstanding principal amount. Interest
income on such financial assets is recognized using the effective interest rate method.
Except for interest income, impairment losses and exchange differences, which are
recognized as current profits and losses, other changes in fair value are included in other
comprehensive income. When the financial asset is derecognised, the accumulated gains
or losses previously recorded in other comprehensive income are transferred from other
comprehensive income to the current profits and losses. The Group’s financial assets in
this category mainly include: other debt investments and receivables financing.

Equity instrument investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income

The Group irrevocably chooses to designate certain non-trading equity instrument
investments as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income. Once
this designation is made, it cannot be revoked. The Group only includes relevant dividend
income (except dividend income that is clearly recovered as part of investment costs)
into the current profit and loss. Subsequent changes in fair value are included in other
comprehensive income, and no impairment provisions are required. When the financial
asset is derecognised, the accumulated gains or losses previously recorded in other
comprehensive income are transferred from other comprehensive income to the retained
earnings. The Group’s financial assets in this category are investments in other equity
instruments.

Financial assets measured at fair value and changes included in current profits and losses
The Group will classify the financial assets other than the above financial assets measured
at the amortised cost and the financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income into the financial assets at fair value through current profits and losses. Such
financial assets shall be subsequently measured at fair value, and all changes in fair value
are included in current profits and losses, except those related to hedging accounting. The
Group's financial assets in this category mainly include trading financial assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Classification and measurement of financial assets (Continued)

10.

(2)

(3)

4)

Financial assets measured at fair value and changes included in current profits and losses
(Continued)

If the contingent consideration recognized by the Group in a business combination not
under common control constitutes a financial asset, the financial asset is classified as a
financial asset measured at fair value with changes included in current profits and losses.

Only when accounting mismatches can be eliminated or significantly reduced, the Group
will designate financial assets at initial measurement as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss.

Classification, recognition basis and measurement method of financial liabilities

Except for the financial guarantee contracts issued, loan commitments at lower than market
interest rates and financial liabilities arising from the transfer of financial assets that do not
meet the conditions for derecognition or continued involvement in the transferred financial
assets, the Group’s financial liabilities are classified as: upon initial recognition: financial liabilities
measured at fair value through profit or loss and financial liabilities measured at amortized cost.
For financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss, related transaction costs are
directly included in the current profits and losses. Transaction costs related to financial liabilities
measured at amortized cost are included in their initial recognition amount.

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification:

1)

2)

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost
Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost are subsequently measured based on the
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through current profits or losses

The financial liability at fair value through current profits and losses (including derivatives
that are financial liabilities) is measured subsequently, including financial liabilities held
for trading and financial liabilities designated at fair value through current profits and
losses when initially recognizing. Trading financial liabilities (including derivatives are
financial liabilities) are subsequently measured at fair value, and (except related to
hedging accounting) all changes in fair value are included in current profits and losses. For
financial liabilities designated as measured at fair value with changes included in current
profits and losses, subsequent measurement is based on fair value. Except for changes
in fair value caused by changes in the Group's own credit risk, which are included in
other comprehensive income, other changes in fair value are included in current profits
and losses. If the changes in fair value caused by changes in the Group's own credit risk,
which are included in other comprehensive income, will cause or expand the accounting
mismatch in profit and loss, the Group will include all changes in fair value (including the
amount affected by changes in its own credit risk) into the current profit and loss.

Annual Report 2024 99



Notes to the Financial Statements

1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Classification, recognition basis and measurement method of financial liabilities
(Continued)

10.

(3)

2)

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through current profits or losses (Continued)
Only when one of the following conditions is met, the Group will designate a financial
liability at initial measurement as a financial liability at fair value through current profit or
loss: (D the designation can eliminate or significantly reduce accounting mismatches; @
formal written risk management or investment strategies have stated that the portfolio
of financial instruments is managed, evaluated and reported to key management
personnel on a fair value basis; 3 a hybrid instrument that contains one or more
embedded derivatives, unless the embedded derivative does not significantly change the
cash flows of the hybrid instrument, or the embedded derivative clearly should not be
separated from the related hybrid instrument; @ hybrid instruments containing embedded
derivatives that need to be separated but cannot be measured separately at the time of
acquisition or at subsequent balance sheet dates.

The Group accounts for financial liabilities arising from contingent consideration
recognized as a purchaser in a business combination not under common control at fair
value through profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial instruments

The Group performs impairment treatment on financial assets measured at amortized cost, debt
investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, contract assets, lease
receivables, loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts and recognizes loss provisions
based on expected credit losses.

10.

(4)

1)

2)

Measurement of expected credit losses

The expected credit loss means that the risk of default is the weighted average of credit
list of weighted financial instrument. Credit loss refers to the difference between all
contractual cash flow receivable according to the contract and discounted according to
the original effective interest rate and all cash flow receivable, that is, the present value of
all cash shortages.

Lifetime expected credit losses are the expected credit losses that result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. 12-month expected credit
losses are the portion of Expected credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the 12 months after the balance sheet date (or a shorter period if the
expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months).

For financial instruments with only low credit risk at the balance sheet date, the Group
assumes that their credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition. For
the Group’s judgment criteria for significant increase in credit risk and definition of credit-
impaired assets, please refer to note X.1.

When the Group uses the expected credit loss model to assess the impairment of financial
instruments and contract assets, it infers the expected changes in the debtor’s credit
risk based on historical repayment data and in combination with economic policies,
macroeconomic indicators, industry risks and other factors. Different estimates may affect
the provision for impairment losses, and the provision for impairment already made may
not be equal to the actual amount of impairment losses in the future.

The Group considers the following factors in measuring the expected credit losses of
financial instruments: @ an unbiased probabilistic weighted average amount determined
by evaluating a range of possible outcomes; @ time value of money; 3 reasonable
and evidence-based information about past events, current conditions and projections
of future economic conditions that can be obtained at the end of the reporting period
without unnecessary additional cost.

The portfolio categories and basis for determination of the provision for impairment made
based on credit risk characteristics

The Group assesses the expected credit losses of financial instruments on an individual
and collective basis. When assessing on a collective basis, the Group divides financial
instruments into different groups based on common credit risk characteristics. The Group
divides financial instruments into different groups based on common risk characteristics.
Common credit risk characteristics adopted by the Group include: type of financial
instrument, credit risk rating, geographical location of the debtor, industry of the debtor,
overdue information, aging of accounts receivable, etc.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)
10. Financial instruments (Continued)
(4) Impairment of financial instruments (Continued)

The Group's use of the expected credit loss model to assess the impairment of financial
instruments and contract assets requires significant judgments and estimates, and all reasonable
and evidence-based information, including forward-looking information, shall be considered.
When making these judgments and estimates, the Group infers expected changes in the debtor’s
credit risk based on historical repayment data combined with economic policies, macroeconomic
indicators, industry risks and other factors. Different estimations may affect the provision of
impairment, and the impairment provisions that have been made may not be equal to the actual
amount of future impairment losses.

@ Impairment testing method for notes receivable
Determination method and accounting treatment of expected credit losses of notes
receivable:

The Group always measures the loss provisions for the notes receivable according to the
amount of expected credit loss in the whole duration.

Judgment of significant increase of credit risk after the initial recognition. The Group
will judge whether the credit risk of the financial instrument significantly increases by
comparing the default probability of this financial instrument determined during the
initial recognition in the expected duration with its default probability determined on the
balance sheet date in the expected duration. However, if the Group determines that the
financial instrument has only a low credit risk on the balance sheet date, the Company
could assume that the credit risk of the financial instrument has not increased significantly
since the initial recognition.

Portfolio-based assessment. For notes receivable, the Group, in the aspect of individual
instrument, cannot obtain sufficient evidence about credit risk increased significantly
at a reasonable cost, and it is feasible to assess whether there is a significant increase
in credit risk on the basis of portfolio. Therefore, taking notes type as the common risk
characteristics, the Group groups notes receivable and considers whether credit risk
increases significantly on a portfolio basis.

Measurement of expected credit loss. The expected credit loss means that the risk of
default is the weighted average of credit list of weighted financial instrument. Credit loss
refers to the difference between all contractual cash flow receivable according to the
contract and discounted according to the original effective interest rate and all cash flow
receivable, that is, the present value of all cash shortages.

As per the actual credit losses of previous years, taking into account the forward-looking
information of the year, the Group implements the following accounting estimation
policy for measuring expected credit losses: an expected credit loss model, based on the
nature of the notes, is employed, in which the expected credit loss of accounts receivable
is calculated by estimated credit loss rate and expected default exposure of accounts
receivable, and the expected credit loss rate is determined by the probability of default
and default loss rate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial instruments (Continued)

10.

(4)

@

Impairment testing method of accounts receivable

The Group provides allowance for bad debt, in connection with all receivables, at the
expected credit loss throughout their full life. As per the actual loss rate of previous
accounts receivable, judgments on future recovery risks and analysis on credit risk
characteristics, the Group determines its expected loss rate and provision for bad debts.
The provision is made in following manner:

At the end of the period, a separate impairment test is performed on the receivables
that have been impaired as proven by objective evidence. Regarding measurement of
their expected credit losses, the impairment loss is recognised and the provision for
bad debts is made, by the difference between the book balance and the present value
of the estimated future cash flow as discounted at the original actual interest rate. In
the case there is no sufficient evidence for determination of expected credit losses at a
reasonable cost at single instrument level, the Group shall consider and refer to historical
credit loss experience, taking account into current conditions and judgments of future
economic conditions, and divide accounts receivable into several portfolios by credit risk
characteristics; and then calculate the expected credit loss by such portfolios, on the
following basis:

Portfolio name Accrual method

Aging analysis portfolio The Group calculates the expected credit loss based on its past
historical experience, taking account into of current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions by preparing the aging of
accounts receivable and the lifetime expected credit loss rate

Low risk portfolio No provision for bad debts

For low risk portfolio, unless there is definite evidence proving that the credit risk of the
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, no expected credit
loss shall be accrued and provided. The Group’s low-risk items mainly include deposits and
reserves, etc. paid to clients from military and governmental sectors, without significant
losses. These items are expected to be recovered, with low probability of credit risk, and
credit impairment losses may not be accrued.

The Group calculates expected credit loss of accounts receivable on the balance sheet
date. If the expected credit loss is greater than the carrying amount of provision for
impairment of the current accounts receivable, the Group will recognise the difference as
impairment loss on accounts receivable, debit “credit impairment loss” and credit “bad
debt provision”. On the contrary, the Group recognizes the difference as impairment gains
and makes opposite accounting records.

If the Group actually suffers a credit loss and determines that the relevant accounts
receivable cannot be taken back and are approved to be charged off, the “bad debt
provision” shall be debited and the “accounts receivable” shall be credited according to
the approved charged off amount. If the charged off amount is greater than the accrued
loss provision, “credit impairment loss” shall be debited against difference of the period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial instruments (Continued)

10.

(4)

@

Impairment testing method of accounts receivable (Continued)

As per the actual credit losses of previous years, taking into account the forward-looking
information of the year, the Group implements the following accounting estimation policy
for measuring expected credit losses:

Expected
credit loss rate
of accounts

Aging receivable (%)
Within 1 year (including 1 year, the same below) 3.00
1-2 years 10.00
2-3 years 20.00
3-4 years 60.00
4-5 years 80.00
Over 5 years 100.00

Impairment testing method for other receivables

The Group's other receivables mainly include provisional deposits, deposits and security
funds and current accounts. According to the nature of receivables and the credit risk
characteristics of different counterparties, the Group divides other receivables into three
portfolios, namely, provisional deposits, deposits and security funds and current accounts.

The Group measures loss allowance for other receivables according to the following
circumstances: @ the Group measures loss allowance for the financial assets the credit
risk of which has not significantly increased since initial recognition based on the amount
of expected credit loss for the next 12 months; @ the Group measures loss allowance
for the financial assets the credit risk of which has significantly increased since initial
recognition based on the amount of expected credit loss during the lifetime of the
financial instrument; 3 the Group measures loss allowance for the financial assets which
have been credit-impairment since purchase or origination based on the amount of
expected credit loss during the lifetime of the financial assets.

Assessment on a collective basis. For other receivables, the Group cannot obtain sufficient
evidence of significant increase in credit risk at a reasonable cost at the level of individual
instruments, and it is feasible to evaluate whether credit risk increases significantly on a
collective basis. Therefore, the Group classifies other receivables according to the type of
borrowers and date of initial recognition as a common risk characteristic and considers
whether credit risk increases significantly on a collective basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

10.

(4)

(5)

Impairment of financial instruments (Continued)

3) Single item provision judgment standard of provision for bad debt impairment by single
item
If the credit risk characteristics of a customer are significantly different from those of
other customers in the portfolio, or the credit risk characteristics of the customer have
changed significantly, for example, the customer encounters serious financial difficulties,
and the expected credit loss rate of the receivables from the customer is significantly
higher than the expected credit loss rate of the aging and overdue range, the Group will
make a loss provision for the receivables from the customer on a single basis.

4) Write-off of impairment provision
When the Group no longer reasonably expects to recover all or part of the contractual
cash flows of a financial asset, the Group directly writes down the carrying amount of the
financial asset. If a financial asset that has been written down is subsequently recovered,
it is recorded as a reversal of the impairment loss in the profit or loss of the period in
which it is recovered.

Recognition basis and measurement method of financial asset transfer

For financial asset transfer transactions, if the Group has transferred substantially all risks
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset to the transferee, the financial asset will be
derecognised. If it retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a financial asset,
the financial asset will not be derecognised. If it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, has given up control of the financial
asset, has terminated the recognition of the financial asset and recognized the resulting assets
and liabilities, and has not given up control of the financial asset, the relevant financial assets
will be recognized according to the extent of its continued involvement in the transferred
financial assets, and the relevant liabilities will be recognized accordingly.

If the entire transfer of the financial assets meets the derecognition conditions, the difference
between the book value of transferred financial asset on the date of derecognition and the
sum of consideration received from the transfer and the amount originally included in other
comprehensive income directly and that the accumulative amount of change in fair value
corresponds to the derecognised part (the financial assets involved in the transfer also meet
the following conditions: (M the Group’s business model for managing this financial asset is to
both collect contractual cash flows and sell the financial asset; @ the contractual terms of the
financial assets stipulate that, the cash flow generated on a specific date is only the payment of
interest based on the principal amount and the outstanding principal amount) shall be included
in the current profits and losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

10.

(5)

(6)

Recognition basis and measurement method of financial asset transfer (Continued)

If the partial transfer of the financial assets meets the derecognition conditions, the entire
book value of the transferred financial assets shall be amortised at their own relative fair values
between the derecognised part and the under recognised part, and the difference between the
sum of consideration received from the transfer and the amount which should be amortised to
the derecognised part, originally included in other comprehensive income directly and that the
accumulative amount of change in fair value corresponds to the derecognised part (the financial
assets involved in the transfer also meet the following conditions: ) the Group’s business
model for managing this financial asset is to both collect contractual cash flows and sell the
financial asset; @ the contractual terms of the financial assets stipulate that, the cash flow
generated on a specific date is only the payment of interest based on the principal amount and
the outstanding principal amount) and the entire book value of the aforesaid financial assets
amortised shall be included in the current profits and losses.

If the Company continues to be involved by providing financial guarantees for the transferred
financial assets, the assets formed by the continued involvement will be recognized based on the
lower of the book value of the financial assets and the financial guarantee amount. The amount
of financial guarantee refers to the maximum amount that will be required to be repaid out of
the consideration received.

Difference between financial liability and equity instrument and related treatment

The Group distinguishes financial liabilities and equity instruments according to the following
principles: (1) if the Group fails to unconditionally perform one contractual obligation by
delivering cash or other financial assets, the contractual obligation satisfies the definition of
financial liability. While some financial instruments do not expressly include the terms and
conditions for the obligation to deliver cash or other financial assets, it is possible to form
contractual obligations indirectly through other terms and conditions. (2) If one financial
instrument must or may be settled by the Group’s own equity instrument, the Group’s own
equity instrument used for settling such instrument shall be considered as a substitute for cash
or other financial assets, or as residual equity in the issuer's assets that the instrument holder
enjoys after deducting all the liabilities. If it is the former, this instrument is the financial liability
of the issuer. If it is the latter, the instrument is the equity instrument of the issuer. Under certain
circumstances, a financial instrument contract requires that the Group must or may settle the
financial instrument with its own equity instruments, where the amount of contractual rights
or contractual obligations is equal to the number of own equity instruments available or to be
delivered multiplied by the fair value upon its settlement. In this case, regardless of whether the
amount of the contractual right or obligation is a fixed value or changes based in whole or in
part on changes in variables other than the market price of the Group’s own equity instrument
(such as interest rates, the price of a good or the price of a financial instrument), the contract is
classified as financial liabilities.

When classifying a financial instrument (or its components) in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group takes into consideration all the terms and conditions agreed between
members of the Group and holders of financial instruments. If the Group as a whole has
assumed the obligation to deliver cash, other financial assets or settle it by other means of
rendering the instrument a financial liability, the instrument should be classified as a financial
liability.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)

10.

11.

Financial instruments (Continued)

(7) Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group shall be presented separately in the balance
sheet and be not mutually offset. However, the net amount is presented in the balance sheet
after being offset, when the following conditions are met at the same time: (1) The Group has a
legal right to offset the recognised amount and that such legal rights are currently enforceable;
and (2) The Group plans to settle by the net assets or sell off financial assets and liquidate the
financial liabilities at the same time.

Inventories
The Group's inventories mainly include raw materials, products in process, turnover materials, goods
delivered, finished goods, and consumable biological assets.

Inventories are initially measured at cost. Inventory costs include purchase costs, processing costs and
other costs. The perpetual inventory system is adopted for inventories. Actual cost is calculated using
weighted average method when the inventories are acquired or sent out.

At the balance sheet date, inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. If
the inventory cost is higher than its net realizable value, a provision for inventory depreciation is made
and included in the current profit and loss. Net realizable value refers to the estimated selling price of
inventory in daily activities minus the estimated costs to be incurred upon completion, estimated sales
expenses and related taxes.

When the Group determines the net realizable value, the finished goods, products in process, materials
for sale and other merchandise inventories directly for sale shall be recognised at the balance after the
estimated selling price of such inventories deducts the estimated sales expenses and relevant taxes,
and the material inventories held for production shall be recognised at the balance after the estimated
selling price of the finished product deducts the estimated costs to be incurred upon completion,
estimated sales expenses and related taxes.

The provision for inventory impairment of other raw materials and auxiliary materials in large quantity
and at low unit prices shall be made by category. The net realisable values thereof shall be recognised
at the balance after the estimated selling price of such inventories deducts the estimated sales expenses
and relevant taxes.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)

Long-term equity investments

The long-term equity investment of the Group includes investment in subsidiaries, investment in
associates and equity investment in joint ventures.

12.

(1

(2)

Judgment of significant influence and joint control

The Group's equity investments that have a significant influence on the investee are investments
in associates. Significant influence means that the Group has the power to participate in
decision-making on the financial and operating policies of the investee, but it is not able to
control or jointly control the formulation of these policies with other parties. It is generally
considered that the Company, when holding, directly or through subsidiaries, more than 20%
(included) but less than 50% of the voting right of the investee, has a significant influence on
the investee, unless there is clear evidence that the Group cannot participate in the production
and operation decisions of the invested unit or form control over the invested unit. When the
Group holds less than 20% voting right of the investee, if the Group has representatives sent
to the board of directors or similar authority body in the investee, participate in formulation
of financial and operating policies of the investee, significant transaction happened with the
investee, dispatch managers to the investee or providing key technical data to the investee, etc.,
the Group believes that it has a significant impact on the invested unit.

Equity investments in which the Group and other joint venture parties jointly control the investee
and have rights to the net assets of the investee are investments in joint ventures. Joint control
refers to joint control over an arrangement according to relevant agreements, and the related
activities of the arrangement can only be decided after the consensus of the parties sharing
the control. The Group's basis for judging joint control is that all participants or combinations
of participants collectively control the arrangement, and decisions on activities related to the
arrangement must be unanimously agreed upon by the participants who collectively control the
arrangement.

Accounting treatment method
The Group initially measures long-term equity investments acquired based on the initial
investment cost.

If the long-term equity investment is obtained from the business combination under common
control, the share of book value of owners’ equity of the merged party in consolidated financial
statements of the ultimate controlling party on the date of merger shall be deemed as the initial
investment cost. If the book value of the net asset of the combined party on the combining date
is negative, the initial investment cost shall be determined as zero.

For long-term equity investment obtained through business combination not under common
control, consolidated cost shall be recognised as initial investment cost. As to business
combination not under common control obtained step by step through multiple transactions,
if it is not a package deal, the sum of book value of equity investment originally held and new
investment cost is taken as the initial investment cost.
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I1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)
12. Long-term equity investments (Continued)

(2)

Accounting treatment method (Continued)

Except long-term equity investment obtained through business combination, for those obtained
by cash, purchase amount actually paid and fees, taxes and other necessary expenses directly
related to obtaining long-term equity investment shall be used as its initial investment amount;
for those obtained through issuing equity security, the fair value of equity security issued shall
be used as the initial investment cost. For long-term equity investments obtained through debt
restructuring by assets repaying debts, the initial investment cost shall be based on the fair value
of the relinquished claims and taxes and other costs directly attributable to the investment.
For long-term equity investments obtained in exchange for non-monetary assets, the initial
investment cost is the fair value/book value of the assets exchanged and related taxes.

The Group's investments in subsidiaries are accounted for using the cost method in individual
financial statements. When using the cost method, long-term equity investments are valued at
the initial investment cost. When additional investment is made, the book value of the long-term
equity investment cost is increased based on the fair value of the cost paid for the additional
investment and the related transaction costs incurred. Cash dividends or profits that the investee
declares to distribute shall be recognised as the current investment profits as per the amount
enjoyed.

The Group’s investments in joint ventures and associates are accounted for using the equity
method. When adopting the equity method, if the initial investment cost of long-term equity
investments is greater than the fair value share of identifiable net assets of the invested entity,
the book value of long-term equity investments shall not be adjusted; if the initial investment
cost of long-term equity investments is less than the fair value share of the identifiable net
assets of the invested entity, the difference is adjusted to the book value of the long-term equity
investment and is included in the current profit and loss of the investment.

For long-term equity investment subsequently measured by equity method, during the
investment holding period, the book value of long-term equity investment shall be accordingly
increased or decreased as the owner’s equity of the investee changes. Wherein, the Company
shall, as per the Group’s accounting policy and period, offset the unrealized internal transaction
gains and losses arising from transactions with associates and joint ventures that do not
constitute business, calculate the portion attributable to the Group according to its share (if the
internal transaction loss is an asset impairment loss, the full amount is recognised), and adjust
and recognize the net profit of the investee. The Group recognizes the net loss incurred by the
investee until the book value of the long-term equity investment and other long-term interests
that essentially constitute the net investment in the investee are reduced to zero, except where
the Group has the obligation to bear additional losses.

On the disposal of a long-term equity investment, the difference between the carrying value and
the consideration actually received is recognised as investment gain for the period.

For long-term equity investments accounted for by the equity method, the relevant other
comprehensive income accounted for by the original equity method shall be accounted for on
the same basis as the investee’s direct disposal of related assets or liabilities when the equity
method is terminated. The owner’s equity recognised by changes in other owner's equity other
than profit and loss, other comprehensive income and profit distribution shall be all transferred
to the current investment gain when the equity method is terminated.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)
Long-term equity investments (Continued)

12.

(2)

Accounting treatment method (Continued)

If the remaining equity after disposing of part of the equity is still accounted for using the equity
method, the relevant other comprehensive income accounted for by the original equity method
shall be treated on the same basis and carry forward proportionately as the investee’s direct
disposal of related assets or liabilities. The owner's equity recognised by changes in other owner’s
equity other than profit and loss, other comprehensive income and profit distribution shall be
proportionately carried forward to current investment income.

If the joint control or significant influence over the investee is lost due to the disposal of part
of the equity, and the remaining equity after disposal is recognized as a financial asset, the
difference between the fair value of the remaining equity on the date when joint control or
significant influence is lost and the book value is included in the current profit and loss.

When the Company loses the control over the investee for disposal of partial long-term equity
investments, the accounting method shall be changed to equity method if the remaining shares
after disposal still have joint control or significant influence on the investee, with the balance
between the book value of equity to be disposed and consideration of disposal included in
the investment gain. While the remaining shares after disposal do not have joint control or
significant influence on investee anymore, they are recognized as a financial asset and the
difference between fair value and book value on the date of losing the control shall be included
in the current losses and profits.

Various transactions of the Group from step-by-step equity disposal to loss of controlling power
do not belong to the package deal, and every transaction is separately subject to accounting
treatment. If the transactions belong to “package deal”, then the Company shall conduct
accounting treatment to the transaction which shall be taken as a transaction for disposing
subsidiaries with control right lost; and however, before loss of control right, the difference
between each disposal price and the book value of long-term equity investment correspondingly
in equity disposed shall be firstly recognised in the other comprehensive income and then wholly
transferred into the current profit and loss when losing control right.
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. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)

13.

Fixed assets

The Group’s fixed assets refer to any tangible assets that are held for the purpose of producing goods,
providing labor services, leasing, or operation or management, with a useful life of more than one year,
and meeting the following conditions:

Fixed assets are recognised when it is highly probable of economic benefits inflow to the Group
and their costs can be measured reliably. The Group’s fixed assets include buildings, machinery,
transportation equipment, and office equipment.

Other than fixed assets that are fully depreciated and remain in use as well as land that is separately
measured and accounted, the Group provides depreciation for all fixed assets. The Group provides
depreciation under the straight line method. The classified depreciation life, estimated net residual value
rate and depreciation rate in aspect to various fixed assets of the Group are listed as follows:

Estimated Annual

Depreciation residual depreciation

No. Type life (year) value rate (%) rate (%)
1 Houses and buildings 30 5 3.17
2 Machinery and equipment 10 5 9.50
3 Transportation equipment 5 5 19
4 Office equipment and others 5 5 19

The Group should re-examine the service life, estimated net residual rate and depreciation method as
to the fixed assets, at the end of each year; Any changes should be treated as the accounting estimate
change.

Annual Report 2024 111



Notes to the Financial Statements

1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)

14.

15.

Borrowing costs

The Group capitalizes the borrowing costs directly attributable to the construction or production of
assets that meet the capitalization conditions and includes them in the cost of the relevant assets. Other
borrowing costs are included in the current profits and losses. The assets determined by the Group to
qualify for capitalization include fixed assets, investment properties and inventories that require more
than 1 year of acquisition or construction to be ready for intended use or selling shall be capitalised
when the expenditures of the assets and the borrowing costs incurred and acquisition or construction
activities necessary for making the assets be ready for intended use or selling to begin. When the assets
meeting the capitalisation requirements are acquired or constructed to be ready for intended use or
selling, the capitalisation shall be terminated, and the borrowing costs incurred subsequently shall be
included in the current profits and losses. If assets satisfying capitalisation conditions are suddenly
suspended in acquisition or construction for more than three months continuously, the capitalisation of
the borrowing costs shall be suspended until the restart of acquisition or construction of the assets.

In each accounting period within the capitalization period, the Group recognizes the capitalized amount
of borrowing costs according to the following method: if a special loan is borrowed, the actual incurred
interest costs in current period shall be determined after the interest income from deposits in banks or
investment income from temporary investment with the unused borrowings is deducted from it. General
borrowings shall be determined by multiplying the weighted average of the excess of the accumulated
asset expenditures over the asset expenditures of special borrowings with the capitalisation rate of
general borrowings used. The capitalisation rate shall be calculated and determined in light of the
weighted average interest rate of the general borrowing.

Intangible assets

The intangible assets of the Group include patented technology, non-patented technology, prototype in
self development, software, etc., which shall be measured at actual cost when being obtained; for the
intangible assets purchased, price actually paid and related other expenditure shall be deemed as actual
cost; and for the intangible assets invested by the investor, value agreed in accordance with investment
contract or agreement is recognised as actual cost, except value agreed in the contract or agreement
is unfair, in such case, the actual cost shall be recognised at fair value. However, for intangible assets
acquired by the acquiree in a merger not under the common control, but not recognised in its financial
statements, the assets are initially recognised at fair value.
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. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)

15. Intangible assets (Continued)
(1) Useful life and its basis for determination, estimation, amortization method or review
procedure

The Group's patented technologies and other intangible assets are amortized on an average basis
over their estimated useful lives from the date of acquisition to the maturity date. Intangible
assets such as non-patented technology, prototype in development and software shall be
amortised at average as per the shortest one of the estimated service life, benefit year stipulated
in the contract and effective service life stipulated by law. Amortised amount shall be included in
related asset cost and current profits and losses as per the benefit object. The Company rechecks
the expected service life and amortisation method of intangible assets with uncertain service
life at the end of each year. In case of any change, it shall be treated as changes in accounting
evaluation for handling.

The amortisation method and amortisation life of the Group’s various intangible assets are as

follows:
Amortisation Amortisation Basis for
Type method life (year) determination
Prototype in development Straight-line 5 Estimated
method useful life
Patent rights Straight-line 10 Expected
method income period
Non-patented technology Straight-line 10 Expected
method income period
Software Straight-line 2-10 Estimated
method useful life
Others Straight-line 5 Estimated
method useful life

The amortization amount is recorded in the cost of related assets and current profit and loss
according to its beneficiaries. The estimated useful life and amortization method of intangible
assets with finite useful lives are reviewed at the end of each year. Any changes are treated as
changes in accounting estimates.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)
Intangible assets (Continued)

15.

(2)

Scope of aggregation of R&D expenses and related accounting treatment methods

The scope of the Group's R&D expenses includes employee salaries of research and development
personnel, direct investment expenses, depreciation and amortization expenses, design expenses,
equipment commissioning expenses, commissioned external research and development expenses,
and other expenses, etc.

Depending on the nature of internal research and development project expenditures and
whether there is greater uncertainty in the eventual formation of intangible assets from research
and development activities, the Group divides them into research phase expenditures and
development phase expenditures

Expenditure on the research phase is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred.

Expenditure on the development phase is capitalised as intangible assets only if all of the
following conditions are satisfied, expenditure on the development phase which cannot met all
of the following conditions are recognised in current profit or loss:

) it is technically feasible to complete the intangible asset so that it will be available for use
or sale;

(2) the management'’s intention to complete, use or sell the intangible asset;

(3) the Group can demonstrate the ways in which the intangible asset will generate economic
benefits, including the evidence of the existence of a market for the output of the
intangible asset or the intangible asset itself or, if it is to be used internally, the usefulness
of the intangible asset;

(4) the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the
development and the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

(5) its ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its
development phase.

Expenditures on research and development which cannot be distinguished between the research
phase and development phase are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

The Group's development expenditures on new products (technologies) resulting from product
(technology) upgrades and improvements based on the original technology platform are included
in the current profit and loss when incurred.
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. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)

16.

17.

Impairment of long-term assets

The Group re-examines long-term equity investment, investment properties measured using the cost
model, fixed assets, project under construction, right-of-use assets, intangible assets with limited useful
life and other items at each balance sheet date. When there is any indication of impairment, the Group
performs an impairment test. Goodwill, intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, and development
expenditures that have not yet reached their intended usable state are subject to impairment testing at
the end of each year regardless of whether there are signs of impairment.

When the Group conducts impairment testing, it determines its recoverable amount based on the
higher of the net amount of the asset’s fair value minus disposal costs and the present value of the
asset’s expected future cash flows. After the impairment test, if the book value of the asset exceeds its
recoverable amount, the difference is recognized as an impairment loss.

The Group estimates the recoverable amount on the basis of a single asset. If it is difficult to estimate
the recoverable amount of a single asset, the Group determines the recoverable amount of the asset
group to which the asset belongs. The identification of an asset group is based on whether the main
cash inflow generated by the asset group is independent of the cash inflows of other assets or asset
groups.

The net amount of fair value less disposal expenses is determined by referring to the sales agreement
price or observable market price of similar assets in an orderly transaction occurring on the
measurement date, less the incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of the asset. When
estimating the present value of future cash flows, management estimates the future cash flows from
the asset during its continuing use and upon its eventual disposal and select an appropriate discount
rate to determine the present value of future cash flows.

Upon confirmation, the above asset’s impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent accounting
periods.

Employee compensation
Employee compensation includes short-term compensation, post-employment benefits, termination
benefits, and other long-term benefits.

Short-term compensation mainly includes employee wages, bonuses, allowances and subsidies,
employee benefits, social insurance premiums such as medical insurance premiums, work-related injury
insurance premiums and maternity insurance premiums, housing provident funds, union funds and
employee education funds, short-term paid absenteeism, short-term profit-sharing plans, non-monetary
benefits, and other short-term pay, etc. During the accounting period when employees provide services,
the actual short-term compensation is recognised as liability and included in the current profit and loss
or the cost of related assets according to the beneficiary.

Post employment benefits including the endowment insurance, and unemployment insurance, and
classified into defined contribution plan according to the risks and liabilities assumed by the Company.
As for defined contribution plan under which the Group consumed obligation of making payment to
independent funds, in order to exchange for staff services to be provided during the accounting period,
shall be recognised as liabilities, and included in the profit or loss or related assets cost of the current
period of the beneficiary.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)
Employee compensation (Continued)

17.

(1

(2)

Domestic companies affiliated to the Group

The Group participates in the pension insurance and unemployment insurance plans established
by government agencies as required. According to the regulations of these plans, the Group
pays 16% and 0.7% (2023: 16% and 0.7%) of the basic wages of employees to such plans on a
monthly basis, respectively. Wait for the plan to pay the fee. In addition to the above-mentioned
deposit fees, the Group will not undertake any further payment obligations, nor can it use the
forfeited contributions. Corresponding expenses are included in the current profit and loss or
related asset costs when incurred.

Hong Kong company affiliated to the Group

The Group’s companies established in Hong Kong participate in the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“MPF Scheme”), to which the Group contributes 5% (2023: 5%) of the basic salaries of
its employees, and the assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in
a fund controlled by the trustee. Contributions made by the Company to the MPF Scheme will be
received by employees in accordance with statutory requirements and the terms of the scheme.
If an employee leaves the MPF Scheme before the contributions have reached full vesting, the
future amount payable by the Group to the MPF Scheme will be reduced by the amount forfeited
to the MPF Scheme. There are no forfeited MPF scheme amounts for the year (2023: Nil) and
year end date (2023: Nil).

Dismissal benefits refer to compensation provided to employees for terminating the labor
relationship with employees before the expiration of the labor contract between the Group
and the employee, or for encouraging the employees to voluntarily accept the reduction. For
employees who have not terminated the labor contract with the Group but will no longer
provide services for the Group in the future and cannot bring economic benefits to the Group,
if the Group is committed to providing economic compensation with the nature of dismissal
benefit, in case of "early retirement”, economic compensation shall be treated as dismissal
benefit before the official retirement date, and shall be treated as post-employment benefits
after the official retirement date.

Other long-term employee benefits refer to the employee benefits except for short-term benefits,
postemployment benefit and dismissal benefit, including long-term compensated absences, long-
term disability benefit, long-term profit sharing plan, etc.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)
Revenue recognition principles and measurement

18.

(1

General principles

The Group recognises revenue when it has fulfilled its performance obligations in the contract,
that is, when the customer has obtained control of the related goods or services. Obtaining
control over relevant goods or services means being able to direct the use of the goods or the
provision of the services and obtain almost all economic benefits from them.

Performance obligations are the Group's promise in a contract to transfer distinct goods to its
customers. The performance obligation of the Group is deemed to be performed within a certain
period of time if one of the following conditions is met; otherwise, it is deemed to be performed
at a certain point in time: (O the customer obtains and consumes the economic benefits brought
about by the performance of the Group at the same time as the performance of the Group;
@ the customer is able to control the goods under construction during the performance of the
Group; ® the goods produced during the performance of the Group have irreplaceable uses,
and the Group has the right to collect payment for the performance completed to date during
the entire contract period.

For performance obligations that are satisfied at a point in time, the Group recognizes revenue
when the customer obtains control of the related goods. When judging whether a customer has
obtained control over a commodity, the Group comprehensively considers the following signs:
(D The Group has the current right to receive payment for the commodity, i.e., the customer has
the current obligation to pay for the commodity; @ The Group has transferred the legal title to
the commodity to the customer, i.e., the customer already has the legal title to the commodity;
(3 The Group has physically transferred the commodity to the customer, i.e., the customer has
physically possessed the commodity; @ The Group has transferred the major risks and rewards of
ownership of the commodity to the customer, i.e., the customer has obtained the major risks and
rewards of ownership of the commodity; & The customer has accepted the commodity; & Other
signs indicating that the customer has obtained control over the commodity.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)

Revenue recognition principles and measurement (Continued)

2) Specific methods
The Group's operating income mainly includes income from sales of goods, income from
provision of labor services, and income from trade.

18.

19.

(1)

)

Income from sales of goods

The Group is mainly engaged in the sales of communication antenna products and
agricultural and sideline products. In respect of the sales of communication antenna
products, the specific principle for recognizing revenue from the sales of goods by the
Group is to recognize revenue at the point when the customer obtains control of the
relevant goods. The sales contracts between the Group and its customers usually stipulate
that the time point for the transfer of control rights of the products is when the products
are shipped and finally accepted by the customer.

In respect of the sales of agricultural and sideline products, as the Group obtains control
of goods from a third party and then transfers them to customers, it assumes the main
responsibility for transferring goods to customers and assumes inventory risks during
the transaction process, and has the right to independently determine the price of
the commodities being traded, so the Group's identity in the transaction is the main
responsible person. Trading revenue is recognized based on the total consideration that
the Group is expected to be entitled to receive as agreed in the contract. The Group
recognizes revenue from the sale of goods after the goods are shipped and confirmed by
the customer’s signature.

Income from providing labor services

The Group's income from providing labor services is mainly income from entrusted
processing of labor services. The specific recognition principle of the Group’s income from
providing labor services is that the revenue is recognized when the customer obtains
control of the service. In the entrusted processing agreement between the Group and
its customers, it is usually stipulated that if the entrusted processing materials pass
the inspection and are delivered to the customer, the transfer of control rights will be
deemed.

Contractual liabilities

Contract liabilities reflect the obligation of the Group to transfer goods to customers due to the
consideration received or receivable by the Group. Contract assets and contract liabilities under the
same contract are presented at net amount.
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20.

Government subsidy

Government subsidy is recognised when the Group can meet the attached conditions and can receive
the subsidy. When the government subsidy is a monetary asset, it is measured according to the actual
amount received. For the subsidy allocated according to the fixed quota standard, or when there
is conclusive evidence at the end of the year that it can meet the relevant conditions stipulated in
the financial support policy and it is expected to be able to receive the financial support funds, it
is measured at the receivable amount; when the government subsidy is a non-monetary asset, it is
measured at its fair value; when the fair value cannot be obtained reliably, it is measured at its nominal
amount (RMB1).

The Group's asset-related government subsidies refer to those obtained by the Group for purchase,
construction or otherwise formation of long-term assets; revenue-related government subsidies refer
to those other than asset-related government subsidies. If the target of subsidy is not clearly specified
in the government documents, the Group judges on the above-mentioned distinction principle. If it is
difficult to distinguish, it is classified as revenue-related government subsidy.

The asset-related government subsidies are used to write down the book value of the related assets or
recognised as deferred incomes. Asset-related government subsidies recognised as deferred incomes are
charged to profit or loss for the current period in stages over the service life of the relevant asset in a
reasonable manner. Where the relevant asset is sold, transferred, scrapped or damaged before the end
of its service life, the unappropriated balance of the relevant deferred incomes is charged to the profit
or loss of the asset disposal period.

The revenue-related government subsidies used to compensate for the relevant costs or losses in the
later period are recognised as deferred incomes, and are charged to the current profit or loss or used to
write down relevant costs during the period when relevant costs or losses are recognised. Government
subsidies related to daily activities are charged to other incomes or used to write down relevant costs in
accordance with the essence of economic operation. Government subsidies unrelated to daily activities
are charged to non-operating income.

If the Group obtains preferential policy loan interest discounts, distinguish the government'’s
appropriation of the interest subsidy to the lending bank and direct appropriation of such subsidy to the
Group, accounting treatment shall be carried out according to the following principles: (1) where the
interest subsidies are appropriated from the fiscal funds to the lending bank and then the bank provides
loans to Group at a policy-based preferential interest rate, the Group will recognize the amount of
borrowings received as the initial value and calculate the borrowing costs according to the principal
amount and the policy-based preferential interest rate. (Or if the fair value of the loan is used as the
book value of the loan and the borrowing costs are calculated according to the effective interest rate
method, the difference between the actual amount received and the fair value of the loan is recognized
as deferred income. Deferred income is amortized using the effective interest rate method over the
duration of the loan to offset related borrowing costs.); (2) where the interest subsidies are paid directly
to the Group, the Group will use such interest subsidies to offset the corresponding borrowing costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)

21.

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are calculated and recognised based on
the difference between tax bases and carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (temporary differences),
and calculated and recognised based on the (temporary difference) arise from the difference between
the tax base of an item that is not recognized as an asset or liability but whose tax base can be
determined in accordance with tax laws and its book value.

The Group recognizes deferred income tax liabilities for all taxable temporary differences except in
the following situations: (1) temporary differences arise from the initial recognition of goodwill or the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities arising from transactions other than business combinations that
affect neither accounting profits nor taxable income (or deductible losses); (2) for taxable temporary
differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and the temporary differences are likely
not to be reversed in the foreseeable future.

To the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available to deduct from the deductible
temporary difference, deductible losses and tax credits, the Group recognizes deferred income tax assets
for deductible temporary differences, deductible losses and tax credits arising except in the following
situations: (1) temporary differences arise from the initial recognition of assets or liabilities arising from
transactions other than business combinations that affect neither accounting profits nor taxable income
(or deductible losses); (2) deductible temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures cannot meet the following conditions at the same time: the temporary
difference is likely to be reversed in the foreseeable future, and it is likely that taxable income will be
obtained in the future that can be used to offset the deductible temporary difference.

The Group recognizes deferred income tax assets for all unused deductible losses to the extent that it
is probable that sufficient taxable income will be available against which the deductible losses can be
utilized. Management uses a lot of judgment to estimate the time and amount of taxable income in the
future, and combines tax planning strategies to determine the amount of deferred income tax assets
that should be recognized, so there is uncertainty.

At balance sheet date, deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are measured
at the applicable tax rates for the period when the asset is expected to be realized or the liability is
expected to be settled.

When the following conditions are met at the same time, the Group will present the deferred income
tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities as the net amount after offsetting: the Group has the
legal right to settle current income tax assets and current deferred income tax liabilities on a net basis;
deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are related to income taxes levied by the
same tax collection and administration department on the same taxpayer or different tax entities, but
in each future period when significant deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are
reversed, the taxpayer involved intends to settle the current income tax assets and current income tax
liabilities on a net basis or to obtain assets and pay off debts at the same time.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)

22.

Lease

(1

Identification of lease

On the contract commencement date, the Group evaluates whether the contract is a lease
or includes a lease. A contract is a lease or includes a lease if one party to the contract has
surrendered the right to control the use of one or more identified assets within a certain period
of time in exchange for consideration.

Where the contract includes multiple separate leases, the Group splits the contract and carries
out accounting treatment for each separate lease. Where the contract includes both leased and
nonleased parts, the Group separates the leased and non-leased parts for accounting treatment.
Each leasing part is accounted for in accordance with the leasing standards, and the non-lease
part is accounted for in accordance with other applicable accounting standards for enterprises./
If the contract contains both lease and non-lease components, the Group, as the lessor, will
separate the lease and non-lease components and conduct accounting treatment separately.
Each leasing part is accounted for in accordance with the leasing standards, and the non-lease
part is accounted for in accordance with other applicable accounting standards for enterprises.
As a lessee, the Group chooses not to separate the lease and non-lease parts, but merges each
lease part and its related non-lease parts into leases, and performs accounting treatment in
accordance with the lease standards. However, if the contract includes embedded derivatives that
should be separated, the Group will not combine them with the lease component for accounting
treatment.

When the Group evaluates whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the lease renewal option,
it comprehensively considers all relevant facts and circumstances that will bring economic
benefits to the Group from the exercise of the lease renewal option, including anticipated
changes in facts and circumstances between the lease commencement date and the option
exercise date. On the commencement date of the lease period, if the Group believes that the
contract terms and conditions during the renewal option period are more favorable compared
to the market price, or during the contract period, the Group has made or is expected to
make major improvements to the leased assets, the leased assets are important to the Group'’s
operations and it is difficult to obtain suitable replacement assets, then the Group can reasonably
determine that it will exercise the lease renewal option, therefore, the lease term includes the
period covered by the lease renewal option. After the commencement date of the lease period, if
a major event or change occurs within the control of the Group and affects whether the Group
can reasonably determine whether to exercise the corresponding lease renewal option, the
Group will re-evaluate whether to exercise the lease renewal option and modify the lease term
based on the re-evaluation results.
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Lease (Continued)
The Group as the lessee

22.

(2)

1)

Lease confirmation
Except for short-term leases and leasing of low-value assets, at the beginning of the lease
term, the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for the lease.

The right-of-use asset is defined as the right of underlying assets in the lease term for
the Group as a lessee and is initially measured at cost. The cost includes: O the amount
of the initial measurement of the lease liability; @ any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date(less any lease incentives received); @3 any initial direct costs
incurred by the lessee; @ an estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling
and removing the underlying asset, restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease
(except for the production of inventory). If the Group re-measures lease liability in
accordance with the relevant provisions of the lease standards, the book value of the
right-of-use assets shall be adjusted accordingly.

The Group depreciates the right-to-use asset by the straight-line method based on the
expected consumption mode of economic benefits related to the right-to-use asset. If the
ownership of lease asset can be reasonably confirmed to be acquired at the expiration of
lease term, the depreciation shall be carried out within the remaining service life of lease
asset; otherwise, the depreciation shall be carried out within the remaining lease term or
the service life of lease asset, whichever is shorter. The depreciation amount for provision
is included in the cost of underlying assets or the current profits and losses according to
the use of the right-to-use asset.

The Group initially measures the lease liabilities according to the present value of the
lease payment which is not made at the commencement of the lease term. Lease payment
includes @ fixed payment and substantial fixed payment, of which the amount related
to lease incentive shall be deducted if there is lease incentive; @) variable lease payment
depending on index or ratio; @ exercise price of purchase option when the Group
reasonably determines to exercise purchase option; @ payment made for exercising
the option to terminate the lease when the lease term reflects that the Group exercises
such option; & amount expected to be paid according to the guaranteed residual value
provided by the Group.

In calculating the present value of the lease payments, the Group uses the intrinsic lease
rate as the discount rate, where the intrinsic lease rate cannot be determined by the
Group, the incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. The Group calculates the
interest expense of the lease liability for each period during the lease term at a fixed
periodic interest rate and records it in the current profits and losses, except those that
should be capitalized.

After the start date of the lease period, when the Group recognizes the interest on the
lease liability, it increases the carrying amount of the lease liability. When a lease payment
is made, the carrying amount of the lease liability is reduced. When the actual fixed
payment amount changes, the estimated amount payable of the guaranteed residual
value changes, the index or ratio used to determine the lease payment changes, the
evaluation results or actual exercise of the purchase option, lease renewal option or
termination option change, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the present
value of the changed lease payments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)
Lease (Continued)
The Group as the lessee (Continued)

22.

(2)

2)

3)

4)

Lease changes

Lease changes refer to changes in the lease scope, lease consideration, and lease term
beyond the original contract terms, including the addition or termination of the right
to use one or more leased assets, and the extension or shortening of the lease term
stipulated in the contract. The effective date of a lease change is the date on which the
parties agree on a lease change.

When a lease is changed and the following conditions are simultaneously met, the Group
accounts for the lease change as a separate lease: (O The lease change expands the
scope of lease by adding the right to use one or more leased assets; @ The consideration
and expansion of lease scope or the separate price of the expanded scope of lease are
equivalent to the amount adjusted according to the contract.

Where the lease change is not accounted for as a separate lease, on the effective date of
the lease change, the Group allocates the consideration of the contract after the change
in accordance with the relevant provisions of the lease standards and re-determines the
lease term after the change, and adopts the revised discount rate to discount the lease
payment after the change, so as to remeasure the lease liabilities. Regarding the impact
of the adjustment to the above lease liabilities, the Group distinguishes the following
situations for accounting treatment: () Where the lease change narrows the lease
scope or shortens the lease term, the lessee shall reduce the book value of the right-of-
use assets and charge the relevant gains or losses from partial termination or complete
termination to the current profit or loss. @ Where the lease liabilities are re-measured
due to other lease changes, the lessee adjusts the book value of the right-of-use assets
accordingly.

Short-term lease and lease of low-value assets

For short-term leases with a lease term of not more than 12 months and leases of low-
value assets with low value when the single leased asset is brand new asset, the Group
chooses not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. The Group charges the
lease payments for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets to the relevant asset
costs or current profits or losses using systematic and reasonable methods in each stage
during the lease term.

Sale and leaseback

As the seller and lessee in the sale and leaseback transaction, the Group evaluates
whether the transfer of the relevant underlying assets constitutes a sale. If the Group
determines that it does not constitute a sale, the Group continues to recognize the
transferred assets and at the same time recognize a financial liability equal to the transfer
income. If it constitutes a sale, the Group measures the right-of-use asset resulting from
the sale and leaseback at the portion of the book value of the original asset that relates
to the right of use acquired through leaseback, and recognises gain or loss only on the
right transferred to the lessor. When subsequently measuring the lease liability arising
from a sale and leaseback, the lease payments or modified lease payments are determined
in @ manner that does not result in the Group recognizing any gains or losses related to
the right of use obtained from the leaseback (unless the lease modification results in a
reduction in the scope of the lease or a shortening of the lease term).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)

Lease (Continued)

The Group as the lessor

As a lessor, if a lease transfers substantially all the risks and rewards related to the ownership of
the leased asset, the Group classifies the lease as a finance lease, otherwise it is classified as an
operating lease.

22.

(3)

1)

2)

3)

Financial lease

At the beginning of the lease term, the Group recognises financial lease receivables for
financial leases and ceases to recognise financial lease assets. When the Group performs
the initial measurement of financial lease receivables, the net lease investment is used as
the entry value of the financial lease receivables.

The net lease investment is the sum of the unguaranteed residual value and the present
value of the lease proceeds that have not been received at the beginning of the lease
term, discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease. The Group calculates and
recognises interest income for each stage in the lease term at a fixed periodic interest
rate. Variable lease payments obtained by the Group that are not included in the
measurement of net lease investment are included in the current profit and loss when
actually incurred.

Operating lease
In each stage of the lease term, the Group adopts systematic and reasonable methods to
recognise the lease receipts from operating leases as rent incomes.

The initial direct costs incurred by the Group related to operating leases are capitalised to
the costs of the underlying assets of the lease, and shall be charged to the current profits
or losses in stages during the lease term on the same basis as the rent income.

The variable lease payments obtained by the Group related to operating leases and not
charged to the lease receipts are charged to the current profits or losses when they are
actually incurred.

Where an operating lease changes, the Group accounts for it as a new lease from the
effective date of the change, and deems the advanced lease receipts or lease receivables
related to the lease before the change as the new lease receipts.

Sale and leaseback

As the buyer and lessor in a sale and leaseback transaction, if the control of the relevant
underlying assets has not been transferred to the Group, the Group will not recognize
the transferred assets, but will recognize a financial asset equal to the transfer income. If
the control of the relevant underlying assets has been transferred to the Group and the
transfer of the assets constitutes a sale, the Group will account for the purchase of the
assets and the leasing of the assets in accordance with the aforementioned policies.
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. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)

23.

24,

Fair value measurement

The Group measures investment properties, derivative financial instruments and investments in equity
instruments at fair value on each balance sheet date. Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the
measurement date.

Assets and liabilities measured or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements are classified into
the following fair value levels based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole: level 1 inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities available on the measurement date; level 2 inputs are inputs that are directly or
indirectly observable for the related assets or liabilities other than level 1 inputs; and level 3 inputs are
unobservable inputs for the related assets or liabilities.

At each balance sheet date, the Group reassesses assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on
a recurring basis in its financial statements to determine whether a transfer has occurred between levels

of fair value measurement.

Change of significant accounting policy and accounting estimates
(1)  Change of significant accounting policy

Content and reasons for changes in accounting policy Remarks

Implement the two contents of the Interpretation No. 18 of The Group implemented this interpretation from
Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises (Cai Kuai 1 January 2024, and this change in accounting
[2024] No. 24), among which the content “Regarding the  policy had no impact on the Company's financial
accounting treatment of guarantee-type quality assurance  statements.
that is not a single performance obligation” stipulates
that for guarantee-type quality assurance that is not a
single performance obligation, the relevant provisions of
No. 13 of Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises
- Contingencies should be followed. According to the
determined amount of estimated liabilities, the “main
business cost”, “other business cost” and other accounts
should be debited, and the “estimated liabilities” account
should be credited.

Implement three contents of the Interpretation No. 17 of The Group implemented this interpretation from
Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises (Cai Kuai 1 January 2024, and this change in accounting
[2023] No. 21), including “I. Classification of current policy had no impact on the Company’s financial
liabilities and non-current liabilities”, “Il. Disclosure of statements.

supplier financing arrangements” and “lll. Accounting
treatment of sale and leaseback transactions”.

(2) Change of significant accounting estimates
None.
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V. TAXATION
1. Major taxes and tax rates

Tax type Taxation basis

Tax rate

Mainland China corporate income tax

- VAT Sales of products, property lease 13.00%, 9.00%, 5.00%

— Urban maintenance and construction tax Turnover tax payable 7.00%, 5.00%

— Corporate income tax Taxable incomes 25.00%, 20.00%, 15.00%

— Education surcharge Turnover tax payable 3.00%

— Local education surcharge Turnover tax payable 2.00%
China Hong Kong profit tax Taxable incomes 16.50%
Description of taxpayers of different corporate income tax rates:

Income tax

Taxpayer’s name rate
Xi‘an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd. 15.00%
Xi'an Haitian Wireless System Equipment Co., Ltd. 25.00%
Xi‘an Haitian Communication System Engineering Co., Ltd. 25.00%
Haitian Antenna (Shanghai) International Trade Co., Ltd. 25.00%
Yixian Hailan Natural Agricultural Development Co., Ltd. 20.00%
Xi'an Haitian Marine Technologies Co., Ltd. 25.00%
Xi'an Haitian Aviation & Aerospace Technologies Co., Ltd. 25.00%
Beijing Hailan Taihang Technologies Development Co., Ltd.
(deregistered during the year) 25.00%
Wuxi Shanshui Haitian Network Technologies Co., Ltd.
(deregistered during the year) 25.00%
Suzhou Haitian New Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd. 25.00%
Haitian Antenna Technologies (Hongkong) Limited 16.50%
Heinz (Hong Kong) Light Aviation Engines Limited (deregistered during the year) 16.50%
Xi'an Haitian Chuangyao Communication System Engineering Co., Ltd.
(deregistered during the year) 25.00%
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V. TAXATION (Continued)

2.

Tax incentives

The corporate income tax rate applicable to the Company is 15.00%. The Company obtained the
“Hightech Enterprise Certificate”, No. GR202261000247, on 14 October 2022 with a validity period of
3 years. According to Article 28 of the “Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China”,
the 2024 corporate income tax is calculated and paid at the preferential tax rate of 15.00% for high—
tech enterprises after filing and confirmation with the competent tax authority.

The following preferential tax policies are applicable to our subsidiary Yixian Hailan: According to the
Notice of the Ministry of Finance and the State Administration of Taxation on the Exemption of Certain
Value-added Tax Policies for the Circulation of Fresh Meat and Eggs (Caishui 2012 No. 75), Provision
1 of the document requires: Some fresh meat and egg products sold by taxpayers engaged in the
wholesale and retail of agricultural products are exempted from value-added tax. The fresh meat and
egg products sold by the Yixian Hailan are exempted from value-added tax.

According to the “Announcement on Preferential Income Tax Policies for Small and Micro Enterprises
and Individual Industrial and Commercial Households” (Announcement No. 6, 2023, of the Ministry of
Finance and the State Administration of Taxation), for Yixian Hailan, a subsidiary of the Company, in the
period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2024, for the part of taxable income not exceeding RMB'1
million, 25% shall be included in the taxable income, and the enterprise income tax shall be paid at the
tax rate of 20%, and Yixian Hailan's income shall be subject to this provision to pay income tax.

According to the “Announcement on Relevant Tax Policies to Further Support the Development of Small
and Micro Enterprises and Individual Industrial and Commercial Households” (Announcement No. 12,
2023, of the Ministry of Finance and the State Administration of Taxation), from 1 January 2023 to
31 December 2027, small-scale value-added tax taxpayers, small low-profit enterprises and individual
industrial and commercial households would be levied half of the resource tax (excluding water
resources tax), urban maintenance and construction tax, real estate tax, urban land use tax, stamp tax
(excluding securities transaction stamp tax), farmland occupation tax and education surcharge, and local
education surcharge. Subsidiaries of the Company, including Xi‘an Haitian Wireless System Equipment
Co., Ltd., Xi"an Haitian Communication System Engineering Co., Ltd., Haitian Antenna (Shanghai)
International Trade Co., Ltd., Yixian Hailan Natural Agricultural Development Co., Ltd., Xi‘an Haitian
Marine Technologies Co., Ltd., Xi’an Haitian Aviation & Aerospace Technologies Co., Ltd., Beijing Hailan
Taihang Technologies Development Co., Ltd. (deregistered during the year) and Wuxi Shanshui Haitian
Network Technologies Co., Ltd. (deregistered during the year), are all eligible for this preferential tax
policy.
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V. EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As to the data of the financial statements disclosed below, unless otherwise specified, “opening” means
1 January 2024; “closing” means 31 December 2024; “the year” means the year from 1 January to 31
December 2024, the “last year” means the year from 1 January to 31 December 2023. The currency unit is in
RMB.

1. Cash at bank and on hand
(1) Items of cash at bank and on hand

Closing Opening
Items balance balance
Cash on hand 4,520.51 4,739.38
Bank deposits 2,858,141.20 1,656,447.97
Other monetary capitals 272,175.95 330,135.60

Total

3,134,837.66

1,991,322.95

Of which: Total amount deposited overseas 41,636.93 63,136.78

The total amount deposited overseas by the Group is RMB41,636.93, among which, the total
amount deposited overseas by the Company was RMB2.78 and the total amount deposited
overseas by Haitian Hong Kong, a subsidiary of the Company, was RMB41,634.15. There is no
restriction on repatriation of the above-mentioned funds deposited overseas.

2) Use of restricted cash at bank and on hand

Closing Opening
Items balance balance
Margin account 271,892.95 240,954.42
Others 1,814.16 1,607.90
Total 273,707.11 242,562.32
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V. EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.

(1

(2)

Notes receivable

Notes receivable presented by type

Closing Opening
Items balance balance
Commercial acceptance bill 0.00 100,000.00
Total 0.00 100,000.00

Notes receivable presented by bad debts provision method

Book balance

Closing balance
Provision for bad debts

Proportion Provision

Type Amount (%) Amount ratio (%) Book value
Provision for bad debts

by single item 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Provision for bad debts

by portfolio 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Of which: Aging portfolio 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Total 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

(Table continued)

Book balance

Opening balance
Provision for bad debts

Proportion Provision

Type Amount (%) Amount ratio (%) Book value
Provision for bad debts

by single item 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Provision for bad debts

by portfolio 100,000.00 100.00 3,000.00 3.00 97,000.00
Of which: Aging portfolio 100,000.00 100.00 3,000.00 3.00 97,000.00
Total 100,000.00 100.00 3,000.00 = 97,000.00
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V. EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2. Notes receivable (Continued)
2) Notes receivable presented by bad debts provision method (Continued)
1) Provision for bad debts of notes receivable by portfolio

Aging portfolio

Closing balance

Provision for Provision

Name Book balance bad debts ratio (%)
Within 1 year

(including 1 year) 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total 0.00 0.00 0.00

3) Provision, recovery or write-back for bad debts of notes receivable for the year

Amount of changes for the year

Opening Recovered or  Charge-off Closing
Type balance Provision  written-back  or write-off Others balance
Provision for bad debts 3,000.00 -3,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Total 3,000.00 -3,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

(4) Pledged notes receivable at the end of the year
None.

(5) Notes receivable that have been endorsed or discounted at the end of the year and have
not yet matured on the balance sheet date

None.

(6) Notes receivable actually written off in the year
None.

(7)  Aging of notes receivable at the end of the year
The balance of the Group’s year-end notes receivable is nil.
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EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3.

(1

(2)

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable presented by aging
The aging analysis of accounts receivable (including accounts receivable by related parties) based
on transaction date is as follows:

Closing Opening

Aging book balance book balance
Within 1 year (including 1 year) 10,650,310.00 5,272,166.72
1-2 years 945,532.95 2,082,166.12
2-3 years 1,333,404.52 941,433.02
Over 3 years 1,877,008.82 1,555,575.80
Of which: 3-4 years 381,433.02 60,000.00
4-5 years 0.00 0.00

Over 5 years 1,495,575.80 1,495,575.80

Total 14,806,256.29 9,851,341.66

The Group’s sales in Mainland China are conducted on credit terms, generally granting customers
a payment period of 30 to 90 days.

Accounts receivable presented by bad debts provision method

Closing balance

Book balance Provision for bad debts
Proportion Provision

Type Amount (%) Amount ratio (%) Book value
Provision for bad debts

by single item 1,353,385.32 9.14 1,353,385.32 100.00 0.00
Provision for bad debts

by portfolio 13,452,870.97 90.86 1,063,764.83 7.91 12,389,106.14

Of which: Aging portfolio 12,708,931.80 85.84 1,063,764.83 8.37 11,645,166.97

Low-risk
portfolio 743,939.17 5.02 0.00 0.00 743,939.17
Total 14,806,256.29 100.00 2,417,150.15 — 12,389,106.14

(Table continued)

Opening balance

Book balance Provision for bad debts
Proportion Provision

Type Amount (%) Amount ratio (%) Book value
Provision for bad debts

by single item 1,298,167.80 13.18 1,298,167.80 100.00 0.00
Provision for bad debts

by portfolio 8,553,173.86 86.82 758,265.94 8.87 7,794,907.92

Of which: Aging portfolio 7,746,565.46 78.63 758,265.94 9.79 6,988,299.52

Low-risk
portfolio 806,608.40 8.19 0.00 0.00 806,608.40
Total 9,851,341.66 100.00 2,056,433.74 — 7,794,907.92
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V. EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. Accounts receivable (Continued)
2) Accounts receivable presented by bad debts provision method (Continued)
7) Provision for bad debts of accounts receivable by single item
Opening
balance Closing balance

Book  Provision for Book  Provision for Provision Reason for
Name balance bad debts balance bad debts ratio (%) provision

Shaanxi Yijia
Haosen Industrial Expected
Development Co., to be
Ltd. 1,298,167.80  1,298,167.80  1,298,167.80  1,298,167.80 100.00  unrecoverable
Expected
to be
-1 0.00 0.00 3,720.00 3,720.00 100.00  unrecoverable
Expected
to be
%*-2 0.00 0.00 735.60 735.60 100.00  unrecoverable
Expected
to be
%-3 0.00 0.00 1,740.00 1,740.00 100.00  unrecoverable
Expected
to be
%-4 0.00 0.00 36,393.00 36,393.00 100.00  unrecoverable
Expected
to be
-5 0.00 0.00 12,588.92 12,588.92 100.00  unrecoverable
Expected
to be
-6 0.00 0.00 40.00 40.00 100.00  unrecoverable
Total 1,298,167.80  1,298,167.80  1,353,385.32  1,353,385.32 100.00 =
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V. EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. Accounts receivable (Continued)
2) Accounts receivable presented by bad debts provision method (Continued)

2) Provision for bad debts of accounts receivable by portfolio

Aging portfolio

Closing balance

Provision for Provision
Aging Book balance bad debts ratio (%)
Within 1 year

(including 1 year) 9,959,977.83 298,799.34 3.00
1-2 years 889,130.95 88,913.09 10.00
2-3 years 1,297,011.52 259,402.30 20.00
3-4 years 365,403.50 219,242.10 60.00
4-5 years 0.00 0.00 0.00
Over 5 years 197,408.00 197,408.00 100.00
Total 12,708,931.80 1,063,764.83 =
Other portfolio
Closing balance

Provision for Provision
Portfolio name Book balance bad debts ratio (%)
Low-risk portfolio 743,939.17 0.00 0.00
Total 743,939.17 0.00 0.00
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V. EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. Accounts receivable (Continued)

3) Provision, recovery or write-back for bad debts of accounts receivable for the year

Amount of changes for the year

Opening Recovered or  Charge-off Closing
Type balance Provision  written-back  or write-off Others balance
Provision for bad debts 2,056,433.74 360,716.41 0.00 0.00 0.00  2,417,150.15
Total 2,056,433.74 360,716.41 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,417,150.15

(4)  Account receivables actually written off during the year

None.

(5)  Accounts receivable of top 5 debtors by closing balance

The aggregate amount of the accounts receivable of top 5 debtors by closing balance for the
year amounted to RMB11,212,885.45, accounting for 75.73% of the balance of total accounts
receivable as at the end of the year. The aggregate balance of corresponding provision for bad

debts as at the end of the year amounted to RMB1,831,988.86.

4. Advanced payments
(1)  Aging of advanced payments

Closing balance

Opening balance

Proportion Proportion
Items Amount (%) Amount (%)
Within 1 year 45,845.67 50.42 101,563.07 35.12
1-2 years 6,005.81 6.61 137,308.95 47.48
2-3 years 5,780.00 6.36 0.00 0.00
Over 3 years 33,289.27 36.61 50,300.00 17.40
Total 90,920.75 100.00 289,172.02 100.00

(2) Advanced payments of top 5 recipients by closing balance

The aggregate amount of advanced payment of top 5 recipients by closing balance for the year
amounted to RMB58,176.94, accounting for 64.00% of the balance of total advanced payments

as at the end of the year.
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EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Other receivables

5.

5.1

Items

Closing balance Opening balance

Interest receivable
Dividends receivable
Other receivables

0.00
0.00
1,111,606.65

0.00
0.00
1,390,127.45

Total

1,111,606.65

1,390,127.45

Other receivables

(1

(2)

Classification of other receivables by nature

Closing book Opening book
Nature of fund balance balance
Current accounts 684,731.50 562,550.85
Deposits and security fund 560,521.05 761,976.85
Provisional deposit 115,500.39 176,405.32

Total

1,360,752.94

1,500,933.02

Other receivables presented by aging

Closing book Opening book

Aging balance balance
Within 1 year (including 1 year) 35,756.97 740,379.09
1-2 years 645,952.11 0.00
2-3 years 0.00 582,021.60
Over 3 years 679,043.86 178,532.33
Of which: 3-4 years 580,000.00 109,158.02
4-5 years 36,480.72 59,563.14

Over 5 years 62,563.14 9,811.17

Total

1,360,752.94

1,500,933.02
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V. EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

5.1 Other receivables (Continued)

3) Other receivables presented by bad debt provision method

Closing balance

Book balance Provisions for bad debts

Proportion Provision
Type Amount (%) Amount ratio (%) Book value
Provision for bad debts
by single item 113,519.78 8.34 113,519.78 100.00 0.00
Provisions for bad debts
by portfolio 1,247,233.16 91.66 135,626.51 10.87 1,111,606.65
Of which: Aging portfolio 571,211.72 4198 135,626.51 23.74  435,585.21
Low-risk portfolio 676,021.44 49.68 0.00 0.00 676,021.44
Total 1,360,752.94 100.00 249,146.29 - 1,111,606.65
(Continued table)
Opening balance
Book balance Provisions for bad debts
Proportion Provision
Type Amount (%) Amount ratio (%) Book value
Provision for bad debts
by single item 49,563.14 3.30 49,563.14 100.00 0.00
Provisions for bad debts
by portfolio 1,451,369.88 96.70 61,242.43 4.22 1,390,127.45
Of which: Aging portfolio 498,280.72 33.20 61,242.43 12.29  437,038.29
Low-risk portfolio 953,089.16 63.50 0.00 0.00 953,089.16
Total 1,500,933.02 100.00  110,805.57 - 1,390,127.45
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V. EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
5.1 Other receivables (Continued)
3) Other receivables presented by bad debt provision method (Continued)
7) Provision for bad debts of other receivables by single item

Opening balance Closing balance

2)

Book Provisions for Book Provisions for Provision ratio Reason for
Name balance bad debts balance bad debts (%) provision
Xi'an New Haitian
Communication Expected to be
Co., Ltd. 49,563.14 49,563.14 49,563.14 49,563.14 100.00  unrecoverable
Dongguan Dalang
Shenghe Plastic
Products Factory*
(REMABBN Expected to be
ERE G 0.00 0.00 20,300.00 20,300.00 100.00  unrecoverable
Changzhou Qisheng
Mould Co., Ltd.*
(EMMEBER Expected to be
BRRAE) 0.00 0.00 43,656.64 43,656.64 100.00  unrecoverable
Total 49,563.14 49,563.14 113,519.78 113,519.78 - -

Provision for bad debts of other receivables by portfolio

Aging portfolio

Closing balance

Provisions for Provision
Aging Book balance bad debts ratio (%)
Within 1 year (inclusive) 314,731.00 9,441.93 3.00
1-2 years 70,000.00 7,000.00 10.00
2-3 years 0.00 0.00 0.00
3-4 years 150,000.00 90,000.00 60.00
4-5 years 36,480.72 29,184.58 80.00
Total 571,211.72 135,626.51 =
Other portfolio

Closing balance

Provisions for Provision
Portfolio name Book balance bad debts ratio (%)
Low-risk portfolio 676,021.44 0.00 0.00
Total 676,021.44 0.00 0.00

*  For identification purposes only
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1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

V. EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
5.1 Other receivables (Continued)
3) Other receivables presented by bad debt provision method (Continued)
3) Provisions for bad debts for other receivables are made according to the general expected
credit loss mode/

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime Lifetime

Expected expected expected

credit losses  credit losses  credit losses

over the next (not credit (credit
Provisions for bad debts 12 months impaired) impaired) Total
Balance at 1 January 2024 0.00 61,242.43 49,563.14 110,805.57

Book balance at 1 January 2024

for the year - - - -
~Transfer to stage 2 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
-Transfer to stage 3 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
—-Written back to stage 2 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
-Written back to stage 1 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Provision for the year 9,441.93 64,942.15 63,956.64 138,340.72
Written-back for the year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Charge-off for the year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Written-off for the year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Other changes 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Balance at 31 December 2024 9,441.93 126,184.58 113,519.78 249,146.29

(4) Provisions for bad debts for other receivables made, recovered or reversed for the year

Amounts of changes for the year

Recovered
Opening or written-  Charge-off Closing
Type balance Provision back or write-off Others balance
Provisions for bad debts 110,805.57 138,340.72 0.00 0.00 0.00  249,146.29
Total 110,805.57 138,340.72 0.00 0.00 0.00 249,146.29

(5) Other receivables actually written off during the year
None.
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1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

V. EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
5.1 Other receivables (Continued)
(6) Other receivables of top 5 debtors by closing balance

Proportion of

total closing Provisions
balance  for bad debts
Closing of other Closing
Name of unit Nature of receivables balance  Aging receivables (%) balance
Yi County Lianggang Town Dailan Current accounts 336,480.72  Within 24.73 128,584.58
2 years,
3-5 years
China Mobile Communication Group ~ Deposits and security 280,000.00  3-4 years 20.58 0.00
Gansu Co. Ltd. fund
People’s Court of Chang'an District of ~ Current accounts 234,731.00  Within 1 year 17.25 7,041.93
Xi‘an City
China Mobile Group Sichuan Co., Ltd. Performance security 150,000.00  3-4 years 11.02 0.00
fund
China Telecom Corporation Limited ~ Performance security
Chongging Branch fund 84,000.00 1-2 years 6.17 0.00
Total - 1,085211.72 - 79.75 135,626.51

(7) Reported in other receivables due to centralized fund management
None.

(8) Employee Loans Receivables
None.
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V.
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EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Inventories

6.

(1

Inventory category

Closing balance
Provision for

inventory
Items Book balance impairment Book value
Raw materials 1,288,885.71 334,050.97 954,834.74
Goods in process 0.00 0.00 0.00
Inventory goods 6,647,744.88 1,358,377.87 5,289,367.01
Goods delivered 3,837,316.36 0.00 3,837,316.36

Total

11,773,946.95

1,692,428.84

10,081,518.11

(Table continued)

Opening balance
Provision for

inventory
Items Book balance impairment Book value
Raw materials 942,002.97 396,797.55 545,205.42
Goods in process 17,390.58 0.00 17,390.58
Inventory goods 9,020,880.19 1,574,034.36 7,446,845.83
Goods delivered 3,720,768.51 0.00 3,720,768.51

Total

13,701,042.25

1,970,831.91

11,730,210.34




Notes to the Financial Statements

1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

V. EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
6. Inventories (Continued)
2) Provision for inventory impairment

Increase for the year Decrease for the year
Opening Reversal Closing
Items balance Provision Others or resale Others balance
Raw materials 396,797.55 116,539.68 0.00 179,286.26 0.00 334,050.97
Inventory goods 1,574,034.36 148,162.61 0.00 363,819.10 0.00 1,358,377.87
Total 1,970,831.91  264,702.29 0.00 543,105.36 0.00 1,692,428.84
7. Other current assets
Closing Opening
Items balance balance
Input tax pending deduction 9,432.86 240,720.96
Prepayment of income tax 601.22 0.00
Total 10,034.08 240,720.96
8. Fixed assets
Closing Opening
Items balance balance
Fixed assets 3,075,813.05 4,783,795.07
Disposal of fixed assets 0.00 0.00
Total 3,075,813.05 4,783,795.07
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1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

V. EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

8.1 Fixed assets
(&) Fixed assets

Office
Houses &  Machinery and  Transportation  equipment and
Items buildings equipment vehicles others Total
I.  Original book value
1. Opening balance 2,283,510.82 6,941,286.53 3,771,518.21 4,984,396.49 17,980,712.05
2. Increase for the year 0.00 -15,486.72 0.00 295,999.13 280,512.41
(1) Purchase 0.00 139,380.54 0.00 141,131.87 280,512.41
(2) Other increases 0.00 -154,867.26 0.00 154,867.26 0.00
3. Decrease for the year 0.00 129,398.23 1,880,942.13 1,480,298.64 3,490,639.00
(1) Disposal or
scrapping 0.00 129,398.23 1,880,942.13 1,480,298.64 3,490,639.00
4. Closing balance 2,283,510.82 6,796,401.58 1,890,576.08 3,800,096.98 14,770,585.46
Il.  Accumulated depreciation
1. Opening balance 619,983.72 2,786,749.13 3,542,668.50 4,102,216.49 11,051,617.84
2. Increase for the year 108,466.94 432,377.70 5,041.45 624,666.13 1,170,552.22
(1) Provision 108,466.94 486,323.13 5,041.45 570,720.70 1,170,552.22
(2) Other increases 0.00 -53,945.43 0.00 53,945.43 0.00
3. Decrease for the year 0.00 31,756.71 1,689,790.16 1,459,922.79 3,181,469.66
(1) Disposal or
scrapping 0.00 31,756.71 1,689,790.16 1,459,922.79 3,181,469.66
4, Closing balance 728,450.66 3,187,370.12 1,857,919.79 3,266,959.83 9,040,700.40
Ill. Provision for impairment
1. Opening balance 0.00 2,145,299.14 0.00 0.00 2,145,299.14
2. Increase for the year 0.00 0.00 0.00 508,772.87 508,772.87
(1) Provision 0.00 0.00 0.00 508,772.87 508,772.87
3. Decrease for the year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
4, Closing balance 0.00 2,145,299.14 0.00 508,772.87 2,654,072.01
IV. Book value
1. Closing book value 1,555,060.16 1,463,732.32 32,656.29 24,364.28 3,075,813.05
2. Opening book value 1,663,527.10 2,009,238.26 228,849.71 882,180.00 4,783,795.07
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1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

V. EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
8.1 Fixed assets (Continued)
2) Temporarily idle fixed assets

Original Accumulated  Impairment

Items book value depreciation provision Book value Remarks
Machinery and equipment 2,684,503.13 474,346.98  2,145,299.14 64,857.01 Idle
Transportation equipment 6,637.17 6,305.31 0.00 331.86 Idle
Office equipment and others 1,406,929.89 880,190.23 508,772.87 17,966.79 Idle
Total 4,098,070.19  1,360,842.52  2,654,072.01 83,155.66 -

(3) Fixed assets leased out through operating leases

Closing
Items book value
Houses & buildings 1,555,060.16
Machinery and equipment 343,872.23
Office equipment and others 0.00
Total 1,898,932.39

(4) Fixed assets without title certificates
None.

(5) Impairment test of fixed assets
The molds of Suzhou Haitian New Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company,
are idle and judged to be unable to be used for the production of existing products. Therefore, a
provision for impairment of fixed assets of RMB508,772.87 is made in full based on the net asset
value.
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V.

EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

9"

Houses &
Items buildings Land use right Total
I.  Original book value
1. Opening balance 3,007,032.93 337,714.80 3,344,747.73
2. Increase for the year 0.00 0.00 0.00
(1) Lease 0.00 0.00 0.00
3. Decrease for the year 0.00 0.00 0.00
(1) Disposal 0.00 0.00 0.00
(2) Others 0.00 0.00 0.00
4. Closing balance 3,007,032.93 337,714.80 3,344,747.73
Il. Accumulated depreciation
1. Opening balance 2,315,895.35 99,098.18 2,414,993.53
2. Increase for the year 497,455.51 18,589.80 516,045.31
(1) Provision 497,455.51 18,589.80 516,045.31
3. Decrease for the year 0.00 0.00 0.00
(1) Disposal 0.00 0.00 0.00
4. Closing balance 2,813,350.86 117,687.98 2,931,038.84
Ill. Provision for impairment
1. Opening balance 0.00 0.00 0.00
2. Increase for the year 0.00 0.00 0.00
3. Decrease for the year 0.00 0.00 0.00
4. Closing balance 0.00 0.00 0.00
IV. Book value
1. Closing book value 193,682.07 220,026.82 413,708.89
2. Opening book value 691,137.58 238,616.62 929,754.20
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1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

V. EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
10. Intangible assets
(1) Breakdown of intangible assets

Prototype in

self- Non-patented
Items development Patent technology Software Others Total
I Original book value
1. Opening balance 7,377,537.78 102,220,268.51 17,589,612.92  1,950,959.45 250,000.00 129,388,378.66
2. Increase for the year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
(1) Purchase 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
3. Decrease for the year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 250,000.00 250,000.00
(1) Disposal 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 250,000.00 250,000.00
4, Closing balance 7,377,537.78 102,220,268.51 17,589,612.92  1,950,959.45 0.00 129,138,378.66
IIl.  Accumulated
amortisation
1. Opening balance 2,086,031.76  67,575,147.31 17,589,612.92  1,934,553.23 175,925.94 89,361,271.16
2. Increase for the year 0.00  5,377,055.08 0.00 14,820.00 0.00 5,391,875.08
(1) Provision 0.00 5,377,055.08 0.00 14,820.00 0.00 5,391,875.08
3. Decrease for the year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 175,925.94 175,925.94
(1) Disposal 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 175,925.94 175,925.94
4. Closing balance 2,086,031.76  72,952,202.39 17,589,612.92  1,949,373.23 0.00 94,577,220.30
Il Provision for
impairment
1. Opening balance 5,291,506.02  9,943,002.55 0.00 0.00 0.00 15,234,508.57
2. Increase for the year 0.00  2,895,063.57 0.00 0.00 0.00  2,895,063.57
(1) Provision 0.00  2,895,063.57 0.00 0.00 0.00  2,895,063.57
3. Decrease for the year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
(1) Disposal 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
4. Closing balance 5,291,506.02 12,838,066.12 0.00 0.00 0.00 18,129,572.14
IV.  Book value
1. Closing book value 0.00 16,430,000.00 0.00 1,586.22 0.00 16,431,586.22
2. Opening book value 0.00 24,702,118.65 0.00 16,406.22 74,074.06 24,792,598.93
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V. EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

10. Intangible assets (Continued)
2) Impairment testing of intangible assets

The number

Basis for
determining
Key Key the key

of years in parameters for ~ parameters  parameters

Recoverable  Impairment  the forecast

the forecast  of the stable  of the stable

ltems Book value amount amount period period period period
11 patented technologies

of Suzhou Haitian 19,325,063.57 16,430,000.00  2,895,063.57 5 years 15.43% / /
Total 19,325,063.57  16,430,000.00  2,895,063.57 - - -

Note: During the year, the Company engaged China United Assets Appraisal Group (Shaanxi) Co., Ltd.* (&
& ETHER (B BRAF) to evaluate the recoverable amount of 11 patented technologies
owned by its wholly-owned subsidiary Suzhou Haitian New Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd. and issue
the evaluation report No. 1083 of China United (Shaanxi) Evaluation [2025]. The original value of the
11 patented technologies was RMB63,600,000, the net book value was RMB19,325,100, and the

estimated recoverable amount was RMB16,430,000.

11. Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities
(1) Deferred tax assets not offset

Closing balance

Opening balance

Deductible Deferred Deductible Deferred
temporary income tax temporary income tax
Items differences assets differences assets
Asset impairment provision 131,735.33 6,586.77 0.00 0.00
Lease liabilities 145,408.26 7,270.41 0.00 0.00
Total 277,143.59 13,857.18 0.00 0.00

2) Deferred tax liabilities not offset

Closing balance

Opening balance

Deductible Deferred Deductible Deferred
temporary income tax temporary income tax
Items differences assets differences assets
Right-of-use assets 220,026.82 11,001.34 0.00 0.00
Total 220,026.82 11,001.34 0.00 0.00

*  For identification purposes only
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V. EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
11. Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities (Continued)
3) Deferred income tax assets or liabilities presented on a net basis after offsetting

Closing Opening

Closing offset balance of Opening balance of

amount of deferred offset amount deferred

deferred income tax of deferred income tax

income tax assets or income tax assets or

assets and liabilities after assets and liabilities after

Items liabilities offsetting liabilities offsetting
Deferred income tax assets 0.00 0.00 33,652.38 0.00
Deferred income tax liabilities 0.00 0.00 40,011.65 6,359.27

(4) Breakdown of unrecognized deferred income tax assets

Closing Opening

Items balance balance
Deductible temporary differences 40,310,431.87 35,541,654.93
Deductible losses 172,147,758.37 172,754,712.71
Total 212,458,190.24 208,296,367.64
(5) Deductible losses of unrecognised deferred income tax assets expiring in the following

years

Closing Opening

Year amount amount
2024 — 14,424,170.58
2025 19,493,714.40 19,846,658.79
2026 21,709,851.02 21,759,465.30
2027 21,080,389.88 21,125,400.04
2028 20,374,274.49 19,801,496.08
2029 20,232,104.46 12,131,119.14
2030 13,436,339.49 13,436,339.49
2031 11,562,971.09 11,562,971.09
2032 20,162,062.83 20,162,062.83
2033 19,596,142.25 18,505,029.37
2034 4,499,908.46 0.00
Total 172,147,758.37 172,754,712.71
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V. EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

12. Other non-current assets

Closing balance
Provision for

Items Book balance impairment Book value
Advanced payments for purchase of land

and above-ground attachments 18,546,000.00 15,299,797.77 3,246,202.23
Total 18,546,000.00 15,299,797.77 3,246,202.23

(Table continued)

Opening balance
Provision for

Items Book balance impairment Book value
Advanced payments for purchase of land

and above-ground attachments 18,546,000.00 14,020,776.00 4,525,224.00
Total 18,546,000.00 14,020,776.00 4,525,224.00

Note: Details of provision for impairment of advanced payments for purchase of land

attachments for the year are in “Note XVI. 1".
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EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

13.

14.

Assets with restricted ownership or use rights

Closing
Restriction Restriction
Items Book balance Book value type situation
Monetary funds 273,707.11 273,707.11 Performance Restricted use
security fund, rights
Freeze
Notes receivable 0.00 0.00 - -
Total 273,707.11 273,707.11 = =
(Table continued)
Opening
Restriction Restriction
Items Book balance Book value type situation
Monetary funds 242,562.32 242,562.32 Performance Restricted use
security fund, rights
Freeze
Notes receivable 100,000.00 100,000.00 Endorsement Restricted use
rights
Total 342,562.32 342,562.32 = e
Short-term borrowings
(1)  Types of short-term borrowings
Closing Opening
Types of borrowings balance balance
Secured borrowings 3,506,533.33 3,504,491.67
Guaranteed borrowings 0.00 1,266,668.00

Total

3,506,533.33

4,771,159.67

2) Overdue short-term borrowings

None.
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V. EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
15.  Accounts payable
(&) Presentation of accounts payable

Closing Opening
Items balance balance
Trade balance 9,468,303.22 4,878,660.86
Testing service payment 1,939,639.03 2,104,627.93
Total 11,407,942.25 6,983,288.79

(2) Significant accounts payable with aging of over 1 year or are overdue

Reason for

Closing unsettlement or

Entity name balance carrying forward

Kaiyuan Securities Co., Ltd. 1,226,415.09 Unsettled

Shenzhen Xinmeitel Electronics Co., Ltd. 950,000.00 Unsettled
Changshu High-tech Industrial City Construction and

Development Co., Ltd. 540,000.00 Unsettled

Total 2,716,415.09 -

(3) Accounts payable presented by aging
The aging analysis of accounts payable (including accounts payable by related parties) based on
transaction date is as follows:

Aging Closing balance Opening balance
Within 1 year 7,247,147.64 2,958,118.74
1-2 years 988,928.73 2,727,591.36
2-3 years 2,215,255.19 1,094,525.00
Over 3 years 956,610.69 203,053.69
Total 11,407,942.25 6,983,288.79
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EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
16. Advanced receipts
(1) Presentation of advanced receipts

Closing Opening
Item balance balance
Advance rent payment 0.00 142,680.00
Total 0.00 142,680.00
(2) Important advances aged more than 1 year or overdue
None.
17.  Contract liabilities
(1) Contract liabilities
Closing Opening
Item balance balance
Loan 102,191.16 61,327.43
Total 102,191.16 61,327.43

(2) Significant contract liabilities aged more than 1 year
None.

(3) Significant changes in the book value during the year
None.
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V.

EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Payroll payable
Classification of payroll payable

18.

(1

(2)

Opening Increase for Decrease for Closing

Items balance the year the year balance

Short-term remunerations 12,092,017.74 4,094,309.20 4,446,037.20 11,740,289.74
Post-employment benefits —

defined contribution plans 6,563.10 416,691.14 423,254.24 0.00

Dismissal benefits 489,305.31 17,030.95 47,260.53 459,075.73

Total

12,587,886.15

4,528,031.29

4,916,551.97

12,199,365.47

Short-term remunerations

Opening Increase for Decrease for Closing
Items balance the year the year balance
Wages, bonuses, allowances and
subsidies 8,586,459.66 3,660,099.82 4,133,996.83 8,112,562.65
Staff welfare expenses 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Social insurance premiums 28,894.04 219,729.38 222,330.49 26,292.93
Of which: Medical insurance
premiums 28,756.49 212,904.34 215,609.40 26,051.43
Work-related injury
insurance premiums 137.55 6,825.04 6,721.09 241.50
Maternity insurance
premiums 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Housing provident fund 316,390.00 214,480.00 76,450.00 454,420.00
Labor union expenditures and
staff education funds 3,160,274.04 0.00 13,259.88 3,147,014.16

Total

12,092,017.74

4,094,309.20

4,446,037.20

11,740,289.74
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V.

Notes to the Financial Statements

1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

18.

19.

Payroll payable (Continued)

3) Defined contribution plans
The Group participates in social insurance plans established by government agencies as required.
According to the plans, the Group pays contributions to these schemes in accordance with the
relevant regulations of the local government. In addition to the above payment of contributions,
the Group no longer undertakes further payment obligations. The corresponding expenditures
are charged to the current profits and losses or related asset cost when incurred.

The Group shall make the following payments to the endowment insurance and unemployment
insurance plans as follows:

Opening Increase for Decrease for Closing

Items balance the year the year balance

Basic endowment insurance 6,288.00 398,806.05 405,094.05 0.00
Unemployment insurance

premiums 275.10 17,885.09 18,160.19 0.00

Total 6,563.10 416,691.14 423,254.24 0.00

The Group shall pay RMB416,691.14 (2023: RMB1,041,546.12) to the defined contribution plans
participated in the year. As at 31 December 2024, The relevant contribution payables of the
Group have been paid during the reporting period.

For each of the two financial years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024, there was no forfeited
contribution (by employers on behalf of employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in
such contributions) under the defined contribution plans of the Group which may be used by the
Group to reduce the existing level of contributions.

Taxes payable

Closing Opening
Items balance balance
VAT 2,589,977.58 1,995,005.97
Stamp duty 86,014.12 87,634.11
Personal income tax 29,584.43 56,511.97
Corporate income tax 14,271.25 0.00
Urban maintenance and construction tax 282.44 293.19
Education surcharge 169.47 175.91
Local education surcharge 112.98 117.28
Other taxes 115,703.02 115,703.02

Total

2,836,115.29

2,255,441.45
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

V.

EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Other payables

20.

20.1

Closing Opening
Items balance balance
Interest payable 0.00 0.00
Dividend payable 0.00 0.00

Other payables

55,922,400.65

51,838,968.21

Total

55,922,400.65

51,838,968.21

Other payables

(1)

(2)

Classification of other payables by nature

Nature of fund

Closing
balance

Opening
balance

Current accounts of related parties
Current accounts

31,485,220.28
23,422,730.89

26,767,850.42
23,944,734.92

Security fund and deposit 518,500.00 634,197.61
Withholding payment 307,943.97 309,167.77
Others 188,005.51 183,017.49
Total 55,922,400.65 51,838,968.21

Significant other payables with aging of over 1 year or overdue

Entity name

Closing
balance

Reason for
unsettlement or
carrying forward

Guangzhou Liuchaosong Venture Capital Partnership

(Limited Partnership)

Shanghai Gaoxiang Investment Management
Co., Ltd.

Chen Ji

Yu Tingting

Xiao Bing

Shanghai Hongzhen Ditong Asset Management
Co., Ltd.

Transportation allowance for directors and
supervisors

Luzhou Lingpao Industrial Development Co., Ltd.

(EMNEREXZERERAD)
Jingjiu Investment (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.

12,000,000.00
8,655,000.00
7,992,077.64
7,500,000.00
7,088,385.80
2,000,000.00
578,320.00

500,000.00
500,000.00

Unpaid
Unpaid
Unpaid
Unpaid
Unpaid
Unpaid
Unpaid

Unpaid
Unpaid

Total

46,813,783.44
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

V. EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
21.  Non-current liabilities due within one year

Closing Opening
Item balance balance
Lease liabilities due within one year 237,037.37 451,080.35
Total 237,037.37 451,080.35
22.  Other current liabilities
Closing Opening
Items balance balance
Output tax to be reversed 13,284.84 7,972.57
Notes receivable not derecognized 0.00 100,000.00
Total 13,284.84 107,972.57
23. Lease liabilities
Closing Opening
Amount categories balance balance
Lease payable 483,072.83 965,315.38
Less: Unrecognized financing charges 100,627.20 144,073.60
Portion due within one year 237,037.37 451,080.35
Total 145,408.26 370,161.43
The carrying amounts of the above lease liabilities shall
be repaid within the following periods:
Within one year 237,037.37 451,080.35
Over one year but not more than two years after the balance
sheet date 0.00 236,783.13
Over two years but not more than five years after the balance
sheet date 78,298.95 0.00
Over five years after the balance sheet date 67,109.31 133,378.30
Less: Lease liabilities due within one year under current
liabilities 237,037.37 451,080.35
Lease liabilities under non-current liabilities 145,408.26 370,161.43
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

V.

EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

24,

24.1

24.2

Long-term payables

Closing Opening
Type balance balance
Long-term payables 10,377,094.15 9,986,815.75

Total

10,377,094.15

9,986,815.75

Classification of Long-term payables by nature

Closing Opening
Type balance balance
Long-term borrowings 10,377,094.15 9,986,815.75

Total

10,377,094.15

9,986,815.75

Note: From March 2023 to August 2023, Mr. Xiao Liangyong (immediate family member of Xiao Bing) successively
provided loans to the Company with a total amount of RMB9,756,960.00, with a loan period of 3 years, an
annual interest rate of 4%, and a one-time repayment of principal and interest on the date of maturity.

Analysis of maturity date of long-term payables

Closing Opening
Type of payables balance balance
Borrowing principal 9,756,960.00 9,756,960.00
Borrowing interest 620,134.15 229,855.75

Total

10,377,094.15

9,986,815.75

The carrying amount of the above payables shall be
repaid within the following periods:

Within a year

Over one year but not more than two years after the balance
sheet date

Over two years but not more than five years after the balance
sheet date

Over five years after the balance sheet date

Less: Long-term payables due within one year under
current liabilities

Payables under non-current liabilities

0.00

10,377,094.15

0.00
0.00

0.00
10,377,094.15

0.00

0.00

9,986,815.75
0.00

0.00
9,986,815.75
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V.

Share capital

Notes to the Financial Statements

Increase/decrease for the year (+/-)

1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Transfer of
Opening  Issuance of provident fund Closing

Items balance new share  Bonus share to shares Others Sub-total balance
Xi'an Tian An Corporate Management

and Consulting Co., Ltd. 32,836,363.70 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 32836,363.70
Shanghai Gaoxiang Investment

Management Co., Ltd. 25,484,480.40 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00  25,484,480.40
Xi'an Xiao's Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd.  15,746,869.80 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00  15,746,869.80
Xi'an International Medical

Investment Co., Ltd. 10,000,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00  10,000,000.00
Shenzhen Huitai Investment

Development Co., Ltd. 7,506,470.60 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 000  7,506,470.60
Xi'an Haorun Investment Co., Ltd. 7,000,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00  7,000,000.00
Chen Ren 5,700,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 000  5,700,000.00
Beijing Holdings Investment

Management Co., Ltd. 5407,794.10 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 000  5407,794.10
Jin Rongfei 5,000,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00  5,000,000.00
Zhang Jiandong 2,000,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00  2,000,000.00
Shaanxi Yinji Investment Ltd. 2,000,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00  2,000,000.00
Shanghai Ruikou Trade Co., Ltd. 1,850,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 000  1,850,000.00
Shanghai Hongzhen Ningshang

Investment Management Partnership

(Limited Partnership) 1,800,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,800,000.00
Jiao Chengyi 1,094,303.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00  1,094,303.00
Liao Kang 910,147.80 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 910,147.80
Ma Xiuling 800,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 800,000.00
Song Xiangyu 50,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 50,000.00
Sub-total of domestic shares 125,186,429.40 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 125,186,429.40
Xiao Bing 1,000,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00  1,000,000.00
Chen Ji 977,100.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 977,100.00
Public 62,599,370.60 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 000  62,599,370.60
Sub-total of H shares 64,576,470.60 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00  64,576,470.60
Total 189,762,900.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 189,762,900.00

Annual Report 2024 157



Notes to the Financial Statements

1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

V. EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

26. Capital reserves

Opening Increase for Decrease for Closing
Items balance the year the year balance
Share premium 155,712,767.48 0.00 0.00 155,712,767.48
Other capital reserves 46,856,278.79 0.00 0.00 46,856,278.79
Total 202,569,046.27 0.00 0.00 202,569,046.27

27.  Surplus reserves

Opening Increase for Decrease for Closing
Items balance the year the year balance
Statutory surplus reserves 16,435,819.34 0.00 0.00 16,435,819.34
Total 16,435,819.34 0.00 0.00 16,435,819.34

28. Undistributed profits
Items The year Last year

Undistributed profits at the end of the previous year

before adjustments

-442,207,777.30  -399,227,694.10

Adjustment of the total amount of undistributed profits at

the beginning of the year (increase +, decrease -)
Undistributed profits at the beginning of the year after

adjustments

0.00 0.00

-442,207,777.30  -399,227,694.10

Add: Net profit attributable to owners of the parent company

for the year

Less: Appropriation of statutory surplus reserves
Withdraw discretionary surplus reserve

Withdraw general risk reserve

Dividends payable on ordinary shares

Dividends on ordinary shares converted into share

capital

-15,882,252.20 -42,980,083.20

0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00

Closing balance of the year

-458,090,029.50  -442,207,777.30

Note: There is no undeclared dividend during the year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

V. EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
29. Operating income, operating costs
(1) Operating income and operating costs

Amount incurred in the year Amount incurred in last year
Items Income Costs Income Costs
Main business 21,187,543.91 13,829,359.73 12,276,698.60 10,315,390.08
Other business 772,598.33 702,339.82 814,769.60 719,025.10
Total 21,960,142.24 14,531,699.55 13,091,468.20 11,034,415.18

(2) Breakdown of operating income and operating costs

Amount incurred in the year Amount incurred in last year
Items Income Costs Income Costs
Type of business
Of which: Sales of antenna
products and provision of
related services 14,308,783.44 7,678,793.51 7,725,160.79 6,106,099.22
Sales of agricultural products 6,877,256.04 6,150,566.22 4,551,537.81 4,209,290.86
Other business 774,102.76 702,339.82 814,769.60 719,025.10
By operating area
Of which: Domestic 21,960,142.24 14,531,699.55 13,091,468.20 11,034,415.18
Overseas 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
By time of goods transfer
Of which: Transfer at a certain
point in time 21,960,142.24 14,531,699.55 13,091,468.20 11,034,415.18
Transfer within a certain
period of time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
By sales channel
Of which: Direct Sales 21,960,142.24 14,531,699.55 13,091,468.20 11,034,415.18
Distribution 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Total 21,960,142.24 14,531,699.55 13,091,468.20 11,034,415.18
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

V. EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

29. Operating income, operating costs (Continued)

3) Information related to performance obligations
Types of
Nature of Whether Amounts that  quality assurance
goods that the Company  the Company  provided by
Time to fulfill the Company s the main is expected the Company
performance Important committed to  responsible to return to and its related
Item obligations payment terms transfer person customers obligations
Order contract  Inspection certificate ~ Payment is made Goods Yes None None

is signed after upon receipt of

unpacking the invoice after
inspection is goods have been
passed inspected and

accepted by both
parties

Total = = =

30. Taxes and surcharges

Amount incurred

Amount incurred

Items in the year in last year
Urban maintenance and construction tax 12,925.53 3,610.85
Stamp duty 8,483.12 13,931.68
Education surcharge 5,797.77 1,653.46
Local education surcharge 3,865.17 1,102.32
Water conservancy fund 3,654.75 1,832.51
Vehicle and vessel use tax 67.20 67.20
Total 34,793.54 22,198.02

31.  Selling expenses

Amount incurred

Amount incurred

Items in the year in last year
Payroll 1,031,536.03 1,689,138.40
Business entertainment expenses 706,806.34 589,907.39
Technical service fees 494,216.23 737,198.25
Promotion and testing charges 458,075.22 586,782.63
Travelling expenses 434,342.89 488,665.55
Office fees 66,604.75 82,002.93
Intermediation fee 36,907.04 72,300.93
Rental fees 35,263.57 0.00
Equipment depreciation expenses 222.47 2,492.03
Advertising expenses 0.00 10,049.46
Others 834.60 0.00
Total 3,264,809.14 4,258,537.57
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

V. EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
32. Administrative expenses
The administrative expenses of the Group for the year include:

Amount incurred Amount incurred
Items in the year in last year
Amortisation of intangible assets 5,391,875.08 8,079,184.05
Payroll 1,957,470.88 5,736,564.18
Intermediation fee 1,801,175.30 1,667,511.82
Auditor’s remunerations 486,491.97 592,677.23
— Audit service fee 471,698.11 576,415.10
— Other service fee 14,793.86 16,262.13
Litigation costs 484,809.00 0.00
Office fees 407,362.86 406,959.37
Business entertainment expenses 346,098.96 556,649.05
Vehicle expenses 328,965.33 282,628.58
Depreciation expenses 325,408.25 158,615.56
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 148,974.81 446,527.48
Utilities 113,485.60 171,796.52
Travelling expenses 94,439.16 367,984.93
Disabled security fund 83,183.91 117,107.66
Expenses of the Board 78,000.00 78,000.00
Property management fee 27,267.05 52,680.70
Communication fee 25,777.04 27,941.45
Transportation charges 1,846.00 5,621.76
Repair fee 0.00 133,180.00
Rental fees 0.00 24,946.77
Others 55,606.90 301,114.66
Total 12,158,238.10 19,207,691.77
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1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

V.

EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

33.

34.

35.

R&D expenses

Amount incurred

Amount incurred

Items in the year in last year
Payroll 942,277.51 3,790,476.71
Material fee 593,491.08 1,070,075.78
Depreciation and amortisation 251,630.60 459,848.29
Office fees 85,054.24 86,910.14
Travelling expenses 56,316.83 213,228.67
Testing charges 25,415.09 20,844.08
Shipping fee 15,710.30 1,407.00
Development service fee 0.00 10,830.00
Others 0.00 3,929.83
Total 1,969,895.65 5,657,550.50

Financial expenses

Amount incurred

Amount incurred

Items in the year in last year
Interest expenses 611,872.83 748,580.76
Less: Interest income 2,988.08 3,260.96
Add: Exchange loss 16,842.92 69,886.79
Less: Exchange gain 10,333.89 362.43
Other expenditure 19,076.08 24,650.54
Total 634,469.86 839,494.70
Other gain

Amount incurred

Amount incurred

Source of other gain in the year in last year
Income tax handling fee refunded 6,399.48 7,921.67
Job stabilization subsidy 4,824.00 0.00
High-tech project recognition subsidy 0.00 100,000.00
Others 7,380.89 0.00
Total 18,604.37 107,921.67
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1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

Notes to the Financial Statements

EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

36.

37.

38.

39.

Investment gain

Amount incurred

Amount incurred

Items in the year in last year
Gain on restructuring of debts 0.00 1,124.00
Total 0.00 1,124.00

Credit impairment loss (“-” for loss)

Amount incurred

Amount incurred

Items in the year in last year
Bad debt loss of notes receivable 3,000.00 -3,000.00
Bad debt loss of accounts receivable -360,716.41 -65,363.72
Bad debt loss of other receivables -138,340.72 -34,847.29
Bad debt loss of advanced payments for purchase of

land and above-ground attachments -1,279,021.77 -4,711,136.44

Total

-1,775,078.90

-4,814,347.45

Assets impairment loss (“-” for loss)

Amount incurred

Amount incurred

Items in the year in last year
Inventory depreciation loss -264,702.29 -652,652.44
Fixed assets impairment loss -508,772.87 0.00
Intangible assets impairment loss -2,895,063.57 -9,943,002.55

Total

-3,668,538.73

-10,595,654.99

Gain from assets disposal (“-” for loss)

Amount

charged to

Amount Amount non-recurrent

incurred incurred profit or loss

Items in the year in last year for the year

Gain from disposal of non-current assets 330,814.24 496,279.19 330,814.24
Of which: Gain from disposal of non-current

assets not classified as held for sale 330,814.24 496,279.19 330,814.24

Of which: Gain from disposal of fixed assets 404,888.30 19,518.25 404,888.30

Gains from disposal of intangible

assets -74,074.06 0.00 -74,074.06
Gain from disposal of right-of-use

assets 0.00 476,760.94 0.00

Total 330,814.24 496,279.19 330,814.24
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1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

V.

EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

40.

41.

42,

Non-operating income

Amount incurred

Amount incurred

Amount charged
to non-recurrent
profit or loss

Items in the year in last year for the year
Other income 7,257.14 0.00 7,257.14
Total 7,257.14 0.00 7,257.14

Note: The Group did not generate any non-operating income from sales of properties during the year.

Non-operating expenditure

Amount incurred

Amount incurred

Amount charged
to non-recurrent
profit or loss

Items in the year in last year for the year
Loss from damage and scrap of

non-current assets 20,375.85 0.00 20,375.85
Compensation, liquidated damages and

fine expenditure 6,173.93 1,837.11 6,173.93
Litigation compensation 360.00 200,000.00 360.00
Other expenditure 25.04 23,657.96 25.04
Unrecoverable amounts 0.00 28,368.80 0.00
Total 26,934.82 253,863.87 26,934.82

Income tax expenses

(1) Income tax expenses
Amount incurred Amount incurred
Items in the year in last year
Current income tax calculated according to
tax law and relevant regulations 22,450.73 278.34
— Mainland China corporate income tax 22,450.73 278.34
— China Hong Kong profits tax 0.00 0.00
Deferred income tax expenses -9,215.11 6,359.27
Total 13,235.62 6,637.61

Note: Since the Group has no taxable income in Hong Kong

Hong Kong profit tax.
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1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

Notes to the Financial Statements

EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Income tax expenses (Continued)

42,

43.

(2)

Reconciliation of accounting profit and income tax expense

Items

Amount
incurred
in the year

Total consolidated profit in the year

-15,747,640.30

Income tax expenses calculated at statutory/applicable tax rates -2,362,146.06
Impact of applying different tax rates to subsidiaries -756,960.25
Impact of adjustment of income tax of previous period 369.24
Impact of non-taxable income 80,881.11
Impact of non-deductible costs, expenses and losses 64,094.98
Impact of deductible losses from applying deferred income tax assets not recognised

in previous period -41,235.71
Impact of deductible temporary differences or deductible losses of the deferred

income tax assets not recognised for the year 3,211,302.56
Additional items that deductible under tax law (research and development expenses) -183,070.25
Income tax expenses 13,235.62

Items in cash flow statement

(1

Cash related to operating activities
7) Other cash received relating to operating activities

Amount incurred

Amount incurred

Items in the year in last year
Current accounts 445,768.77 341,500.00
Other gains 18,605.05 107,921.67
Interest income 2,966.70 3,256.41
Others 6,636.51 835,894.00
Total 473,977.03 1,288,572.08
2) Other cash paid relating to operating activities

Amount incurred Amount incurred
Items in the year in last year
Administrative expenses 4,610,824.67 4,051,405.31
Cost of sales 1,963,318.58 1,983,717.47
Deposits, security fund and provisional deposit 418,163.26 358,845.94
Current accounts 376,428.54 312,200.00
R&D expenses 39,188.60 523,249.22
Financial expenses 29,013.60 24,650.54
Non-operating expenditures 6533.93 11,837.11

Total 7,443,471.18

7,265,905.59
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1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

V.

EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Items in cash flow statement (Continued)
Cash related to financing activities
Other cash received relating to financing activities

43,

(2)

1)

2)

Amount incurred

Amount incurred

Items in the year in last year
Shareholders loan 5,536,000.00 10,213,395.10
Of which: Xiao Bing 4,536,000.00 8,090,858.86
Chen Ji 0.00 772,536.24

Shanghai Gaoxiang Investment
Management Co., Ltd. 1,000,000.00 1,350,000.00
Collection of other loans 0.00 9,756,960.00

Total

5,536,000.00

19,970,355.10

Other cash paid relating to financing activities

Amount incurred

Amount incurred

Items in the year in last year
Shareholders repayment 970,000.00 8,620,000.00
Of which: Shanghai Gaoxiang Investment
Management Co., Ltd. 0.00 0.00
Xiao Bing 970,000.00 8,620,000.00
Repayment of principal and interest on
lease liabilities 459,740.98 2,190,835.22
Others 0.00 3,544.81
Total 1,429,740.98 10,814,380.03
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1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

V. EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
43, Items in cash flow statement (Continued)
2) Cash related to financing activities (Continued)

3) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
Increase for the year Decrease for the year
Opening Non-cash Non-cash Closing

Items balance Cash changes changes Cash changes changes balance
Other payables:
Xiao Bing 8,060,091.78  4,536,000.00 0.00  970,000.00 0.00 11,626,091.78
Chen Ji 7,992,077 .64 0.00  139,020.37 0.00 0.00 8,131,098.01
Shanghai Gaoxiang Investment

Management Co., Ltd. 8,655,000.00 1,000,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 9,655,000.00
Long-term payables:
Xiao Liangyong 9,986,815.75 0.00  390,278.40 0.00 0.00 10,377,094.15
Total 34,693,985.17 5,536,000.00  529,298.77  970,000.00 0.00 39,789,283.94

Notes: The Group’s balance of payables to Xiao Bing from financing activities is RMB11,626,091.78,
and unpaid reimbursements from production and operating activities are RMB73,092.99. The
total balance of other payables to Xiao Bing is RMB11,699,184.77.

(3) Explanation on presenting cash flow in net amount
None.

(4) Major activities and financial impacts that do not involve current cash receipts and
payments but affect the Company’s financial positions or may affect the Company’s cash
flow in the future
None.
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V. EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
44. Supplemental information to the cash flow statement
(&) Supplemental information to the cash flow statement

Amount incurred
in last year

Amount incurred
Items in the year

1. Adjustment from net profit to cash flow from

operating activities:
Net profit

-15,760,875.92

-42,993,598.60

Add: Impairment loss for assets 3,668,538.73 10,595,654.99
Credit impairment loss 1,775,078.90 4,814,347.45
Depreciation of fixed assets, depreciation of oil

and gas assets, and depreciation of productive

biological assets 1,170,552.22 1,362,311.33
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 516,045.31 1,513,775.77
Amortisation of intangible assets 5,391,875.08 8,066,944.19
Amortisation of long-term unamortised expenses 0.00 0.00
Losses from disposal of fixed assets, intangible assets

and other long-term assets (“-" for gains) -330,814.24 -496,279.19
Losses from scrapping of fixed assets (“-" for gains) 20,375.85 0.00
Losses from changes in fair value ("-" for gains) 0.00 0.00
Financial expenses (“-" for gains) 611,872.83 748,580.76
Investment losses (“-" for gains) 0.00 -1,124.00
Decrease of deferred income tax assets

("-" for increase) -13,857.18 0.00
Increase of deferred income tax liabilities

("-" for decrease) 4,642.07 6,359.27
Decrease of inventory (“-" for increase) 1,383,989.94 1,089,166.08
Decrease of operating receivables ("-" for increase) -4,285,796.40 4,659,618.69
Increase of operating payables (“-" for decrease) 3,784,220.13 3,951,162.08
Others 0.00 0.00

Net cash flow from operating activities -2,064,152.68 -6,683,081.18
. Material Investment and financing activities not

involving cash receipts and payments return: - -

Conversion of debt into capital 0.00 0.00

Convertible corporate bonds to be mature within one year 0.00 0.00

Fixed assets under financial lease 0.00 0.00

. Net change of cash and cash equivalents: - -

Closing balance of cash 2,861,130.55 1,748,760.63

Less: Opening balance of cash 1,748,760.63 1,950,687.43

Add: Closing balance of cash equivalents 0.00 0.00

Less: Opening balance of cash equivalents 0.00 0.00

Net increase amount of cash and cash equivalents 1,112,369.92 -201,926.80
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1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

Notes to the Financial Statements

EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Supplemental information to the cash flow statement (Continued)

44,

45,

(2)

(3)

(4)

Supplier financing arrangements
None.

Composition of cash and cash equivalents

Items Closing balance Opening balance
Cash 2,861,130.55 1,748,760.63
Of which: Cash on hand 4,520.51 4,739.38
Bank deposit that can be used for payment
at any time 2,856,327.04 1,654,840.07
Other monetary fund that can be used for
payment at any time 283.00 89,181.18
Cash equivalents 0.00 0.00
Of which: Bond investments due within three months 0.00 0.00
Closing balance of cash and cash equivalents 2,861,130.55 1,748,760.63
Of which: Cash and cash equivalents that the parent
company or the subsidiaries in the Group
are restricted to use 0.00 0.00

Monetary funds other than cash and cash equivalents

Amount incurred Amount incurred

Reasons for
not included in
cash and cash

Items in the year in last year equivalents

Security fund 271,892.95 240,954.42 Limited use

Others 1,814.16 1,607.90 Limited use

Total 273,707.11 242,562.32 —
Foreign currency monetary items

Closing balance Closing balance

in foreign Conversion converted to

Items currency exchange rate RMB

Monetary capitals - - 41,599.41

Of which: USD 5,055.38 7.1884 36,340.09

HKD 5,679.37 0.92604 5,259.32
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V. EXPLANATION ON MATERIAL ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

46. Leases
(&) The Group as lessee

Amount incurred

Amount incurred

Items in the year in last year
Interest expense on lease liabilities 43,446.40 158,511.05
Short-term lease expenses with simplified treatment

included in current profit and loss 35,263.57 24,946.77
Low-value asset leasing expenses (except short-term

leases) with simplified treatment included in current

profit and loss 0.00 0.00
Variable lease payments not included in the

measurement of lease liabilities 0.00 0.00
Of which: Part generated from sale and leaseback

transactions 0.00 0.00

Income from subletting right-of-use assets 548,441.28 421,205.50
Total cash outflow related to leases 495,004.55 2,215,781.99
Relevant gains and losses arising from sale and

leaseback transactions 0.00 0.00
Cash inflow from sale and leaseback transactions 0.00 0.00
Cash outflow from sale and leaseback transactions 0.00 0.00

2) The Group as lessor

Items

Rental income

Chicken Coop Rental

177,247.68

Total

177,247.68

VI. R&D EXPENSES

Amount incurred

Amount incurred

Items in the year in last year
Upgrade of lens antenna products 1,969,895.65 4,557,248.21
Dual-Stream Multi- Beam Cylindrical Dielectric Lens Antenna 0.00 487,681.48
Miniaturized High Gain Longbo Lens Antenna 0.00 10,290.21
5G port high gain large angle single beam antenna 0.00 602,330.60

Total 1,969,895.65 5,657,550.50
Of which: Expensed R&D expenses 1,969,895.65 5,657,550.50
Capitalized R&D expenses 0.00 0.00
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

CHANGES IN CONSOLIDATION SCOPE

The Company’'s subsidiaries Beijing Hailan Taihang Technologies Development Co., Ltd. and Wuxi Shanshui
Haitian Network Technologies Co., Ltd. completed the deregistration procedures in July 2024, Heinz (Hong
Kong) Light Aviation Engines Limited completed the deregistration procedures in October 2024, and Xi‘an
Haitian Chuangyao Communication System Engineering Co., Ltd. completed the deregistration procedures in

February 2024.

The Company established /@R & & (5 ) M RFEHZ B RA B in July 2024, but has not yet paid in its capital
contribution; the Company established /&% (M) FeeREE B RA B in December 2024, but has not yet

paid in its capital contribution.

INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES
1. Interests in subsidiaries
(1) Composition of the business group

Paid up
capital/
Registered share
capital  Main capital
(Ten  business (Ten  Shareholding proportion Acquisition
Name of subsidiaries thousand)  place Domicile Business nature thousand) (%) method
Direct Indirect
Xi'an Haitian Wireless System 2,000.00  Xi'an Xi'an Manufacturing 2,000.00 100.00 0.00  Establishment
Equipment Co., Ltd. *
Xi'an Haitian Communication System 3,000.00  Xi'an Xi'an Construction enterprise 820.00 100.00 0.00  Establishment
Engineering Co., Ltd. *
Haitian Antenna Technologies 150.00  Hong Kong Hong Kong  Trade 150.00 100.00 0.00  Establishment
(Hongkong) Limited** (Note 2)
Haitian Antenna (Shanghai) 2,000.00  Shanghai Shanghai Trade 2,000.00 100.00 0.00  Establishment
International Trade Co., Ltd. *
Xi'an Haitian Marine Technologies Co., 1,000.00  Xi'an Xi'an Manufacturing 1,000.00 100.00 0.00  Establishment
ltd. *
Xi'an Haitian Aviation & Aerospace 1,000.00  Xi'an Xi‘an Manufacturing 1,000.00 100.00 0.00  Establishment
Technologies Co., Ltd. *
Beijing Hailan Taihang Technologies 1,000.00  Beijing Beijing Trade 100.00 100.00 0.00  Establishment
Development Co., Ltd. *
Wuxi Shanshui Haitian Network 5,000.00  Wuxi Wuxi Software and information ~ 1,000.00 100.00 0.00  Establishment
Technologies Co., Ltd. * technology services
Suzhou Haitian New Antenna 4,002.86  Changshu Changshu Manufacturing 4,002.86 100.00 0.00  Acquisition
Technologies Co., Ltd. *
Yixian Hailan Natural Agricultural 591.84  Yi County Yi County Trade in poultry and 591.84 0.00 51.00  Establishment
Development Co., Ltd.* agricultural products
Heinz (Hong Kong) Light Aviation 1.00  Hong Kong Hong Kong ~ Manufacturing 1.00 0.00 100.00  Establishment
Engines Limited ** (Note 2)
Xi'an Haitian Chuangyao 2,000.00  Xi'an Xi‘an Construction enterprise 0.00 0.00 100.00  Acquisition
Communication System
Engineering Co., Ltd. *
BXOR(BH) FERNEERAZ* 200000 Gaoyou Gaoyou Research and experimental ~ Not yet 100.00 0.00  Establishment
development paid up
BX (M) M RREERAR* 3,000.00  Yangzhou Yangzhou  Technology promotion and ~ Not yet 0.00 100.00  Establishment
application services paid up
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1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

VIIl. INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES (Continued)
1. Interests in subsidiaries (Continued)
(&) Composition of the business group (Continued)

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

*A subsidiary established in the PRC; **a subsidiary established in Hong Kong, China; all the
composition details of the enterprise group are limited companies.

The share capital of Haitian Antenna Technologies (Hongkong) Limited is HK$1.5 million; and the
share capital of Heinz (Hong Kong) Light Aviation Engines Limited is US$1.

Beijing Hailan Taihang Technologies Development Co., Ltd. and Wuxi Shanshui Haitian Network
Technologies Co., Ltd. completed the deregistration procedures in July 2024, Heinz (Hong
Kong) Light Aviation Engines Limited completed the deregistration procedures in October 2024,
and Xi'an Haitian Chuangyao Communication System Engineering Co., Ltd. completed the
deregistration procedures in February 2024.

The Company established /BX & & (FI) MEERRLABRAE in July 2024, but has not yet
paid in its capital contribution; the Company established /&% (5M) #AERRHE AR AT in
December 2024, but has not yet paid in its capital contribution.

2) Major non-wholly-owned subsidiaries

Profits Dividends
and losses declared for Closing
attributable distribution balance of
Minority to minority to minority minority

shareholding  shareholders  shareholders shareholders’

Name of subsidiary ratio for the year for the year equity

Yixian Hailan Natural Agricultural
Development Co., Ltd. 49.00% 121,376.28 0.00 2,563,080.74
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1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

VIIIl. INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES (Continued)
1. Interests in subsidiaries (Continued)
(3) Major financial information of significant non-wholly owned subsidiaries

Yixian Hailan Natural Agricultural
Development Co., Ltd.
Closing balance Opening balance

(amount (amount

incurred in the incurred in last

Items year) year)
Current assets 5,340,391.83 3,840,527.69
Non-current assets 2,132,816.39 2,403,510.23
Total assets 7,473,208.22 6,244,037.92
Current liabilities 2,085,988.95 1,122,294.74
Non-current liabilities 156,409.60 138,640.21
Total liabilities 2,242,398.55 1,260,934.95
Operating income 7,054,503.72 4,728,785.50
Net profit 247,706.70 -27,582.45
Total comprehensive income 247,706.70 -27,582.45
Cash flows from operating activities 1,694,515.51 1,026,527.84

(4) Others
As of 31 December 2024, the subsidiaries of the Company have not issued any share capital or
debt securities.

1X. GOVERNMENT SUBSIDY

1. Government subsidies recognized according to the amount receivable at the end of the year
None.

2. Liability items involving government subsidies
None.

3. Government subsidies included in current profit and loss

Amount incurred Amount incurred
Accounting items in the year in last year

Other gain 0.00 100,000.00
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RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group faces various financial instrument risks in its day-to-day activities, mainly including market risks
(such as exchange rate risks, interest rate risks and commodity price risks), credit risks and liquidity risks. The
risks associated with these financial instruments and the risk management policies adopted by the Group
to reduce these risks are described below. The management of the Group manages and monitors these risk
exposures to ensure that the above risks are controlled within a limited range.

Ua

Various risk management goals and policies

The goal of the Group's risk management is to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return,
to minimise the negative impact of risks on the Group's operating performance, and to maximise the
interests of shareholders and other equity investors. Based on this risk management goal, the basic
strategy of the Group’s risk management is to determine and analyse the various risks faced by the
Group, establish an appropriate risk tolerance bottom line and conduct risk management, and timely
and reliably supervise various risks to control risks within the limited range.

(1) Market risks

1)

2)

3)

Exchange rate risk

The Group’s exposure to exchange rate risk is mainly related to the US dollar and Hong
Kong dollar. Except for Hong Kong subsidiaries of the Group that trade in Hong Kong
dollar, the other major business activities of the Group are denominated in RMB. As of
31 December 2024, except for the USD balance of assets and liabilities and the sporadic
AUD and HKD balances described in the table below, the balance of the Group’s assets
and liabilities are all dominated in RMB. The exchange rate risk arising from the assets
and liabilities of such foreign currency balance may have an impact on the operating
performance of the Group.

31 December 31 December

Items 2024 2023
(RMB) (RMB)

Monetary capitals — USD 36,340.09 57,049.45
Monetary capitals — HKD 5,259.32 6,012.54

The Group pays close attention to the impact of exchange rate changes on the Group.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from interest-bearing debts such as bank loans.
Financial liabilities with floating interest rate expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk, and financial liabilities with fixed interest rate expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk. The Group determines the relative proportion of fixed-rate and floating-rate
contracts based on the market environment at the time. As at 31 December 2024, the
Group's interest-bearing debts were mainly RMB-denominated fixed-rate contracts, with
an amount of RMB13,256,960.00 (31 December 2023: RMB14,523,628.00).

The risk of changes in the fair value of financial instruments caused by changes in
interest rates of the Group is mainly related to fixed-rate bank borrowings. For fixed-rate
borrowings, the Group’s goal is to maintain its floating interest rate.

The risk of changes in the cash flow of financial instruments caused by changes in interest
rates of the Group is mainly related to floating-rate bank borrowings. The Group's policy
is to maintain floating interest rates on these loans to eliminate the fair value risk of
interest rate changes.

Price risk
The Group sells goods at market prices and is therefore affected by these price
fluctuations.
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X. RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
1. Various risk management goals and policies (Continued)

(2)

Credit risk
The Group manages credit risks by portfolio classification. Credit risk mainly arises from
monetary funds, notes receivable, accounts receivable, other receivables, etc.

In order to reduce credit risk, the Group established a special department to determine the
credit limit, conduct credit approval, and implement other monitoring procedures to ensure
that necessary measures are taken to recover expired claims. In addition, the Group reviews the
recovery of each single receivable on each balance sheet date to ensure that sufficient bad debt
provision is made for the unrecoverable amounts. Therefore, the management of the Group
believes that the credit risk assumed by the Group has been greatly reduced.

The Group’s working capital is deposited in banks with high credit ratings, so the credit risk of
working capital is low.

The Group has adopted necessary policies to ensure that all sales customers have a good credit
history. Apart from the top five entities with the largest amount in account receivables, the
Group has no other significant credit concentration risk. Among the Group's accounts receivable,
the top five accounts totaled RMB11,212,885.45, accounting for 75.73% of the Company’s total
accounts receivable.

1) Judgment criteria for significant increase in credit risk

On each balance sheet date, by comparing the probability of default of the financial
instrument during its expected duration determined at the time of initial recognition and
the default probability of the instrument during its estimated duration determined at the
balance sheet date, the Group determines whether the credit risk of the instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition. However, if the Group determines that a
financial instrument only has low credit risk on the balance sheet date, it can be assumed
that the credit risk of the financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition.

2) Definition of credit-impaired assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. In certain circumstances, the Group will also treat it as credit-impaired if internal
or external information indicates that the contract amount may not be recovered in full
before taking into account any credit enhancement held. Credit impairment of financial
assets may be caused by the combined effect of multiple events and may not be caused
by an individually identifiable event.

Evidence of financial asset that is credit impaired includes the following observable
information: the issuer or debtor has major financial difficulties; breach of contract by the
debtor, such as breach or delay in payment of interest or principal; the Group gives the
debtor concessions that would not be made under any other circumstances for economic
or contractual reasons in connection with the debtor’s financial difficulties; the debtor is
likely to go bankrupt or undergo other financial restructuring; the financial difficulties of
the issuer or debtor result in the disappearance of the active market of the financial asset.
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X.

RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Various risk management goals and policies (Continued)

1.

(2)

(3)

Credit risk (Continued)

3) Credit risk exposure
As at 31 December 2024, the maximum credit risk exposure that is likely to cause
financial losses to the Group was due primarily to the losses on the Group’s financial
assets arising from the failure of the other party to the contract to fulfill its obligations,
including:

The carrying amount of the recognized financial assets in the consolidated statement of
financial position; for financial instruments measured at fair value, the carrying amount
reflects its risk exposure that is not the maximum, and its maximum risk exposure will
change with future changes in fair value.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group cannot fulfill its financial obligations on the due date. The
Group's method of managing liquidity risk is to ensure that there is sufficient liquidity to fulfill
due obligations without causing unacceptable losses or damages to the business reputation. The
Group regularly analyzes the structure and maturity of its liabilities to ensure sufficient funds.
The management of the Group monitors the use of bank borrowings and ensures compliance
with borrowing agreements. At the same time, they conduct financing negotiations with
financial institutions to maintain a certain credit limit and reduce liquidity risks.

The Group uses shareholder loans and bank loans as the main source of funds. As at 31
December 2024, the Group’s unused bank borrowing limit was RMB0.00 (31 December 2023:
RMBO0.00), of which the Group’s unused short-term bank borrowing limit was RMB0.00 (31
December 2023: RMB0.00).

The financial assets and financial liabilities held by the Group are analysed according to the
maturity period of the undiscounted remaining contractual obligations as follows:

Amount on 31 December 2024:

Unit: RMB
Within One to Two to Over

Items one year two years five years five years Total
Financial assets
Monetary capitals 3,134,837.66 0.00 0.00 0.00 3,134,837.66
Bills receivable 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Accounts receivable 10,650,310.00 945,532.95 1,714,837.54 1,495,575.80  14,806,256.29
Other receivables 35,756.97 645,952.11 616,480.72 62,563.14 1,360,752.94
Financial liabilities
Short-term borrowings 3,506,533.33 0.00 0.00 0.00 3,506,533.33
Accounts payable 7,247,147 64 988,928.73 2,986,296.69 185,569.19  11,407,942.25
Other payables 7,616,205.27  16,724,364.17  28,122,910.89 3,458,920.32  55,922,400.65
Non-current liabilities due

within one year 237,037.37 0.00 0.00 0.00 237,037.37
Lease liabilities 0.00 0.00 78,298.95 67,109.31 145,408.26
Long-term payable 0.00  10,377,094.15 0.00 0.00  10,377,094.15
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RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

2. Sensitivity analysis

The Group uses sensitivity analysis techniques to analyse the possible and possible impact of risk
variables on current profit and loss or shareholders’ equity. Since any risk variable rarely changes in
isolation, and the correlation between variables will have a significant effect on the final impact of a
certain risk variable change, the following contents are based on the assumption that each variable

change is independent.

(1)  Sensitivity analysis of foreign exchange risk
The sensitivity analysis of foreign exchange risk assumes that all net investment hedges and cash
flow hedges for overseas operation are highly effective.

On the basis of the above assumptions, and under the condition that other variables remain
unchanged, the possible after-tax impact of reasonable changes in exchange rate on the current
profit and loss and equity are as follows:

2024 2023
Impact on Impact on
Change in Impact on  shareholders’ Impact on  shareholders’
Items exchange rate net profit equity net profit equity
All foreign currencies Rise by 5% against RMB 2,079.97 2,079.97 3,152.61 3,152.61
All foreign currencies Fall by 5% against RMB -2,079.97 -2,079.97 -3,152.87 -3,152.87

2) Sensitivity analysis of interest rate risk
The sensitivity analysis of interest rate risk is based on the following assumptions:

Changes in market interest rates affect the interest incomes or expenses of variable-rate financial

instruments;

For fixed-rate financial instruments measured at fair value, changes in market interest rates only
affect their interest incomes or expenses;

The changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments and other financial assets and
liabilities are calculated using the discounted cash flow method at the market interest rate on the

balance sheet date.

On the basis of the above assumptions, and with other variables remaining unchanged, the
after-tax effects of the possible reasonable changes in interest rates on current profit or loss and
equity are as follows:

Since all bank balances of the Group are of short-term nature, no change in interest rates will be
considered to have a significant impact on the Group, so no sensitive analysis is required.

DISCLOSURE OF FAIR VALUE
None.
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XIl.

RELATED PARTY RELATIONSHIPS AND TRANSACTIONS

Related party relationships

Interests of Directors or chief executive of the Company in the Company
Equities of domestic shares in the Company

g

(1

1)

2)

Number of  Proportion Proportion

domestic to domestic to total
Name Identity shares shares shares Remarks
Xiao Bing Actual owner, interests 485,832,335 38.81% 25.60% Note 1
of family members
and interests
of controlled
companies
Chen Ji Interests of controlled 272,844,804 21.80% 14.38% Note 2
companies

Equities of H shares in the Company

Name

Proportion Proportion
Number  to H shares to total
Identity of H shares issued shares Remarks

Xiao Bing Actual owner 10,000,000 1.55% 0.53%

Chen Ji

Actual owner 11,718,000 1.81% 0.62% Note 3
and interests
of controlled
companies

Note 1:

Note 2:

Xi'an Tian An Corporate Management and Consulting Co., Ltd. (Tian An Corporate) holds
328,363,637 domestic shares. The company is beneficially owned as to 60% and 40% by Mr.
Xiao Bing and his spouse Ms. Chen Jing respectively. 157,468,698 domestic shares are held
by Xi‘an Xiao’s Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd. (Xiao Antenna), which is beneficially owned as
to 31% by his father Professor Xiao Liangyong and 30% by his spouse Ms. Chen Jing. On 10
August 2023, Professor Xiao Liangyong transferred 31% of Xiao Antenna shares to Ms. Chen
Jing. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Xiao Bing is deemed to be interested in the same 328,363,637
and 157,468,698 domestic shares. In the second quarter of 2023, Mr. Xiao Bing transferred
his 57,000,000 and 8,000,000 domestic shares to Mr. Chen Ren and Ms. Ma Xiuling.

Shanghai Gaoxiang Investment Management Co., Ltd. (Gaoxiang Investment) holds
254,844,804 domestic shares. The domestic shares held by Shanghai Hongzhen Ningshang
Investment Management Partnership (limited partnership) (Shanghai Hongzhen Ningshang)
decreased from 18,500,000 shares to 18,000,000 shares. In the second quarter of 2023,
Shanghai Hongzhen Ningshang transferred its 500,000 domestic shares to Mr. Song Xiangyu.
Shanghai Hongzhen Ningshang is beneficially owned by Mr. Chen Ji and Shanghai Hongzhen
Investment Management Co., Ltd. (Shanghai Hongzhen Investment) as to 83.33% and
16.67%, respectively. Shanghai Hongzhen Investment is beneficially owned by Gaoxiang
Investment as to 60%. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chen Ji is deemed to be interested in the
same 254,844,804 and 18,000,000 domestic shares.
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RELATED PARTY RELATIONSHIPS AND TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

i

(1

(2)

(3)

(4)

Related party relationships (Continued)

Interests of Directors or chief executive of the Company in the Company (Continued)
2) Equities of H shares in the Company (Continued)
Note 3:Mr. Chen Ji directly holds 11,418,000 H shares and his spouse Ms. Sun Xiangjun
directly holds 300,000 H Shares. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chen Ji is deemed to be
interested in the same 300,000 H shares.

Subsidiaries of the Company

See relevant contents of “VIII. 1.(1) Composition of the business group” in this note for details

of the subsidiaries.

Joint ventures and associates of the Company

None.
Other related party

Name of other related party

Relationship with the Company

Xi'an Xiao's Antenna
Technologies Co., Ltd.

Shanghai Gaoxiang Investment
Management Co., Ltd.

Xi'an Haitian Hi-tech Power
Co., Ltd.

Cloud Live Technology Group
Co., Ltd.* (PR EMHRER
D BRLAE)

Shanghai Hongzhen Ditong
Asset Management Co., Ltd.

Shanghai Yunfan Information
Technology Co., Ltd.* (E/8&
BESRMARAR)

Shareholder of the Company
Shareholder of the Company

An enterprise controlled by director (Zuo Hong is a non-
executive director of the Company and an executive director
and shareholder of Xi'an Haitian Hi-tech, and Xi’an Haitian
Hitech is owned by Zuo Hong as to 5%)

An enterprise controlled by shareholder (The Company’s
shareholder and actual controller Chen Ji is the actual controller
of Cloud Live Technology Group Co., Ltd. and owns 9.9314% of
its equity)

An enterprise controlled by shareholders (Shanghai Hongzhen
Investment Management Co., Ltd. is a shareholder of the
Company and the controlling shareholder of Shanghai
Gaoxiang Investment Management Co., Ltd., and Shanghai
Hongzhen Investment Management Co., Ltd. owns 16.5 %
interests in Shanghai Hongzhen Ditong Asset Management
Co., Ltd.)

An enterprise controlled by shareholders (the controlling
shareholder of Shanghai Yunfan Information Technology Co.,
Ltd. is Cloud Live Technology Group Co., Ltd., and Chen Ji, a
shareholder and the actual controller of the Company, is the
actual controller of Cloud Live Technology Group Co., Ltd. and
owns 9.9314% of its equity)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

XiIl. RELATED PARTY RELATIONSHIPS AND TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
1. Related party relationships (Continued)

(4) Other related party (Continued)

Name of other related party

Relationship with the Company

Shaanxi Kaicheng Investment
Industry Co., Ltd.* (BR7GRH AL
REBXBRERELE)

Xiao Bing
Chen Ji

Xiao Liangyong
Xiao Le

Li Jun

Sun Yikuan

Li Wenqi

Tu Jijun

Shi Ping

Zuo Hong
Chen Ren

Liu Lidong

Li Tianzuo
Wang Xiaokun
Zeng Kun
Wang Yun

Xu Hao

Wang Jianging
Lei Xiao

2. Related party transaction

An Enterprise controlled by director (Li Wengi is a non-
executive director of the Company and the chairman and
general manager and the legal representative of Shaanxi
Kaicheng Investment Industry Co., Ltd., and owns 15.5%
of the equity interest in Xi‘an Chengxin Ruitai Enterprise
Management Consulting Co., Ltd.* (BZ MR %
EEFEHABMRAE), a shareholder of Shaanxi Kaicheng
Investment Industry Co., Ltd.)

Shareholder, Executive Director and chairman of the Company
Shareholder, Executive Director and vice chairman of the
Company

Immediate family member of Xiao Bing

Immediate family member of Xiao Bing

Spouse of immediate family member of Xiao Bing

Director of the Company

Director of the Company

Director of the Company

Director of the Company

Director of the Company

Director of the Company

Director of the Company

Director of the Company

Director of the Company

Director of the Company

Director of the Company

Director of the Company

Director of the Company

Director of the Company

(1) Related-party transactions involving the purchase and sale of goods, provision and

receipt of services

1) Purchase of goods/receipt of services

Related-party Amount incurred  Amount incurred
Related parties transaction details in the year in last year
Shaanxi Kaicheng
Investment
Industry Co., Ltd. Procurement of raw materials 1,367,975.93 0.00
Total - 1,367,975.93 0.00
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

Xll.  RELATED PARTY RELATIONSHIPS AND TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

2. Related party transaction (Continued)
2) Related-party leasing
1) Rental status
Rental income
recognised in
Lessee Name Types of leased assets the year
Shanghai Yunfan Information Technology House sublet
Co., Ltd. 523,596.33
Total 523,596.33

(3) Related guarantees

1) As guarantee
Date of Date of Whether
Amount of commencement of  expiry of guarantee has
Name of guarantor guarantee guarantee guarantee been fulfilled
Xiao Lei
Li Jun 3,500,000.00 2 December 2022 2 December 2026 No

Note: Xiao Lei and Li Jun provided mortgage guarantee for the short-term borrowings of Xi'an
Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd. with their ordinary residence located in Room 12205,
Building 1, Tianmu Kuojing, High-tech International Business Center, Gaoxin District, Xi'an as
collateral.

(4) Capital lending between related parties

Repayment Commencement

Name of related party Lending amount amount date Maturity date  Remarks
1,820,000.00 0.00 1 August 2023 30 July 2026
2,100,000.00 0.00 1 August 2023 30 July 2026

N 150,000.00 0.00 27 March 2023 26 March 2026

Xiao Liangyong . .
1,536,960.00 0.00 19 April 2023 18 April 2026
2,050,000.00 0.00 26 April 2023 25 April 2026
2,100,000.00 0.00 24 May 2023 23 May 2026

Total 9,756,960.00 -

Annual Report 2024 181



Notes to the Financial Statements

1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

Xll.  RELATED PARTY RELATIONSHIPS AND TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

2. Related party transaction (Continued)

(5)

(6)

(7)

Transfer of assets of related parties

Name of Related-party Amount incurred  Amount incurred
related parties transaction details in the year in last year
Cloud Live Technology Vehicle Disposal

Group Co., Ltd. 120,000.00 0.00
Shanghai Yunfan Vehicle Disposal

Information

Technology

Co., Ltd. 380,800.00 0.00
Total - 500,800.00 0.00

Remunerations of key management personnel

The remuneration of key management personnel (including amounts
executive directors and other senior management) are as follows:

Item name

Amount incurred

in the year

paid and payable to

Amount incurred
in last year

Total remuneration

1,099,578.51

3,726,338.51

Continued related party transaction
None.
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1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

XIl. RELATED PARTY RELATIONSHIPS AND TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
3. Transaction balance of related party
(1) Accounts receivable

Closing balance Opening balance
Provision for Provision for
Item name Related party Book balance bad debts Book balance bad debts
Accounts receivable
Shanghai Yunfan Information
Technology Co., Ltd. 313,340.00 9,400.20 0.00 0.00
Other receivables Senior management of
the Company
Xu Hao 0.00 0.00 10,000.00 0.00
Wang Jianging 0.00 0.00 426.16 0.00
Total 313,340.00 9,400.20 10,426.16 0.00
(2) Accounts payable
Closing Opening
Item name Related party book balance book balance

Accounts Payable
Shaanxi Kaicheng Investment Industry
Co., Ltd. 1,531,577.03 0.00
Other payables
Xiao Bing (Senior management and

director of the Company) 11,699,184.77 8,106,234.78
Shanghai Gaoxiang Investment
Management Company Limited 9,655,000.00 8,655,000.00
Chen Ji (Senior management and
director of the Company) 8,131,098.01 7,992,077.64
Shanghai Hongzhen Ditong Asset
Management Co., Ltd. 2,000,000.00 2,000,000.00
Zuo Hong (Senior management and
director of the Company) 0.00 9,638.00
Liu Lidong (Senior management and
director of the Company) 0.00 3,321.00
Wang Yun (Senior management of
the Company) 0.00 1,579.00
Long-term payables
Xiao Liangyong 10,377,094.15 9,986,815.75
Total 43,393,953.96 36,754,666.17
4. Commitment of related parties

Xiao Bing, Chen Ji, and Shanghai Gaoxiang Investment Management Co., Ltd., being shareholders of
the Company, promised:In the event of financial difficulties for the Company, they will not demand
repayment of RMB29,485,282.78 before 31 December 2025 and will provide necessary financial
support.
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1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

XIl.

184 Xi'an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd.

RELATED PARTY RELATIONSHIPS AND TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
5.

Remunerations of directors, supervisors and employees
Remunerations of directors and supervisors are as follows

(1

Social
insurance,
Salary and housing fund
Items allowance  and pension Bonus Share payment Total
Amount incurred in the year
Executive directors
Xiao Bing 120,050.00 28,588.80 0.00 0.00 148,638.80
Chen Ji 86,250.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 86,250.00
Supervisors
Li Tianzuo 103,263.89 28,588.80 0.00 0.00 131,852.69
Wang Xiaokun 12,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 12,000.00
Zeng Kun 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Non-executive directors
Zuo Hong 113,570.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 113,570.00
Sun Yikuan 12,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 12,000.00
Shi Ping 12,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 12,000.00
Tu Jijun 12,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 12,000.00
Liu Lidong 12,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 12,000.00
Chen Ren 12,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 12,000.00
Li Wengi 6,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 6,000.00
Total 501,133.89 57,177.60 0.00 0.00 558,311.49
Amount incurred in last year
Executive directors
Xiao Bing 429,373.20 80,029.56 0.00 0.00 509,402.76
Chen Ji 429,373.20 0.00 0.00 0.00 429,373.20
Supervisors
Li Tianzuo 200,597.27 0.00 0.00 0.00 200,597.27
Wang Xiaokun 12,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 12,000.00
Shang Lijian 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Non-executive directors
Zuo Hong 297,210.00 74,560.43 0.00 0.00 371,770.43
Sun Yikuan 12,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 12,000.00
Shi Ping 12,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 12,000.00
Tu Jijun 12,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 12,000.00
Liu Lidong 12,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 12,000.00
Chen Ren 9,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 9,000.00
Li Wenqi 6,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 6,000.00
Total 1,431,553.67 154,589.99 0.00 0.00 1,586,143.66

Note: Zeng Kun became the supervisor of Haitian Antenna on 14 August 2024.
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1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

XiIl. RELATED PARTY RELATIONSHIPS AND TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
5. Remunerations of directors, supervisors and employees (Continued)

(2)

(3)

(4)

Five highest paid individuals

One of the top five highest-paid individuals of the year is a director (two in the last year), one is
a supervisor, the remaining three are senior management personnel (three in the last year), and
the remunerations of directors are set out in Note “XIl 5. (1) Remunerations of directors and
supervisors”. The remunerations of the remaining three senior management personnel are as
follows:

Amount Amount

incurred in incurred in

Items the year last year

Salaries and allowances 327,386.22 1,476,507.99
Costs of social insurance, housing fund and related

pension 85,766.40 154,589.99

Total 413,152.62 1,631,097.98

Scope of remuneration:

Number of Number of

individual in individual in

Items the year last year

Less than RMB1,000,000 5 5

RMB1,000,001 to RMB1,500,000 0 0

RMB1,500,001 to RMB2,000,000 0 0

RMB2,000,001 to RMB2,500,000 0 0

During the track record period, none of the directors of the Company waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration. In the track record period, the Company did not pay any remuneration to any
director, supervisor or the five highest paid individuals as an incentive to attract them to join the
Company or as compensation for dismission.

Remuneration of key management personnel
Remuneration of key management personnel (including amounts paid and payable to directors,
supervisors and senior management) are as follows:

Amount Amount

incurred in incurred in

Items the year last year

Salary and allowance 928,045.71 3,300,868.93
Costs of social insurance, housing fund and related

pension 171,532.80 425,469.58

Total 1,099,578.51 3,726,338.51
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1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (Monetary unit for the Notes to the Financial Statements is in RMB unless otherwise stated)

XIl.

Xl

XIV.

XV.

XVI.

RELATED PARTY RELATIONSHIPS AND TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

6.

Loans receivable from directors or directors’ related enterprises
None.

SHARE PAYMENT

None.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCY

None.

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

None.

OTHER IMPORTANT MATTERS

o

The contract disputes of transferring the right to use construction land with Xi‘an Xiangyu
Aviation Technology Co., Ltd.

In August 2015, the Company entered into an agreement with Xi‘an Xiangyu Aviation Technology Co.,
Ltd. (hereinafter referred to as “Vendor”), pursuant to which the Vendor has agreed to sell a parcel
of land located at the east of Shuoshi Road (FEE&LAER) and the west of Chuangye Avenue (BIZ K
58 LA7E), National Hi-tech Industrial Development Zone, Xi‘an, Shaanxi Province, the PRC, and three
industrial buildings erected on it to the Company at a consideration of RMB40.00 million. The Company
paid a transfer price of RMB18,546,000 in accordance with the agreement. As of the end of 2024, the
above-mentioned land and compensatory building products have not been transferred to the Company,
and the Company has not paid the remaining transfer fee of RMB21.4540 million.

In September 2017, the Company initiated legal proceedings against the Vendor with the People’s
Court of Chang’an District of Xi'an City* (FZmEZ& ARERD , requesting the Vendor to assist in
the registration procedures for the transfer of land use rights and ownership of above-ground buildings.
In November 2019, the People’s Court of Chang'an District rejected the application.

On 18 September 2020, a judge from the Executive Bureau of the Intermediate People’s Court of
Xi'an City* (FAZ MR ARZER intended to enforce evaluation and auction of the land due to
the Vendor's refusal to perform other effective legal judgments. The Company believed that it has
harmed the interest of the Company and filed an objection against the enforcement to the judge of
the Executive Bureau of the Intermediate People’s Court of Xi‘an City on 10 October 2022. On 22
April 2022, the Xi'an Intermediate People’s Court rejected the Company’s application for enforcement
objection. On 22 November 2024, Haitian Antenna filed a review with the Higher People’s Court of
Shaanxi Province. The Higher People’s Court of Shaanxi Province rejected Haitian Antenna’s review
application and upheld the execution order of the Xi‘an Intermediate People’s Court. On 20 July 2022,
Haitian Antenna submitted an application for an enforcement objection to the Executive Bureau of the
People’s Court of Yanta District, Xi'an City, and the Company’s objection was rejected on 1 June 2023.
On 14 June 2023, Haitian Antenna filed an enforcement objection lawsuit with the Yanta District Court
of Xi'an City. On 5 March 2024, the Company received a civil judgment issued by the Yanta District
Court of Xi'an City (Case No.: Civil Judgment of the People’'s Court of Yanta District, Xi'an City (2023)
Shaan 0113 Minchu No. 21856). The judgment held that Haitian Antenna did not provide evidence to
prove that the obstacles to the transfer had been removed, nor did it provide evidence to prove that
the property rights were possible to be realized, and that the rights were not sufficient to exclude
enforcement by the People’s Court. Therefore, all of Haitian Antenna’s claims were dismissed. The
Company is dissatisfied with this judgment and plans to appeal again, with a view to correcting the
first-instance judgment through the second-instance procedure.
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XVI. OTHER IMPORTANT MATTERS (Continued)

i

The contract disputes of transferring the right to use construction land with Xi‘an Xiangyu

Aviation Technology Co., Ltd. (Continued)

At the same time, on 31 October 2024, the Company filed a lawsuit with the People’s Court of
Chang'an District of Xi‘an City, requesting the termination of the Contract for the Transfer of State-
owned Land Use Right and Projects under Construction signed between Haitian Antenna and Xiangyu
Company, and requiring Xiangyu Company to return the contract price already paid by Haitian Antenna
and the corresponding interest, liquidated damages, compensation for decoration losses, etc., totaling
RMB38,586,262.11. As of the date of this report, the case is still under litigation and has not been
concluded.

(1

Segment information

Determination basis and accounting policies of the reporting segments

The Group determines operating segments based on internal organizational structure,
management requirements, and internal reporting systems, and determines reporting segments
based on operating segments.

Operating segment refers to a component within the Group that simultaneously meets the
following conditions: 1) The component can generate revenue and incur expenses in daily
activities; 2) The management of the Group can regularly evaluate the operating results of the
component to decide to allocate resources to it and evaluate its performance; 3) The Group can
obtain relevant accounting information such as the financial status, operating results and cash
flow of this component.

The directors of the Company choose to manage the Group by different products and services.
Specifically, the Group's reportable segments are as follows: sales of antenna products and
provision of related services; sales of underwater monitoring products and related products; sales
of aircraft products; sales of agricultural products.

The accounting policies of the operating segments of the Group are the same as the main
accounting policies of the Group.
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XVI.

OTHER IMPORTANT MATTERS (Continued)
Segment information (Continued)
Financial information of the reporting segments in the year

2.

(2)

Segment assets:

Segment

Closing balance

Opening balance

Sales of antenna products and provision of related
services

Sales of underwater monitoring products and related
products

Sales of aircraft products

Sales of agricultural products

43,902,274.33

1,527.47
536,321.70
5,503,208.22

52,044,541.59

5,426.49
1,074,772.65
5,094,037.92

Total segment assets
Unallocated assets

49,943,331.72
55,859.24

58,218,778.65
346,055.19

Total consolidated assets

49,999,190.96

58,564,833.84

Segment liabilities:

Segment

Closing balance

Opening balance

Sales of antenna products and provision of related
services

Sales of underwater monitoring products and related
products

Sales of aircraft products

Sales of agricultural products

81,370,802.47

755,983.82
2,685,419.01
2,242,398.55

75,944,485.69

527,018.82
2,355,766.70
1,260,934.95

Total segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities

87,054,603.85
9,703,770.26

80,088,206.16
9,474,934.91

Total consolidated liabilities

96,758,374.11

89,563,141.07
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XVI. OTHER IMPORTANT MATTERS (Continued)
2. Segment information (Continued)
2) Financial information of the reporting segments in the year (Continued)
Segment income and costs:

Main Main
business income business costs
Sales of goods for the year for the year
Sales of antenna products and provision of related
services 14,308,783.44 7,678,793.51
Sales of agricultural products 6,877,256.04 6,150,566.22
Sales of aircraft products 1,504.43 0.00
Total 21,187,543.91 13,829,359.73
Segment income and performance:
Sales of Sales of
antenna underwater
products and monitoring
provision Sales of Sales of products
of related agricultural aircraft and related
Items services products products products Total
Income:
External sales 14,308,783.44 6,877,256.04 1,504.43 0.00 21,187,543.91
Segment profit (loss) -9,593,077.66 537,310.50 20,464.23 0.00  -9,035,302.93
Unallocated other gain 0.00
Unallocated corporate expenditure
for changes in the fair value of
financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss 0.00
Financial costs -634,469.86
Unallocated income 1,129,274.08
Unallocated expenses and expenditure -7,207,141.59
Loss before tax -15,747,640.30
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XVI. OTHER IMPORTANT MATTERS (Continued)
2. Segment information (Continued)
2) Financial information of the reporting segments in the year (Continued)
Significant impairment losses, depreciation, and amortization by segment:

Sales of
antenna Sales of
products and underwater
provision Sales of Sales of monitoring
of related agricultural aircraft and related
Item services products products products Unallocated Total
Assets impairment loss -3,668,538.73 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 -3,668,538.73
Credit impairment loss -1,669,943.37 -131,73533 26,599.80 0.00 0.00 -1,775,078.90
Depreciation of fixed assets,
depreciation of oil and gas
assets and depreciation of
bearer biological assets 900,994.54 265,961.22 3,596.46 0.00 0.00 1,170,552.22
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 0.00 18,589.80 374,411.04 0.00 123,044.47 516,045.31
Amortisation of intangible
assets 5,391,875.08 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 5,391,875.08

XVII. NOTES TO MAJOR ITEMS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE PARENT COMPANY
1. Accounts receivable
(1)  Accounts receivable presented by aging
The aging analysis of accounts receivable (including accounts receivable by related parties) based
on transaction date is as follows:

Aging Closing balance Opening balance
Within 1 year (including 1 year) 9,308,965.50 3,722,356.62
1-2 years 288,656.73 767,639.12
2-3 years 23,727.52 920,753.50
Over 3 years 1,658,921.30 1,298,167.80
Of which: 3-4 years 360,753.50 0.00
Over 5 years 1,298,167.80 1,298,167.80
Total 11,280,271.05 6,708,917.04

The Group’s sales in Mainland China are conducted on credit terms, generally granting customers
a payment period of 30 to 90 days.
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XVII. NOTES TO MAJOR ITEMS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE PARENT COMPANY (Continued)
1. Accounts receivable (Continued)
2) Accounts receivable presented by bad debts provision method

Closing balance

Book balance Provision for bad debts
Proportion Provision ratio
Type Amount (%) Amount (%) Book value
Provision for bad debts
by single item 1,298,167.80 11.51 1,298,167.80 100.00 0.00
Provision for bad debts
by portfolio 9,982,103.25 88.49 529,332.24 5.30 9,452,771.01
Of which: Aging
portfolio 9,982,103.25 88.49 529,332.24 5.30 9,452,771.01
Low-risk
portfolio 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Total 11,280,271.05 100.00 1,827,500.04 - 9,452,771.01

(Table continued)

Opening balance

Book balance Provision for bad debts
Proportion Provision ratio
Type Amount (%) Amount (%) Book value
Provision for bad debts
by single item 1,298,167.80 19.35 1,298,167.80 100.00 0.00
Provision for bad debts
by portfolio 5,410,749.24 80.65 372,585.31 6.89 5,038,163.93
Of which: Aging
portfolio 5,410,749.24 80.65 372,585.31 6.89 5,038,163.93
Low-risk
portfolio 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Total 6,708,917.04 100.00 1,670,753.11 - 5,038,163.93
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XVII.

NOTES TO MAJOR ITEMS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE PARENT COMPANY (Continued)
Accounts receivable (Continued)
Accounts receivable presented by bad debts provision method (Continued)

g

(2)

(3)

(4)

1) Provision for bad debts of accounts receivable by single item
Opening balance Closing balance
Provisions for Provisions for  Provision Reason for
Name Book balance bad debts Book balance bad debts ratio (%) provision
Shaanxi Yijia Haosen 1,298,167.80 1,298,167.80 1,298,167.80 1,298,167.80 100.00 Expected
Industrial Development to be
Co., Ltd. unrecoverable
Total 1,298,167.80 1,298,167.80 1,298,167.80 1,298,167.80 100.00 -
2) Provision for bad debts of accounts receivable by portfolio
Aging portfolio:
Closing balance
Provisions for Provision
Aging Book balance bad debts ratio (%)
Within 1 year
(including 1 year) 9,308,965.50 279,268.97 3.00
1-2 years 288,656.73 28,865.67 10.00
2-3 years 23,727.52 4,745.50 20.00
3-4 years 360,753.50 216,452.10 60.00
Total 9,982,103.25 529,332.24 -

Provision for bad debts of accounts receivable made, recovered or written-back during

the year
Amount of changes for the year
Opening Recovered or Charge-off Closing
Type balance Provision  written-back  or write-off Others balance
Provisions for bad debts 1,670,753.11 156,746.93 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,827,500.04
Total 1,670,753.11 156,746.93 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,827,500.04

Accounts receivable actually written off in the year
None.
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XVII. NOTES TO MAIJOR ITEMS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE PARENT COMPANY (Continued)
Accounts receivable (Continued)
Accounts receivable of top 5 debtors by closing balance
The accounts receivable of top 5 debtors by closing balance in the year is RMB10,300,354.95
in total, the proportion to the total closing balance of accounts receivable is 91.32% and the
corresponding closing balance of provision for bad debts is RMB1,793,784.16 in total.

i

2.1

(5)

Other receivables

Items

Closing balance

Opening balance

Interest receivable
Dividends receivable
Other receivables

0.00
0.00
47,973,772.22

0.00
0.00
45,283,649.93

Total

47,973,772.22

45,283,649.93

Other receivables

(1

(2)

Classification of other receivables by nature

Nature of fund

Closing balance

Opening balance

Related current accounts
Deposits and security fund
Current accounts
Provisional deposit

118,114,578.74
554,805.00
284,294.14
91,468.29

117,546,535.49
614,000.00
301,363.14
122,419.45

Total

119,045,146.17

118,584,318.08

Other receivables presented by aging

Closing book Opening book
Aging balance balance
Within 1 year (including 1 year) 5,584,318.01 19,273,550.95
1-2 years 18,807,152.56 4,298,270.00
2-3 years 4,297,370.00 14,943,383.86

Over 3 years

Of which: 3-4 years
4-5 years
Over 5 years

90,356,305.60
14,943,383.86

9,433,477.86
65,979,443.88

80,069,113.27
10,281,477.86
31,445,904.04
38,341,731.37

Total

119,045,146.17

118,584,318.08
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XVIL.

NOTES TO MAJOR ITEMS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE PARENT COMPANY (Continued)
Other receivables (Continued)

2.1

(3)

Other receivables presented by bad debts provision method

Book balance

Closing balance

Provision for bad debts

Provision ratio

Type Amount Ratio (%) Amount (%) Book value
Provision for bad debts
by single item 71,064,332.02 59.70 71,004,332.02 100.00 0.00
Provision for bad debts
by portfolio 47,980,814.15 40.30 7,041.93 0.01 47,973,772.22
Of which: Aging
portfolio 234,731.00 0.20 7,041.93 3.00 227,689.07
Low-risk
portfolio 47,746,083.15 40.11 0.00 0.00 47,746,083.15
Total 119,045,146.17 100.00 71,071,373.95 - 47,973,772.22
(Table continued)
Opening balance
Book balance Provision for bad debts
Provision ratio
Type Amount Ratio (%) Amount (%) Book value
Provision for bad debts
by single item 73,293,414.15 61.81 73,293,414.15 100.00 0.00
Provision for bad debts
by portfolio 45,290,903.93 38.19 7,254.00 0.02 45,283,649.93
Of which: Aging
portfolio 241,800.00 0.20 7,254.00 3.00 234,546.00
Low-risk
portfolio 45,049,103.93 37.99 0.00 0.00 45,049,103.93
Total 118,584,318.08 100.00 73,300,668.15 = 45,283,649.93
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XVII. NOTES TO MAJOR ITEMS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE PARENT COMPANY (Continued)
2.1 Other receivables (Continued)
3) Other receivables presented by bad debts provision method (Continued)

7) Provision for bad debts of other receivables by single item
Opening balance Closing balance
Provisions for Provisions for Provision Reason for
Name Book balance bad debts Book balance bad debts ratio (%) provision
Xi'an Haitian 14,441,242.03 14,441,242.03  13,065,559.90 13,065,559.90 100.00  Expected to be
Communication System unrecoverable
Engineering Co., Ltd.
Haitian Antenna (Shanghai) 20,266,135.81 20,266,135.81 19,418,135.81 19,418,135.81 100.00  Expected to be
International Trade Co., unrecoverable
Ltd.
Xi'an Haitian Wireless 38,536,473.17 38,536,473.17 38,531,073.17 38,531,073.17 100.00  Expected to be
System Equipment Co., unrecoverable
Ltd.
Xi'an New Haitian 49,563.14 49,563.14 49,563.14 49,563.14 100.00  Expected to be
Communication Co., Ltd. unrecoverable
Total 73,293,414.15 73,293,414.15 71,064,332.02 71,064,332.02 - -
2) Provision for bad debts of other receivables by portfolio

Aging portfolio

Closing balance

Provisions for Provision
Aging Book balance bad debts ratio (%)
Within 1 year (including 1 year) 234,731.00 7,041.93 3.00
Total 234,731.00 7,041.93 -

Other portfolio

Closing balance

Provisions for Provision
Name of portfolio Book balance bad debts ratio (%)
Low risk portfolio 47,746,083.15 0.00 0.00
Total 47,746,083.15 0.00 -
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XVII.
2.1 Other receivables (Continued)

3) Other receivables presented by bad debts provision method (Continued)

NOTES TO MAIJOR ITEMS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE PARENT COMPANY (Continued)

3) Provision for bad debts of other receivables under the general model of expected credit
losses

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime Lifetime

Expected expected expected

credit losses credit loss credit loss

over the next (not credit- (credit-
Provision for bad debts 12 months impaired) impaired) Total
Balance at 1 January 2024 0.00 7,254.00 73,293,414.15  73,300,668.15

Balance at 1 January 2024 for

the year - - - -
- Transfer to stage 2 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
- Transfer to stage 3 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
- Written back to stage 2 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
- Written back to stage 1 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Provision for the year 7,041.93 -7,254.00 0.00 -212.07
Written-back for the year 0.00 0.00 2,229,082.13 2,229,082.13
Charge-off for the year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Written-off for the year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Other changes 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Balance at 31 December 2024 7,041.93 0.00 71,064,332.02 71,071,373.95
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XVII. NOTES TO MAJOR ITEMS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE PARENT COMPANY (Continued)
2.1 Other receivables (Continued)
(4) Provision for bad debts of other receivables made, recovered or written-back during the

year
Amount of changes for the year
Opening Recovered or Charge-off or Closing
Type balance Provisions  written-back write-off Others balance
Provisions for bad debts 73,300,668.15 -212.07  2,229,082.13 0.00 0.00 71,071,373.95
Total 73,300,668.15 -212.07  2,229,082.13 0.00 0.00 71,071,373.95

Of which, the significant amount recovered or written back from the provision for bad debts for

the year:
The basis for
Amount of determining the original
recovery or  Reason for Recovery provisions for bad debts
Entity name written-back  write-back method ratio and its rationality
Xi'an Haitian Offset of
Communication current
System Engineering Money  accounts of
Co., Ltd. 1,375,682.13 received related parties Full provision, reasonable
Haitian Antenna
(Shanghai)
International Trade Money Bank
Co., Ltd. 848,000.00 received transfer Full provision, reasonable
Xi'an Haitian Wireless
System Equipment Money Bank
Co., Ltd. 5,400.00 received transfer Full provision, reasonable
Total 2,229,082.13 - - -

(5) Other receivable actually written off in the year
None.
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XVIl. NOTES TO MAJOR ITEMS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE PARENT COMPANY (Continued)
2.1 Other receivables (Continued)
(6) Other receivables of top 5 debtors by closing balance

Proportion to
the total closing

balance of other Provisions for
Entity name Nature of fund  Closing balance  Aging receivables (%) bad debts
Suzhou Haitian New Antenna Related current 47,099,809.86  1-5 years 39.56 0.00
Technologies Co., Ltd. accounts
Xi'an Haitian Wireless System Related current 38,531,073.17  Within 2 years, 3237 38,531,073.17
Equipment Co., Ltd. accounts more than
3 years
Haitian Antenna (Shanghai) Related current 19,418,135.81  1-5 years 16.31 19,418,135.81
International Trade Co., Ltd. accounts
Xi'an Haitian Communication System Related current 13,065,559.90  1-5 years 10.98 13,065,559.90
Engineering Co., Ltd. accounts
China Mobile Communication Group Deposit and 280,000.00  3-4 years 0.24 0.00
Gansu Co. Ltd. security fund
Total - 118,394,578.74 - 99.46 71,014,768.88
(7) Employee Loans Receivables
None.
3. Long-term equity investments
Closing balance Opening balance
Impairment Impairment
Items Book balance provision Book value Book balance provision Book value
Investment in subsidiaries 109,255,568.73  66,597,500.00 42,658,068.73 120,255,568.73 66,597,500.00 53,658,068.73
Total 109,255,568.73  66,597,500.00 42,658,068.73 120,255,568.73 66,597,500.00 53,658,068.73
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XVII. NOTES TO MAJOR ITEMS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE PARENT COMPANY (Continued)
3. Long-term equity investments (Continued)
(1) Investment in subsidiaries

Impairment Changes for the year Impairment
Opening provision Closing provision
balance Opening  Additional Decreased  Provision for balance Closing
Invested entity (book value) balance  investment investment impairment Others  (book value) balance
Xi‘an Haitian Communication
System Engineering Co., Ltd 8,200,000.00  5,000,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00  8_200,000.00  5,000,000.00
Xi'an Haitian Wireless System
Equipment Co., Ltd. 20,000,000.00  20,000,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 20,000,000.00  20,000,000.00
Haitian Antenna (Shanghai)
International Trade Co., Ltd. 20,000,000.00  20,000,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 20,000,000.00  20,000,000.00
Xi'an Haitian Marine
Technologies Co., Ltd. 10,000,000.00  10,000,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 10,000,000.00 10,000,000.00
Xi'an Haitian Aviation & Aerospace
Technologies Co., Ltd. 10,000,000.00  10,000,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 10,000,000.00 10,000,000.00
Beijing Hailan Taihang Technologies
Development Co., Ltd. 1,000,000.00 0.00 0,00 1,000,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Wuxi Shanshui Haitian Network
Technologies Co., Ltd. 10,000,000.00 0.00 0.0010,000,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Suzhou Hattian New Antenna
Technologies Co., Ltd. 39,458,068.73 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 39,458,068.73 0.00
Haitian Antenna Technologies
(Hongkong) Limited 1,597,500.00  1,597,500.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 000  1,597,500.00  1,597,500.00
Total 120,255,568.73  66,597,500.00 0.00 11,000,000.00 0.00 0.00 109,255,568.73 66,597,500.00

Note: Beijing Hailan Taihang Technologies Development Co., Ltd. and Wuxi Shanshui Haitian Network
Technologies Co., Ltd. completed the industrial and commercial deregistration procedures in July
2024.
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XVII.

NOTES TO MAJOR ITEMS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE PARENT COMPANY (Continued)

4,

Operating income, operating costs

(1

(2)

Operating income and operating costs

Amount incurred in the year

Amount incurred in last year

Items Income Costs Income Costs
Main business 14,031,502.95 8,405,516.65 7,233,996.23 5,348,300.19
Other businesses 41,433.63 41,433.63 32,285.71 0.00

Total

14,072,936.58

8,446,950.28

7,266,281.94

5,348,300.19

Breakdown of operating income and operating costs

Amount incurred in the year

Amount incurred in last year

Items Income Costs Income Costs
Business Type
Of which: Sales of antenna
products and
provision of related
services 14,031,502.95 8,405,516.65 7,233,996.23 5,348,300.19
Sales of materials 41,433.63 41,433.63 32,285.71 0.00
By operating area
Of which: Domestic 14,072,936.58 8,446,950.28 7,266,281.94 5,348,300.19
Overseas 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
By time of goods transfer
Of which: Transfer at a certain
point in time 14,072,936.58 8,446,950.28 7,266,281.94 5,348,300.19
Transfer at a certain
point in time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
By sales channel
Of which: Direct Sales 14,072,936.58 8,446,950.28 7,266,281.94 5,348,300.19
Distribution 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total

14,072,936.58

8,446,950.28

7,266,281.94

5,348,300.19
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XVII. NOTES TO MAJOR ITEMS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE PARENT COMPANY (Continued)
4, Operating income, operating costs (Continued)
3) Information related to performance obligations

Types of
quality
assurance
Nature Whether Amounts provided
of goods the that the by the
that the Company Company Company
Company is the main s expected and its
Time to fulfill Important ~ committed  responsible  to return to related
Item performance obligations payment terms  to transfer person  customers  obligations
Order contract Inspection certificate is signed ~ Payment is made upon receipt Goods Yes None None
after unpacking inspection is of the invoice after goods
passed have been inspected and
accepted by both parties
Total - - - - - -
5. Investment gain
Amount Amount
incurred in incurred in
Items the year last year
Investment income from disposal of long-term
equity investments -539,207.41 994,094.18
Total -539,207.41 994,094.18
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SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Detailed statement of non-recurring gains and losses for the year

Amount for
Items the year Notice

Gains and losses on disposal of non-current assets (Including the

write-off portion of asset impairment provisions that have been

made) 310,438.39
Government subsidies included in current profit and loss (except for

government subsidies that are closely related to the company’s

normal business operations, comply with national policies and

regulations, are entitled in accordance with determined standards,

and have a lasting impact on the Company’s profits and losses) 12,204.89
Reversal of impairment provision for accounts receivable that has
been individually tested for impairment 0.00
Debt restructuring gains and losses 0.00
Other non-operating income and expenses other than the above 698.17
Sub-total 323,341.45
Less: Income tax impact 0.00
Impact on minority interests (after-tax) -0.02
Total 323,341.47 -
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SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.

Return on net assets and earnings per share (“EPS")

Weighted
average return
on net assets EPS (Yuan/share)
Profit for the reporting period (%) Basic EPS Diluted EPS

Net profit attributable to the ordinary

shareholders of the parent company -38.38 -0.0084 -0.0084
Net profit attributable to the ordinary

shareholders of the parent company after

deduction of non-recurring gains and losses -39.16 -0.0085 -0.0085

The calculation method of the numerator of basic EPS: Net profit attributable to the shareholders of the parent
company RMB-15,882,252.20.

The calculation method of the denominator of basic EPS: Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
= Total number of shares at the beginning of the year (1,897,629,000.00) + Number of shares increased by
issuance of new shares or conversion of debts into shares(0.00)* Number of months accumulated from the
month following the month of share increase (Il) to year end (12)/Number of months in the reporting period
(12) = 1,897,629,000.00.

The calculation method of the numerator of diluted EPS: Net profit attributable to the shareholders of the
parent company RMB-15,882,252.20.

The calculation method of the denominator of diluted EPS: Weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue 1,897,629,000.00 + Weighted average number of ordinary shares increased by warrants, exercise of

options, convertible bonds, etc. (0.00) = 1,897,629,000.00.

Differences in accounting data under domestic and foreign accounting standards
None.

Xi'an Haitian Antenna Technologies Co., Ltd.
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Financial Summary

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

31 December 2024

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

Total assets 49,999,190.96
Total liabilities 96,758,374.11
Total shareholders' equity -46,759,183.15

58,564,833.84
89,563,141.07
-30,998,307.23

92,244,165.94
80,248,874.57
11,995,291.37

117,517,885.18
95,249,692.35
22,268,192.83

106,223,494.95
61,281,943.49
44,941,551.46

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year of 2023

For the year of 2022

For the year of 2021

For the year of 2020

For the year of 2024
Operating income 21,960,142.24
Net profit -15,760,875.92

13,091,468.20
-42,993,598.60

20,530,084.65
-30,272,901.46

39,067,769.85
-22,673,358.63

12,177,460.98
-34,538,903.67
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